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Potential persons who are to respond to the collection of information contained in this form are not required to respond unless the form displays
a currently valid OMB number. n, or 3% over year-end 2016, primarily reflecting the impacts of (i) net cash flows provided
by operating activities and (ii) an increase in the net unrealized appreciation of investments, partially offset by (iii)
common share repurchases, (iv) dividends paid to shareholders and (v) the cost of acquiring Simply Business.
The Company’s investment portfolio is managed to support its insurance operations; accordingly, the portfolio is
positioned to meet obligations to policyholders. As such, the primary goals of the Company’s asset-liability
management process are to satisfy the insurance liabilities and maintain sufficient liquidity to cover fluctuations in
projected liability cash flows. Generally, the expected principal and interest payments produced by the Company’s
fixed maturity portfolio adequately fund the estimated runoff of the Company’s insurance reserves. Although this is not
an exact cash flow match in each period, the substantial amount by which the market value of the fixed maturity
portfolio exceeds the value of the net insurance liabilities, as well as the positive cash flow from newly sold policies
and the large amount of high quality liquid bonds, contributes to the Company’s ability to fund claim payments without
having to sell illiquid assets or access credit facilities.

Financing Activities
Net cash flows used in financing activities were $2.01 billion, $1.92 billion and $2.81 billion in 2018, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.  The totals in each year primarily reflected common share repurchases, dividends paid to shareholders
and the payment of debt, partially offset by the issuance of debt and proceeds from employee stock option exercises.
Common share repurchases in 2018, 2017 and 2016 were $1.32 billion, $1.44 billion and $2.47 billion, respectively.
Debt Transactions.
2018. On March 7, 2018, the Company issued $500 million aggregate principal amount of 4.05% senior notes that
will mature on March 7, 2048. The net proceeds of the issuance, after the deduction of the underwriting discount and
expenses payable by the Company, totaled approximately $491 million. Interest on the senior notes is payable
semi-annually in arrears on March 7 and September 7. Prior to September 7, 2047, the senior notes may be redeemed,
in whole or in part, at the Company’s option, at any time or from time to time, at a redemption price equal to the
greater of (a) 100% of the principal amount of any senior notes to be redeemed or (b) the sum of the present values of
the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest to but excluding September 7, 2047 on any senior notes to
be redeemed (exclusive of interest accrued to the date of redemption) discounted to the date of redemption on a
semi-annual basis (assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months) at the then current Treasury rate (as
defined in the senior notes), plus 15 basis points. On or after September 7, 2047, the senior notes may be redeemed, in
whole or in part, at the Company’s option, at any time or from time to time, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the
principal amount of any senior notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the
redemption date.
On May 15, 2018, the Company's $500 million, 5.80% senior notes matured and were fully paid.
2017.  On May 22, 2017, the Company issued $700 million aggregate principal amount of 4.00% senior notes that will
mature on May 30, 2047. The net proceeds of the issuance, after the deduction of the underwriting discount and
expenses payable by the Company, totaled approximately $689 million. Interest on the senior notes is payable
semi-annually in arrears on May 30 and November 30. Prior to November 30, 2046, the senior notes may be
redeemed, in whole or in part, at the Company’s option, at any time or from time to time, at a redemption price equal to
the greater of (a) 100% of the principal amount of any senior notes to be redeemed or (b) the sum of the present values
of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest to November 30, 2046 on any senior notes to be
redeemed (exclusive of interest accrued to the date of redemption) discounted to the date of redemption on a
semi-annual basis (assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months) at the then current Treasury rate (as
defined in the senior notes), plus 15 basis points. On or after November 30, 2046, the senior notes may be redeemed,
in whole or in part, at the Company’s option, at any time or from time to time, at a redemption price equal to 100% of
the principal amount of any senior notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the
redemption date.
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On June 2, 2017, the Company redeemed the remaining $107 million aggregate principal amount of its 6.25%
Fixed-to-Floating Rate Junior Subordinated Debentures due 2067 at a price per debenture of 100% of the principal
amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date. On December 15, 2017, the Company’s $450
million, 5.75% senior notes matured and were fully paid.

2016.  On May 11, 2016, the Company issued $500 million aggregate principal amount of 3.75% senior notes that will
mature on May 15, 2046. The net proceeds of the issuance, after the deduction of underwriting and other expenses,
totaled approximately $491 million. Interest on the senior notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on May 15 and
November 15. Prior to November 15, 2045, the senior notes may be redeemed, in whole or in part, at the Company’s
option, at any time or from time to time, at a redemption price equal to the greater of (a) 100% of the principal amount
of any senior notes to be redeemed or (b) the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of
principal and interest on any senior notes to be redeemed (exclusive of interest accrued to the date of redemption)
discounted to the date of redemption on a semi-annual basis (assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day
months) at the then current Treasury Rate (as defined in the senior notes), plus 20 basis points. On or after November
15, 2045, the senior notes may be redeemed, in whole or in part, at the Company’s option, at any time or from time to
time, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of any senior notes to be redeemed, plus accrued
and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date.
On June 20, 2016, the Company’s $400 million, 6.25% senior notes matured and were fully paid.

Dividends.  Dividends paid to shareholders were $814 million, $785 million and $757 million in 2018, 2017 and
2016, respectively.  The declaration and payment of future dividends to holders of the Company’s common stock will
be at the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors and will depend upon many factors, including the Company’s
financial position, earnings, capital requirements of the Company’s operating subsidiaries, legal requirements,
regulatory constraints and other factors as the Board of Directors deems relevant. Dividends will be paid by the
Company only if declared by its Board of Directors out of funds legally available, subject to any other restrictions that
may be applicable to the Company. On January 22, 2019, the Company announced that its Board of Directors declared
a regular quarterly dividend of $0.77 per share, payable March 29, 2019, to shareholders of record on March 11, 2019.
Share Repurchases.  The Company’s Board of Directors has approved common share repurchase authorizations under
which repurchases may be made from time to time in the open market, pursuant to pre-set trading plans meeting the
requirements of Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, in private transactions or otherwise.  The
authorizations do not have a stated expiration date. The timing and actual number of shares to be repurchased in the
future will depend on a variety of factors, including the Company’s financial position, earnings, share price,
catastrophe losses, maintaining capital levels commensurate with the Company’s desired ratings from independent
rating agencies, funding of the Company’s qualified pension plan, capital requirements of the Company’s operating
subsidiaries, legal requirements, regulatory constraints, other investment opportunities (including mergers and
acquisitions and related financings), market conditions and other factors. In April 2017, the Board of Directors
approved a share repurchase authorization that added an additional $5.0 billion of repurchase capacity. The following
table summarizes repurchase activity in 2018 and the remaining repurchase capacity at December 31, 2018.
(in millions, except per
share amounts)
Quarterly Period Ending

Number of
shares
repurchased

Cost of shares
repurchased

Average price paid
per share

Remaining capacity
under share repurchase
authorization

March 31, 2018 2.5 $ 350 $ 141.84 $ 4,206
June 30, 2018 2.7 350 129.66 3,856
September 30, 2018 3.0 400 130.22 3,456
December 31, 2018 1.4 170 125.09 3,286
Total 9.6 $ 1,270 132.33 3,286
From the inception of the first authorization on May 2, 2006 through December 31, 2018, the Company has
repurchased a cumulative total of 497.3 million shares for a total cost of $32.71 billion, or an average of $65.79 per
share.
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In 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company acquired 0.4 million, 0.5 million and 0.6 million shares, respectively, of
common stock from employees as treasury stock primarily to cover payroll withholding taxes in connection with the
vesting of restricted stock unit awards and performance share awards, and shares used by employees to cover the price
of certain stock options that were exercised.
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Capital Resources
Capital resources reflect the overall financial strength of the Company and its ability to borrow funds at competitive
rates and raise new capital to meet its needs.  The following table summarizes the components of the Company’s
capital structure at December 31, 2018 and 2017.
(at December 31, in millions) 2018 2017
Debt:
Short-term $600 $600
Long-term 6,004 6,004
Net unamortized fair value adjustments and debt issuance costs (40 ) (33 )
Total debt 6,564 6,571
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock and retained earnings, less treasury stock 24,753 24,074
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,859 ) (343 )
Total shareholders’ equity 22,894 23,731
Total capitalization $29,458 $30,302
Total capitalization at December 31, 2018 was $29.46 billion, $844 million lower than at December 31, 2017,
primarily reflecting the impacts of (i) an increase in accumulated other comprehensive loss of $1.52 billion, primarily
due to changes in unrealized appreciation on investments and unrealized foreign currency translation, (ii) common
share repurchases totaling $1.27 billion under the Company’s share repurchase authorization and (iii) shareholder
dividends of $818 million, partially offset by (iv) net income of $2.52 billion and (v) proceeds from the exercise of
employee share options of $132 million.
The following table provides a reconciliation of total capitalization to total capitalization excluding net unrealized
gains (losses) on investments, net of taxes, included in shareholders' equity:
(at December 31, dollars in millions) 2018 2017
Total capitalization $29,458 $30,302
Less: net unrealized gains (losses) on investments, net of taxes, included in shareholders'
equity (113 ) 1,112

Total capitalization excluding net unrealized gains (losses) on investments, net of taxes,
included in shareholders' equity $29,571 $29,190

Debt-to-total capital ratio 22.3 % 21.7 %
Debt-to-total capital ratio excluding net unrealized gains (losses) on investments, net of taxes,
included in shareholders' equity 22.2 % 22.5 %

The debt-to-total capital ratio excluding net unrealized gains (losses) on investments, net of taxes, included in
shareholders’ equity, is calculated by dividing (a) debt by (b) total capitalization excluding net unrealized gains and
losses on investments, net of taxes, included in shareholders’ equity. Net unrealized gains and losses on investments
can be significantly impacted by both interest rate movements and other economic factors. Accordingly, in the opinion
of the Company’s management, the debt-to-total capital ratio calculated on this basis provides another useful metric for
investors to understand the Company’s financial leverage position. The Company’s ratio of debt-to-total capital
excluding after-tax net unrealized investment losses included in shareholders’ equity of 22.2% at December 31, 2018
was within the Company’s target range of 15% to 25%.

Credit Agreement. The Company is a party to a five-year, $1.0 billion revolving credit agreement with a syndicate of
financial institutions that expires on June 4, 2023.  Terms of the credit agreement are discussed in more detail in note
8 of notes to the consolidated financial statements.
Shelf Registration.  The Company has filed a universal shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange
Commission that expires on June 17, 2019 for the potential offering and sale of securities.  The Company may offer
these securities from time to time at prices and on other terms to be determined at the time of offering.
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Share Repurchase Authorization.  At December 31, 2018, the Company had $3.29 billion of capacity remaining under
its share repurchase authorization approved by the Board of Directors.
Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes, as of December 31, 2018, the Company’s future payments under contractual
obligations and estimated claims and claim-related payments.  The table excludes short-term obligations and includes
only liabilities at December 31, 2018 that are expected to be settled in cash.
The table below includes the amount and estimated future timing of claims and claim-related payments. The amounts
do not represent the exact liability, but instead represent estimates, generally utilizing actuarial projection techniques,
at a given accounting date. These estimates include expectations of what the ultimate settlement and administration of
claims will cost based on the Company’s assessment of facts and circumstances known, review of historical settlement
patterns, estimates of trends in claims severity, frequency, legal theories of liability and other factors. Variables in the
reserve estimation process can be affected by both internal and external events, such as changes in claims handling
procedures, economic inflation or deflation, legal trends and legislative changes. Many of these items are not directly
quantifiable, particularly on a prospective basis. Additionally, there may be significant reporting lags between the
occurrence of the policyholder event and the time it is actually reported to the insurer. The future cash flows related to
the items contained in the table below required estimation of both amount (including severity considerations) and
timing. Amount and timing are frequently estimated separately. An estimation of both amount and timing of future
cash flows related to claims and claim-related payments has unavoidable estimation uncertainty.
The contractual obligations at December 31, 2018 were as follows:

Payments Due by Period (in millions) Total
Less
than
1 Year

1-3
Years

3-5
Years

After 5
Years

Debt
Senior notes $6,250 $500 $500 $— $5,250
Junior subordinated debentures 254 — — — 254
Total debt principal 6,504 500 500 — 5,504
Interest 6,247 326 604 584 4,733
Total long-term debt obligations (1) 12,751 826 1,104 584 10,237
Real estate and other operating leases (2) 500 127 194 102 77
Purchase obligations
Information systems administration and maintenance commitments (3) 198 130 62 6 —
Other purchase commitments (4) 110 44 53 2 11
Total purchase obligations 308 174 115 8 11
Long-term unfunded investment commitments (5) 1,612 348 505 514 245
Estimated claims and claim-related payments
Claims and claim adjustment expenses (6) 48,836 10,759 12,004 5,618 20,455
Claims from large deductible policies (7) — — — — —
Loss-based assessments (8) 154 28 42 17 67
Reinsurance contracts accounted for as deposits (9) 1 — 1 — —
Payout from ceded funds withheld (10) 105 42 12 13 38
Total estimated claims and claim-related payments 49,096 10,829 12,059 5,648 20,560
Liabilities related to unrecognized tax benefits (11) 67 — 67 — —
Total $64,334 $12,304 $14,044 $6,856 $31,130
___________________________________________

(1)
See note 8 of notes to the consolidated financial statements for a further discussion of outstanding indebtedness.
Because the amounts reported in the foregoing table include principal and interest, the total long-term debt
obligations will not agree with the amounts reported in note 8.
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(2)
Represents agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business to lease office space, equipment and
furniture.  Future sublease rental income aggregating approximately $1 million will partially offset these
commitments.

(3)Includes agreements with vendors to purchase system software administration and maintenance services.

(4)Includes commitments to vendors entered into in the ordinary course of business for goods and services includingproperty, plant and equipment, office supplies, archival services, etc.

(5)
Represents estimated timing for fulfilling unfunded commitments for private equity limited partnerships and real
estate partnerships, as well as a put/call option entered into by the Company in connection with a business
acquisition.

(6)

The amounts in “Claims and claim adjustment expenses” in the table above represent the estimated timing of
future payments for both reported and unreported claims incurred and related claim adjustment expenses,
gross of reinsurance recoverables, excluding structured settlements expected to be paid by annuity
companies.

The Company has entered into reinsurance agreements to manage its exposure to losses and protect its capital as
described in note 5 of notes to the consolidated financial statements.
In order to qualify for reinsurance accounting, a reinsurance agreement must indemnify the insurer from insurance
risk, i.e., the agreement must transfer amount and timing risk. Since the timing and amount of cash inflows from such
reinsurance agreements are directly related to the underlying payment of claims and claim adjustment expenses by the
insurer, reinsurance recoverables are recognized in a manner consistent with the liabilities (the estimated liability for
claims and claim adjustment expenses) relating to the underlying reinsured contracts.  The presence of any feature that
can delay timely reimbursement of claims by a reinsurer results in the reinsurance contract being accounted for as a
deposit rather than reinsurance. The assumptions used in estimating the amount and timing of the reinsurance
recoverables are consistent with those used in estimating the amount and timing of the related liabilities.

The estimated future cash inflows from the Company’s reinsurance contracts that qualify for reinsurance accounting
are as follows:

(in millions) Total Less than 1
Year

1-3
Years

3-5
Years

After 5
Years

Reinsurance recoverables $5,277 $ 897 $ 975 $ 536 $2,869
The Company manages its business and evaluates its liabilities for claims and claim adjustment expenses on a net of
reinsurance basis.  The estimated cash flows on a net of reinsurance basis are as follows:

(in millions) Total Less than 1
Year

1-3
Years

3-5
Years

After 5
Years

Claims and claim adjustment expenses, net $43,559 $ 9,862 $11,029 $5,082 $17,586
For business underwritten by non-U.S. operations, future cash flows related to reported and unreported claims
incurred and related claim adjustment expenses were translated at the spot rate on December 31, 2018.
The amounts reported in the table above and in the table of reinsurance recoverables above are presented on a nominal
basis and have not been adjusted to reflect the time value of money. Accordingly, the amounts above will differ from
the Company’s balance sheet to the extent that the liability for claims and claim adjustment expenses and the related
reinsurance recoverables have been discounted in the balance sheet. See note 1 of notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
(7)Workers’ compensation large deductible policies provide third-party coverage in which the Company typically is

responsible for paying the entire loss under such policies and then seeks reimbursement from the insured for the
deductible amount. “Claims from large deductible policies” represent the estimated future payment for claims and
claim related expenses below the deductible amount, net of the estimated recovery of the deductible. The liability
and the related deductible receivable for unpaid claims are presented in the consolidated balance sheet as
“contractholder payables” and “contractholder receivables,” respectively. Most deductibles for such policies are paid
directly from the policyholder’s escrow, which is periodically replenished by the policyholder. The payment of the
loss amounts above the deductible are reported within “Claims and claim adjustment expenses” in the above table.

Edgar Filing: PUBLIX SUPER MARKETS INC - Form 4

Explanation of Responses: 11



Because the timing of the collection of the deductible (contractholder receivables) occurs shortly after the payment
of the deductible to a claimant (contractholder payables), these cash flows offset each other in the table.
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The estimated timing of the payment of the contractholder payables and the collection of contractholder receivables
for workers’ compensation policies is presented below:

(in millions) Total Less than 1
Year

1-3
Years

3-5
Years

After 5
Years

Contractholder payables/receivables $4,785 $ 1,305 $1,381 $ 719 $1,380

(8)

The amounts in “Loss-based assessments” relate to estimated future payments of second-injury fund assessments
which would result from payment of current claim liabilities. Second injury funds cover the cost of any additional
benefits for aggravation of a pre-existing condition. For loss-based assessments, the cost is shared by the insurance
industry and self-insureds, funded through assessments to insurance companies and self-insureds based on losses.
Amounts relating to second-injury fund assessments are included in “other liabilities” in the consolidated balance
sheet.

(9)
The amounts in “Reinsurance contracts accounted for as deposits” represent estimated future nominal payments for
reinsurance agreements that are accounted for as deposits. Amounts payable under deposit agreements are included
in “other liabilities” in the consolidated balance sheet.

(10)
The amounts in “Payout from ceded funds withheld” represent estimated payments for losses and return of funds
held related to certain reinsurance arrangements whereby the Company holds a portion of the premium due to the
reinsurer and is allowed to pay claims from the amounts held.

(11)
The Company's current liabilities related to unrecognized tax benefits from uncertain tax positions are $67
million. Offsetting these liabilities are deferred tax assets of $27 million associated with the temporary differences
that would exist if these positions become realized.

The above table does not include an analysis of liabilities reported for structured settlements for which the Company
has purchased annuities and remains contingently liable in the event of default by the company issuing the annuity.
The Company is not reasonably likely to incur material future payment obligations under such agreements. In
addition, the Company is not currently subject to any minimum funding requirements for its qualified pension plan.
Accordingly, future contributions are not included in the foregoing table.

Dividend Availability
The Company’s principal insurance subsidiaries are domiciled in the State of Connecticut. The insurance holding
company laws of Connecticut applicable to the Company’s subsidiaries requires notice to, and approval by, the state
insurance commissioner for the declaration or payment of any dividend that, together with other distributions made
within the preceding twelve months, exceeds the greater of 10% of the insurer’s statutory capital and surplus as of the
preceding December 31, or the insurer’s net income for the twelve-month period ending the preceding December 31, in
each case determined in accordance with statutory accounting practices and by state regulation. This declaration or
payment is further limited by adjusted unassigned surplus, as determined in accordance with statutory accounting
practices. The insurance holding company laws of other states in which the Company’s subsidiaries are domiciled
generally contain similar, although in some instances somewhat more restrictive, limitations on the payment of
dividends. A maximum of $2.52 billion is available by the end of 2019 for such dividends to the holding company,
TRV, without prior approval of the Connecticut Insurance Department. The Company may choose to accelerate the
timing within 2019 and/or increase the amount of dividends from its insurance subsidiaries in 2019, which could
result in certain dividends being subject to approval by the Connecticut Insurance Department.

In addition to the regulatory restrictions on the availability of dividends that can be paid by the Company’s U.S.
insurance subsidiaries, the maximum amount of dividends that may be paid to the Company’s shareholders is limited,
to a lesser degree, by certain covenants contained in its line of credit agreement with a syndicate of financial
institutions that require the Company to maintain a minimum consolidated net worth as described in note 8 of notes to
the consolidated financial statements.

TRV is not dependent on dividends or other forms of repatriation from its foreign operations to support its liquidity
needs. The undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign operations are intended to be permanently reinvested in
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those operations, and such earnings were not material to the Company’s financial position or liquidity at December 31,
2018.

TRV and its two non-insurance holding company subsidiaries received dividends of $2.30 billion, $2.33 billion and
$3.05 billion from their U.S. insurance subsidiaries in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans
The Company sponsors a qualified non-contributory defined benefit pension plan (the Qualified Plan), which covers
substantially all U.S. domestic employees and provides benefits primarily under a cash balance formula. In addition,
the Company sponsors a nonqualified defined benefit pension plan which covers certain highly-compensated
employees, pension plans for employees of its foreign subsidiaries, and a postretirement health and life insurance
benefit plan for employees satisfying certain age and service requirements and for certain retirees.

The Qualified Plan is subject to regulations under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 as amended
(ERISA), which requires plans to meet minimum standards of funding and requires such plans to subscribe to plan
termination insurance through the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation (PBGC). The Company does not have a
minimum funding requirement for the Qualified Plan for 2019 and does not anticipate having a minimum funding
requirement in 2020. The Company has significant discretion in making contributions above those necessary to satisfy
the minimum funding requirements. In 2018, 2017 and 2016, there was no minimum funding requirement for the
Qualified Plan.  In 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company voluntarily made contributions totaling $200 million, $300
million and $200 million, respectively, to the Qualified Plan.  Based on its funded status at December 31, 2018, the
Company does not currently anticipate making a voluntary contribution to the Qualified Plan in 2019. In determining
future contributions, the Company will consider the performance of the plan’s investment portfolio, the effects of
interest rates on the projected benefit obligation of the plan and the Company’s other capital requirements.

The Qualified Plan assets are managed to maximize long-term total return while maintaining an appropriate level of
risk. The Company’s overall strategy is to achieve a mix of approximately 85% to 90% of investments for long-term
growth and 10% to 15% for near-term benefit payments with a diversification of asset types, fund strategies and fund
managers. The current target allocations for plan assets are 55% to 65% equity securities and 20% to 40% fixed
income securities, with the remainder allocated to short-term securities. For 2019, the Company plans to apply an
expected long-term rate of return on plan assets of 7.00%, the same rate that was applied in 2018. The expected rate of
return reflects the Company’s current expectations with regard to long-term returns in the capital markets, taking into
account the pension plan’s asset allocation targets, the historical performance and current valuation of U.S. and
international equities, and the level of long term interest rate and inflation expectations.  The Company’s expected
long-term rate of return on plan assets also contemplates a return to more normal levels of long-term interest rates in
the future. 

For further discussion of the pension and other postretirement benefit plans, see note 14 of notes to the consolidated
financial statements.
Risk-Based Capital
The NAIC has an RBC requirement for most property and casualty insurance companies, which determines minimum
capital requirements and is intended to raise the level of protection for policyholder obligations. The Company’s U.S.
insurance subsidiaries are subject to these NAIC RBC requirements based on laws that have been adopted by
individual states. These requirements subject insurers having policyholders’ surplus less than that required by the RBC
calculation to varying degrees of regulatory action, depending on the level of capital inadequacy. Each of the
Company’s U.S. insurance subsidiaries had policyholders’ surplus at December 31, 2018 significantly above the level at
which any RBC regulatory action would occur.  Regulators in the jurisdictions in which the Company’s foreign
insurance subsidiaries are located require insurance companies to maintain certain levels of capital depending on,
among other things, the type and amount of insurance policies written.  Each of the Company’s foreign insurance
subsidiaries had capital significantly above their respective regulatory requirements at December 31, 2018.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
The Company has entered into certain contingent obligations for guarantees related to selling businesses to third
parties, certain investments, third-party loans related to certain investments, certain insurance policy obligations of
former insurance subsidiaries and various other indemnifications. See note 16 of notes to the consolidated financial
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statements. The Company does not expect these arrangements will have a material effect on the Company’s financial
position, changes in financial position, revenues and expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or
capital resources.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
The Company considers its most significant accounting estimates to be those applied to claims and claim adjustment
expense reserves and related reinsurance recoverables, investment valuation and impairments, and goodwill and other
intangible assets impairments.
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Claims and Claim Adjustment Expense Reserves
Gross claims and claim adjustment expense reserves by product line were as follows:

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
(in millions) Case IBNR Total Case IBNR Total
General liability $4,780 $7,092 $11,872 $4,878 $6,823 $11,701
Commercial property 1,157 297 1,454 1,039 401 1,440
Commercial multi-peril 2,089 1,886 3,975 1,954 1,916 3,870
Commercial automobile 2,339 1,661 4,000 2,237 1,271 3,508
Workers’ compensation 10,299 9,216 19,515 10,379 9,092 19,471
Fidelity and surety 280 288 568 274 300 574
Personal automobile 2,038 1,400 3,438 1,946 1,329 3,275
Homeowners and personal—other 942 884 1,826 795 710 1,505
International and other 2,574 1,431 4,005 2,728 1,561 4,289
Property-casualty 26,498 24,155 50,653 26,230 23,403 49,633
Accident and health 15 — 15 17 — 17
Claims and claim adjustment expense reserves $26,513 $24,155 $50,668 $26,247 $23,403 $49,650
The $1.02 billion increase in gross claims and claim adjustment expense reserves since December 31, 2017 primarily
reflected the impacts of (i) higher volumes of insured exposures and loss cost trends for the current accident year and
(ii) catastrophe losses incurred in 2018, partially offset by the impacts of (iii) payments related to catastrophe losses
incurred in 2017 and (iv) favorable prior year reserve development.

Asbestos and environmental reserves are included in the General liability, Commercial multi-peril and International
and other lines in the foregoing summary table. Asbestos and environmental reserves are discussed separately; see
“Asbestos Claims and Litigation”, “Environmental Claims and Litigation” and “Uncertainty Regarding Adequacy of
Asbestos and Environmental Reserves.”
Claims and claim adjustment expense reserves represent management’s estimate of the ultimate liability for unpaid
losses and loss adjustment expenses for claims that have been reported and claims that have been incurred but not yet
reported (IBNR) as of the balance sheet date. Claims and claim adjustment expense reserves do not represent an exact
calculation of liability, but instead represent management estimates, primarily utilizing actuarial expertise and
projection methods. These estimates are expectations of what the ultimate settlement and administration of claims will
cost upon final resolution in the future, based on the Company’s assessment of facts and circumstances then known,
review of historical settlement patterns, estimates of trends in claims severity and frequency, expected interpretations
of legal theories of liability and other factors. In establishing gross claims and claim adjustment expense reserves, the
Company also considers salvage and subrogation. Estimated recoveries from reinsurance are included in “Reinsurance
Recoverables” as an asset on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. The claims and claim adjustment expense
reserves are reviewed regularly by qualified actuaries employed by the Company.

The process of estimating claims and claim adjustment expense reserves involves a high degree of judgment and is
subject to a number of variables. These variables can be affected by both internal and external events, such as changes
in claims handling procedures, changes in individuals involved in the reserve estimation process, economic inflation,
legal trends and legislative changes, among others. The impact of many of these items on ultimate costs for claims and
claim adjustment expenses is difficult to estimate. Estimation difficulties also differ significantly by product line due
to differences in claim complexity, the volume of claims, the potential severity of individual claims, the determination
of occurrence date for a claim and reporting lags (the time between the occurrence of the policyholder event and when
it is actually reported to the insurer). Informed judgment is applied throughout the process, including the application
of various individual experiences and expertise to multiple sets of data and analyses. The Company continually refines
its estimates in a regular ongoing process as historical loss experience develops and additional claims are reported and
settled. The Company rigorously attempts to consider all significant facts and circumstances known at the time claims
and claim adjustment expense reserves are established. Due to the inherent uncertainty underlying these estimates
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including, but not limited to, the future settlement environment, final resolution of the estimated liability for claims
and claim adjustment expenses may be higher or lower than the related claims and claim adjustment expense reserves
at the reporting date. Therefore, actual paid losses, as claims are settled in the future, may be materially different than
the amount currently recorded-favorable or unfavorable.
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Because establishment of claims and claim adjustment expense reserves is an inherently uncertain process involving
estimates and the application of judgment, currently established claims and claim adjustment expense reserves may
change. The Company reflects adjustments to the reserves in the results of operations in the period the estimates are
changed.

There are also additional risks which impact the estimation of ultimate costs for catastrophes. For example, the
estimation of reserves related to hurricanes, tornadoes, wildfires and other catastrophic events can be affected by the
inability of the Company and its insureds to access portions of the impacted areas, the complexity of factors
contributing to the losses, the legal and regulatory uncertainties, including the interpretation of policy terms and
conditions, and the nature of the information available to establish the reserves. Complex factors include, but are not
limited to: determining whether damage was caused by flooding versus wind; evaluating general liability and
pollution exposures; estimating additional living expenses; estimating the impact of demand surge, infrastructure
disruption, fraud, the effect of mold damage and business interruption costs; and reinsurance collectibility. The timing
of a catastrophe, such as at or near the end of a reporting period, can also affect the information available to the
Company in estimating reserves for that reporting period. The estimates related to catastrophes are adjusted as actual
claims emerge.

A portion of the Company’s gross claims and claim adjustment expense reserves (totaling $1.97 billion at
December 31, 2018) are for asbestos and environmental claims and related litigation. While the ongoing review of
asbestos and environmental claims and associated liabilities considers the inconsistencies of court decisions as to
coverage, plaintiffs’ expanded theories of liability and the risks inherent in complex litigation and other uncertainties,
in the opinion of the Company’s management, it is possible that the outcome of the continued uncertainties regarding
these claims could result in liability in future periods that differs from current insurance reserves by an amount that
could be material to the Company’s future operating results. See the preceding discussion of “Asbestos Claims and
Litigation” and “Environmental Claims and Litigation.”
General Discussion
The process for estimating the liabilities for claims and claim adjustment expenses begins with the collection and
analysis of claim data. Data on individual reported claims, both current and historical, including paid amounts and
individual claim adjuster estimates, are grouped by common characteristics (components) and evaluated by actuaries
in their analyses of ultimate claim liabilities. Such data is occasionally supplemented with external data as available
and when appropriate. The process of analyzing reserves for a component is undertaken on a regular basis, generally
quarterly, in light of continually updated information.

Multiple estimation methods are available for the analysis of ultimate claim liabilities. Each estimation method has its
own set of assumption variables and its own advantages and disadvantages, with no single estimation method being
better than the others in all situations and no one set of assumption variables being meaningful for all product line
components. The relative strengths and weaknesses of the particular estimation methods when applied to a particular
group of claims can also change over time. Therefore, the actual choice of estimation method(s) can change with each
evaluation. The estimation method(s) chosen are those that are believed to produce the most reliable indication at that
particular evaluation date for the claim liabilities being evaluated.

In most cases, multiple estimation methods will be valid for the particular facts and circumstances of the claim
liabilities being evaluated. This will result in a range of reasonable estimates for any particular claim liability. The
Company uses such range analyses to back test whether previously established estimates for reserves by reporting
segments are reasonable, given available information. Reported values found to be closer to the endpoints of a range
of reasonable estimates are subject to further detailed reviews. These reviews may substantiate the validity of
management’s recorded estimate or lead to a change in the reported estimate.
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The exact boundary points of these ranges are more qualitative than quantitative in nature, as no clear line of
demarcation exists to determine when the set of underlying assumptions for an estimation method switches from being
reasonable to unreasonable. As a result, the Company does not believe that the endpoints of these ranges are or would
be comparable across companies. In addition, potential interactions among the different estimation assumptions for
different product lines make the aggregation of individual ranges a highly judgmental and inexact process.

Property-casualty insurance policies are either written on a “claims-made” or on an “occurrence” basis. Claims-made
policies generally cover, subject to requirements in individual policies, claims reported during the policy period.
Policies that are written on an occurrence basis require that the insured demonstrate that a loss occurred in the policy
period, even if the insured reports the loss many years later.

Most general liability policies are written on an occurrence basis. These policies are subject to substantial loss
development over time as facts and circumstances change in the years following the policy issuance. The occurrence
form, which accounts for much of the reserve development in asbestos and environmental exposures, is also used to
provide coverage for construction general
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liability, including construction defect. Occurrence-based forms of insurance for general liability exposures require
substantial projection of loss trends, which can be influenced by a number of factors, including future inflation,
judicial interpretations and societal litigation trends (e.g., size of jury awards and propensity of individuals to pursue
litigation), among others.

A basic premise in most actuarial analyses is that past patterns demonstrated in the data will repeat themselves in the
future, absent a material change in the associated risk factors discussed below. To the extent a material change
affecting the ultimate claim liability is known, such change is estimated to the extent possible through an analysis of
internal company data and, if available and when appropriate, external data. Such a measurement is specific to the
facts and circumstances of the particular claim portfolio and the known change being evaluated. Significant structural
changes to the available data, product mix or organization can materially impact the reserve estimation process. In
addition, the introduction of new products creates a unique risk as historical company data would typically not be
available.

Informed judgment is applied throughout the reserving process. This includes the application of various individual
experiences and expertise to multiple sets of data and analyses. In addition to actuaries, experts involved with the
reserving process also include underwriting and claims personnel and lawyers, as well as other company management.
Therefore, management may have to consider varying individual viewpoints as part of its estimation of claims and
claim adjustment expense reserves. It is also likely that during periods of significant change, such as a merger,
consistent application of informed judgment becomes even more complicated and difficult.

The variables discussed above in this general discussion have different impacts on reserve estimation uncertainty for a
given product line, depending on the length of the claim tail, the reporting lag, the impact of individual claims and the
complexity of the claim process for a given product line.

Product lines are generally classifiable as either long tail or short tail, based on the average length of time between the
event triggering claims under a policy and the final resolution of those claims. Short tail claims are reported and
settled quickly, resulting in less estimation variability. The longer the time to final claim resolution, the greater the
exposure to estimation risks and hence the greater the estimation uncertainty.

A major component of the claim tail is the reporting lag. The reporting lag, which is the time between the event
triggering a claim and the reporting of the claim to the insurer, makes estimating IBNR inherently more uncertain. In
addition, the greater the reporting lag, the greater the proportion of IBNR to the total claim liability for the product
line. Writing new products with material reporting lags can result in adding several years’ worth of IBNR claim
exposure before the reporting lag exposure becomes clearly observable, thereby increasing the risk associated with
estimating the liabilities for claims and claim adjustment expenses for such products. The most extreme example of
claim liabilities with long reporting lags are asbestos claims.

For some lines, the impact of large individual claims can be material to the analysis. These lines are generally referred
to as being “low frequency/high severity,” while lines without this “large claim” sensitivity are referred to as “high
frequency/low severity.” Estimates of claim liabilities for low frequency/high severity lines can be sensitive to the
impact of a small number of potentially large claims. As a result, the role of judgment is much greater for these
reserve estimates. In contrast, for high frequency/low severity lines the impact of individual claims is relatively minor
and the range of reasonable reserve estimates is likely narrower and more stable.

Claim complexity can also greatly affect the estimation process by impacting the number of assumptions needed to
produce the estimate, the potential stability of the underlying data and claim process, and the ability to gain an
understanding of the data. Product lines with greater claim complexity, such as for certain surety and construction
exposures, have inherently greater estimation uncertainty.
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Actuaries have to exercise a considerable degree of judgment in the evaluation of all these factors in their analysis of
reserves. The human element in the application of actuarial judgment is unavoidable when faced with material
uncertainty. Different actuaries may choose different assumptions when faced with such uncertainty, based on their
individual backgrounds, professional experiences and areas of focus. Hence, the estimates selected by the various
actuaries may differ materially from each other.

Lastly, significant structural changes to the available data, product mix or organization can also materially impact the
reserve estimation process. Events such as mergers increase the inherent uncertainty of reserve estimates for a period
of time, until stable trends re-establish themselves within the new organization.
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Risk Factors
The major causes of material uncertainty (“risk factors”) generally will vary for each product line, as well as for each
separately analyzed component of the product line. In a few cases, such risk factors are explicit assumptions of the
estimation method, but in most cases, they are implicit. For example, a method may explicitly assume that a certain
percentage of claims will close each year, but will implicitly assume that the legal interpretation of existing contract
language will remain unchanged. Actual results will likely vary from expectations for each of these assumptions,
causing actual paid losses, as claims are settled in the future, to be different in amount than the reserves being
estimated currently.

Some risk factors will affect more than one product line. Examples include changes in claim department practices,
changes in settlement patterns, regulatory and legislative actions, court actions, timeliness of claim reporting, state
mix of claimants and degree of claimant fraud. The extent of the impact of a risk factor will also vary by components
within a product line. Individual risk factors are also subject to interactions with other risk factors within product line
components.

The effect of a particular risk factor on estimates of claim liabilities cannot be isolated in most cases. For example,
estimates of potential claim settlements may be impacted by the risk associated with potential court rulings, but the
final settlement agreement typically does not delineate how much of the settled amount is due to this and other factors.

The evaluation of data is also subject to distortion from extreme events or structural shifts, sometimes in unanticipated
ways. For example, the timing of claims payments in one geographic region may be impacted if claim adjusters are
temporarily reassigned from that region to help settle catastrophe claims in another region.

While some changes in the claim environment are sudden in nature (such as a new court ruling affecting the
interpretation of all contracts in that jurisdiction), others are more evolutionary. Evolutionary changes can occur when
multiple factors affect final claim values, with the uncertainty surrounding each factor being resolved separately, in
stepwise fashion. The final impact is not known until all steps have occurred.

Sudden changes generally cause a one-time shift in claim liability estimates, although there may be some lag in
reliable quantification of their impact. Evolutionary changes generally cause a series of shifts in claim liability
estimates, as each component of the evolutionary change becomes evident and estimable.

Actuarial Methods for Analyzing and Estimating Claims and Claim Adjustment Expense Reserves
The principal estimation and analysis methods utilized by the Company’s actuaries to evaluate management’s existing
estimates for prior accident periods are the paid loss development method, the case incurred development method, the
Bornhuetter-Ferguson (BF) method, and average value analysis combined with the reported claim development
method. The BF method is usually utilized for more recent accident periods, with a transition to other methods as the
underlying claim data becomes more voluminous and therefore more credible. These estimation and analysis methods
are typically referred to as conventional actuarial methods. (See note 7 of notes to the consolidated financial
statements for an explanation of these methods).

While the Company utilizes these conventional actuarial methods to estimate the claims liability for its various
businesses, Company actuaries evaluating a particular component for a product line may select from the full range of
methods developed within the casualty actuarial profession. The Company’s actuaries are also continually monitoring
developments within the profession for advances in existing techniques or the creation of new techniques that might
improve current and future estimates.

Some components of a product line may be susceptible to infrequent large claims or not be subject to conventional
methods. In such cases, the Company’s actuarial analysis will isolate such components for review. The reserves

Edgar Filing: PUBLIX SUPER MARKETS INC - Form 4

Explanation of Responses: 23



excluding such large claims are generally analyzed using the conventional methods described above. The reserves
associated with large claims are then analyzed utilizing various methods, such as:

•
Estimating the number of large claims and their average values based on historical trends from prior accident periods,
adjusted for the current environment and supplemented with actual data for the accident year analyzed to the extent
available.

•
Utilizing individual claim adjuster estimates of the large claims, combined with continual monitoring of the aggregate
accuracy of such claim adjuster estimates. (This monitoring may lead to supplemental adjustments to the aggregate of
such claim estimates).

•Utilizing historic longer-term average ratios of large claims to small claims, and applying such ratios to the estimatedultimate small claims from conventional analysis.
•Ground-up analysis of the underlying exposure (typically used for asbestos and environmental).
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The results of such methodologies are subjected to various reasonability and diagnostic tests, including implied
incurred-loss-to-earned-premium ratios, non-zero claim severity trends and paid-to-incurred loss ratios. An actual
versus expected analysis is also performed comparing actual loss development to expected development embedded
within management’s estimate. Additional analyses may be performed based on the results of these diagnostics,
including the investigation of other actuarial methods.

The methods described above are generally utilized to evaluate management’s estimate for prior accident periods. For
the initial estimate of the current accident year, however, the available claim data is typically insufficient to produce a
reliable indication. As a result, the initial estimate for an accident year is generally based on an exposure-based
method using either the loss ratio projection method or the expected loss method. The loss ratio projection method,
which is typically used for guaranteed-cost business, develops an initial estimate for an accident year by multiplying
earned premiums for the accident year by a projected loss ratio. The projected loss ratio is determined by analyzing
prior period experience, and adjusting for loss cost trends, rate level differences, mix of business changes and other
known or observed factors influencing the current accident year relative to prior accident years. The exact number of
prior accident years utilized varies by product line component, based on the stability and consistency of the individual
accident year estimates. The expected loss method, which is typically used for loss sensitive business, develops an
initial estimate of ultimate claims and claim adjustment expenses for an accident year by analyzing exposures by
account.

Management’s Estimates
At least once per quarter, certain members of Company management meet with the Company’s actuaries to review the
latest claims and claim adjustment expense reserve analyses. Based on these analyses, management determines
whether its ultimate claim liability estimates should be changed. In doing so, it must evaluate whether the new data
provided represents credible actionable information or an anomaly that will have no effect on estimated ultimate claim
liability. For example, as described above, payments may have decreased in one geographic region due to fewer claim
adjusters being available to process claims. The resulting claim payment patterns would be analyzed to determine
whether or not the change in payment pattern represents a change in ultimate claim liability.

Such an assessment requires considerable judgment. It is frequently not possible to determine whether a change in the
data is an anomaly until sometime after the event. Even if a change is determined to be permanent, it is not always
possible to reliably determine the extent of the change until sometime later. The overall detailed analyses supporting
such an effort can take several months to perform as the underlying causes of the trends observed need to be
evaluated, which may require the gathering or assembling of data not previously available. It may also include
interviews with experts involved with the underlying processes. As a result, there can be a time lag between the
emergence of a change and a determination that the change should be reflected in the Company’s estimated claim
liabilities. The final estimate selected by management in a reporting period is based on these various detailed analyses
of past data, adjusted to reflect any new actionable information.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors reviews the process by which the Company establishes reserves for
the purpose of the Company’s financial statements.

Discussion of Product Lines
The following section details reserving considerations and common risk factors by product line. There are many
additional risk factors that may impact ultimate claim costs. Each risk factor presented will have a different impact on
required reserves. Also, risk factors can have offsetting or compounding effects on required reserves. For example, in
workers’ compensation, the use of expensive medical procedures that result in medical cost inflation may enable
workers to return to work faster, thereby lowering indemnity costs. Thus, in almost all cases, it is impossible to
discretely measure the effect of a single risk factor and construct a meaningful sensitivity expectation.
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In order to provide information on reasonably possible reserving changes by product line, the historical changes in
year-end claims and claim adjustment expense reserves over a one-year period are provided for the U.S. product lines.
This information is provided for both the Company and the industry for the nine most recent years, and is based on the
most recent publicly available data for the reported line(s) that most closely match the individual product line being
discussed. These changes were calculated, net of reinsurance, from statutory annual statement data found in Schedule
P of those statements, and represent the reported reserve development on the beginning-of-the-year claim liabilities
divided by the beginning claim liabilities, all accident years combined, excluding non-defense related claim
adjustment expense. Data presented for the Company includes history for the entire Travelers group (U.S. companies
only), as required by the statutory reporting instructions promulgated by state regulatory authorities for Schedule P.
Comparable data for non-U.S. companies is not available.
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General Liability
General liability is generally considered a long tail line, as it takes a relatively long period of time to finalize and settle
claims from a given accident year. The speed of claim reporting and claim settlement is a function of the
characteristics of claims, including specific coverage provided, the jurisdiction and specific policy provisions such as
self-insured retentions, among others. There are numerous components underlying the general liability product line.
Some of these have relatively moderate payment patterns (with most of the claims for a given accident year closed
within five to seven years), while others can have extreme lags in both reporting and payment of claims (e.g., a
reporting lag of a decade or more for “construction defect” claims).

While the majority of general liability coverages are written on an “occurrence” basis, certain general liability coverages
(such as those covering management and professional liability, including cyber coverages) are typically insured on a
“claims-made” basis.

General liability reserves are generally analyzed as two components: primary and excess/umbrella, with the primary
component generally analyzed separately for bodily injury and property damage. Bodily injury liability payments
reimburse the claimant for damages pertaining to physical injury as a result of the policyholder’s legal obligation
arising from non-intentional acts such as negligence, subject to the insurance policy provisions. In some cases the
damages can include future wage loss (which is a function of future earnings power and wage inflation) and future
medical treatment costs. Property damage liability payments result from damages to the claimant’s private property
arising from the policyholder’s legal obligation for non-intentional acts. In most cases, property damage losses are a
function of costs as of the loss date, or soon thereafter.

In addition, sizable or unique exposures are reviewed separately. These exposures include asbestos, environmental,
other mass torts, construction defect and large unique accounts that would otherwise distort the analysis. These unique
categories often require a very high degree of judgment and require reserve analyses that do not rely on conventional
actuarial methods.

Defense costs are also a part of the insured costs covered by liability policies and can be significant, sometimes
greater than the cost of the actual paid claims. For some products this risk is mitigated by policy language such that
the insured portion of defense costs is included in the policy limit available to pay the claim. Such “defense within the
limits” policies are most common for “claims-made” products. When defense costs are outside of the policy limits, the
full amount of the policy limit is available to pay claims and the amounts paid for defense costs have no contractual
limit.  

This line is typically the largest source of reserve estimate uncertainty in the United States (excluding assumed
reinsurance contracts covering the same risk). Major contributors to this reserve estimate uncertainty include the
reporting lag (i.e., the length of time between the event triggering coverage and the actual reporting of the claim), the
number of parties involved in the underlying tort action, whether the “event” triggering coverage is confined to only one
time period or is spread over multiple time periods, the potential dollars involved (in the individual claim actions),
whether such claims were reasonably foreseeable and intended to be covered at the time the contracts were written
(i.e., coverage dispute potential), and the potential for mass claim actions. Claims with longer reporting lags result in
greater estimation uncertainty. This is especially true for alleged claims with a latency feature, particularly where
courts have ruled that coverage is spread over multiple policy years, hence involving multiple defendants (and their
insurers and reinsurers) and multiple policies (thereby increasing the potential dollars involved and the underlying
settlement complexity). Claims with long latencies also increase the potential recognition lag (i.e., the lag between
writing a type of policy in a certain market and the recognition that such policies have potential mass tort and/or latent
claim exposure).
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The amount of reserve estimate uncertainty also varies significantly by component for the general liability product
line. The components in this product line with the longest latency, longest reporting lags, largest potential dollars
involved and greatest claim settlement complexity are asbestos and environmental. Components that include latency,
reporting lag and/or complexity issues, but to a materially lesser extent than asbestos and environmental, include
construction defect and other mass tort actions. Many components of general liability are not subject to material
latency or claim complexity risks and hence have materially less uncertainty than the previously mentioned
components. In general, components with shorter reporting lags, fewer parties involved in settlement negotiations,
only one policy potentially triggered per claim, fewer potential settlement dollars, reasonably foreseeable (and stable)
potential hazards/claims and no mass tort potential result in much less reserve estimate uncertainty than components
without those characteristics.

In addition to the conventional actuarial methods mentioned in the general discussion section, the company utilizes
various report year development methods for the construction defect components of this product line. The
Construction Defect report year development analysis is supplemented with projected claim counts and average values
for IBNR claim counts. For components with greater lags in claim reporting, such as excess and umbrella components
of this product line, the Company relies more heavily on the BF method than on the paid and case incurred
development methods.
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Examples of common risk factors, or perceptions thereof, that could change and, thus, affect the required general
liability reserves (beyond those included in the general discussion section) include:

General liability risk factors 

•Changes in claim handling philosophies
•Changes in policy provisions or court interpretation of such provisions
•New or expanded theories of liability
•Trends in jury awards
•Changes in the propensity to sue, in general with specificity to particular issues
•Changes in the propensity to litigate rather than settle a claim
•Increases in attorney involvement in, or impact on, claims
•Changes in statutes of limitations
•Changes in the underlying court system
•Distortions from losses resulting from large single accounts or single issues
•Changes in tort law
•Shifts in lawsuit mix between federal and state courts
•Changes in claim adjuster processes or reporting which may cause distortions in the data being analyzed
•The potential impact of inflation on loss costs
•Changes in settlement patterns

General liability book of business risk factors 
•Changes in policy provisions (e.g., deductibles, policy limits, endorsements)
•Changes in underwriting standards
•Product mix (e.g., size of account, industries insured, jurisdiction mix)

Unanticipated changes in risk factors can affect reserves. As an indicator of the causal effect that a change in one or
more risk factors could have on reserves for general liability (excluding asbestos and environmental), a 1% increase
(decrease) in incremental paid loss development for each future calendar year could result in a 1.5% increase
(decrease) in claims and claim adjustment expense reserves.

Historically, the one-year change in the reserve estimate for this product line, excluding estimated asbestos and
environmental amounts, over the last nine years has varied from -8% to -1% (averaging -4%) for the Company, and
from -4% to 0% (averaging -2%) for the industry overall.  The Company’s year-to-year changes are driven by, and are
based on, observed events during the year.  The Company believes that its range of historical outcomes is illustrative
of reasonably possible one-year changes in reserve estimates for this product line.  General liability reserves
(excluding asbestos and environmental) represent approximately 20% of the Company’s total claims and claim
adjustment expense reserves.

The Company’s change in reserve estimate for this product line, excluding estimated asbestos and environmental
amounts, was -1% for 2018, -4% for 2017 and -4% for 2016. The 2018 change primarily reflected better than expected
loss experience for management liability coverages in Bond & Specialty Insurance for accident years 2013 through
2015, partially offset by higher than expected loss experience for both primary and excess coverages in Business
Insurance for accident years 2012 through 2017. The 2017 change primarily reflected better than expected loss
experience for both primary and excess coverages for accident years 2009 through 2016. The 2016 change primarily
reflected better than expected loss experience for both primary and excess coverages for accident years 2015 and
prior.
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Commercial Property
Commercial property is generally considered a short tail line with a simpler and faster claim reporting and adjustment
process than liability coverages, and less uncertainty in the reserve setting process (except for more complex business
interruption claims). It is generally viewed as a moderate frequency, low to moderate severity line, except for
catastrophes and coverage related to large properties. The claim reporting and settlement process for property
coverage claim reserves is generally restricted to the insured and the insurer. Overall, the claim liabilities for this line
create a low estimation risk, except possibly for catastrophes and business interruption claims.

Commercial property reserves are typically analyzed in two components, one for catastrophic or other large single
events, and another for all other events. Examples of common risk factors, or perceptions thereof, that could change
and, thus, affect the required property reserves (beyond those included in the general discussion section) include:
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Commercial property risk factors 

•Physical concentration of policyholders
•Availability and cost of local contractors

•For the more severe catastrophic events, “demand surge” inflation, which refers to significant short-term increases inbuilding material and labor costs due to a sharp increase in demand for those materials and services
•Local building codes

• Amount of time to return property to full usage (for business interruption
claims)

•Frequency of claim re-openings on claims previously closed
•Court interpretation of policy provisions (such as occurrence definition, or wind versus flooding)

•Lags in reporting claims (e.g., winter damage to summer homes, hidden damage after an earthquake, hail damage toroofs and/or equipment on roofs)
•Court or legislative changes to the statute of limitations

Commercial property book of business risk factors 
•Policy provisions mix (e.g., deductibles, policy limits, endorsements)
•Changes in underwriting standards

Unanticipated changes in risk factors can affect reserves. As an indicator of the causal effect that a change in one or
more risk factors could have on reserves for property, a 1% increase (decrease) in incremental paid loss development
for each future calendar year could result in a 1.1% increase (decrease) in claims and claim adjustment expense
reserves.

Historically, the one-year change in the reserve estimate for this product line over the last nine years has varied from
-25% to -5% (averaging -15%) for the Company, and from -14% to -5% (averaging -8%) for the industry overall. The
Company’s year-to-year changes are driven by, and are based on, observed events during the year. The Company
believes that its range of historical outcomes is illustrative of reasonably possible one-year changes in reserve
estimates for this product line. Commercial property reserves represent approximately 3% of the Company’s total
claims and claim adjustment expense reserves.

Since commercial property is considered a short tail coverage, the one year change for commercial property can be
more volatile than that for the longer tail product lines. This is due to the fact that the majority of the reserve for
commercial property relates to the most recent accident year, which is subject to the most uncertainty for all product
lines. This recent accident year uncertainty is relevant to commercial property because of weather-related events
which tend to be concentrated in the second half of the year, and generally are not completely resolved until the
following year. Reserve estimates associated with major catastrophes may take even longer to resolve. The reserve
estimates for this product line are also potentially subject to material changes due to uncertainty in measuring ultimate
losses for significant catastrophes such as Storm Sandy and wildfires.

The Company’s change in reserve estimate for this product line was -11% for 2018, -9% for 2017 and -9% for 2016.
The 2018 change primarily reflected better than expected loss experience related to both catastrophe and
non-catastrophe losses for accident years 2015 through 2017. The 2017 change primarily reflected better than
expected loss experience related to non-catastrophe losses for accident years 2015 and 2016. The 2016 change
primarily reflected better than expected loss experience related to non-catastrophe losses for accident years 2014 and
2015.

Commercial Multi-Peril
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Commercial multi-peril provides a combination of property and liability coverage typically for small businesses and,
therefore, includes both short and long tail coverages. For property coverage, it generally takes a relatively short
period of time to close claims, while for the other coverages, generally for the liability coverages, it takes a longer
period of time to close claims.

The reserving risk for this line is dominated by the liability coverage portion of this product, except occasionally in
the event of catastrophic or other large single loss events. The reserving risk for this line differs from that of the
general liability product line and the property product line due to the nature of the customer. Commercial multi-peril is
generally sold to small- to mid-sized accounts, while the customer profile for general liability and commercial
property includes larger customers.

See “Commercial property risk factors” and “General liability risk factors,” discussed above, with regard to reserving risk
for commercial multi-peril.

Unanticipated changes in risk factors can affect reserves. As an indicator of the causal effect that a change in one or
more risk factors could have on reserves for commercial multi-peril (excluding asbestos and environmental), a 1%
increase (decrease) in
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incremental paid loss development for each future calendar year could result in a 1.2% increase (decrease) in claims
and claim adjustment expense reserves.

Historically, the one-year change in the reserve estimate for this product line, excluding estimated asbestos and
environmental amounts, over the last nine years has varied from -5% to 5% (averaging 1%) for the Company, and
from -4% to 1% (averaging -2%) for the industry overall. The Company’s year-to-year changes are driven by, and are
based on, observed events during the year. The Company believes that its range of historical outcomes is illustrative
of reasonably possible one-year changes in reserve estimates for this product line. Commercial multi-peril reserves
(excluding asbestos and environmental reserves) represent approximately 8% of the Company’s total claims and claim
adjustment expense reserves.

As discussed above, this line combines general liability and commercial property coverages and it has been impacted
in the past by many of the same events as those two lines.

The Company’s change in reserve estimate for this product line was 1% for 2018, -5% for 2017 and 1% for 2016. The
2018 change primarily reflected higher than expected loss experience for liability coverages for accident year 2017.
The 2017 change primarily reflected better than expected loss experience for liability coverages for accident years
2016 and prior. The 2016 change primarily reflected higher than expected loss experience for property coverages
related to non-catastrophe losses for accident year 2015.

Commercial Automobile
The commercial automobile product line is a mix of property and liability coverages and, therefore, includes both
short and long tail coverages. The payments that are made quickly typically pertain to auto physical damage
(property) claims and property damage (liability) claims. The payments that take longer to finalize and are more
difficult to estimate relate to bodily injury claims. In general, claim reporting lags are generally short, claim
complexity is not a major issue, and the line is viewed as high frequency, low to moderate severity. Overall, the claim
liabilities for this line create a moderate estimation risk. Recently, the Company has seen more of an increase in the
rate of attorney involvement than it had anticipated and a lengthening of the claim development pattern. As a
consequence, the Company has experienced a higher level of bodily injury severity than it had anticipated.

Commercial automobile reserves are typically analyzed in four components: bodily injury liability; property damage
liability; collision claims; and comprehensive claims. These last two components have minimum reserve risk and fast
payouts and, accordingly, separate risk factors are not presented.

The Company utilizes the conventional actuarial methods mentioned in the general discussion above in estimating
claim liabilities for this line. This is supplemented with detailed custom analyses where needed.

Examples of common risk factors, or perceptions thereof, that could change and, thus, affect the required commercial
automobile reserves (beyond those included in the general discussion section) include:

Bodily injury and property damage liability risk factors 

•Trends in jury awards
•Changes in the underlying court system
•Changes in case law
•Litigation trends
•Increases in attorney involvement in, or impact on, claims
•Frequency of claims with payment capped by policy limits
•
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Change in average severity of accidents, or proportion of severe
accidents

•Changes in auto safety technology
•Subrogation opportunities
•Changes in claim handling philosophies
•Frequency of visits to health providers
•Number of medical procedures given during visits to health providers
•Types of health providers used
•Types of medical treatments received
•Changes in cost of medical treatments
•Degree of patient responsiveness to treatment
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Commercial automobile book of business risk factors 

•Changes in policy provisions (e.g., deductibles, policy limits, endorsements, etc.)

•Changes in mix of insured vehicles (e.g., long haul trucks versus local and smaller vehicles, fleet risks versusnon-fleets)
•Changes in underwriting standards

Unanticipated changes in risk factors can affect reserves. As an indicator of the causal effect that a change in one or
more risk factors could have on reserves for commercial automobile, a 1% increase (decrease) in incremental paid loss
development for each future calendar year could result in a 1.3% increase (decrease) in claims and claim adjustment
expense reserves.

Historically, the one-year change in the reserve estimate for this product line over the last nine years has varied from
-2% to 11% (averaging 3%) for the Company, and from -3% to 7% (averaging 2%) for the industry overall. The
Company’s year-to-year changes are driven by, and are based on, observed events during the year. The Company
believes that its range of historical outcomes is illustrative of reasonably possible one-year changes in reserve
estimates for this product line. Commercial automobile reserves represent approximately 8% of the Company’s total
claims and claim adjustment expense reserves.

The Company’s change in reserve estimate for this product line was 11% for 2018, 4% for 2017 and -1% for 2016. The
2018 change primarily reflected higher than expected loss experience for liability coverages for accident years 2014
through 2017. The 2017 change primarily reflected higher than expected loss experience for liability coverages for
accident years 2013 through 2016. The 2016 change primarily reflected better than expected loss experience for
accident years 2011 and prior.

Workers’ Compensation
Workers’ compensation is generally considered a long tail coverage, as it takes a relatively long period of time to
finalize claims from a given accident year. While certain payments such as initial medical treatment or temporary
wage replacement for the injured worker are made quickly, some other payments are made over the course of several
years, such as awards for permanent partial injuries. In addition, some payments can run as long as the injured
worker’s life, such as permanent disability benefits and on-going medical care. Despite the possibility of long payment
tails, the reporting lags are generally short, payment obligations are generally not complex, and most of the liability
can be considered high frequency with moderate severity. The largest reserve risk generally comes from the low
frequency, high severity claims providing lifetime coverage for medical expense arising from a worker’s injury, as
such claims are subject to greater inflation risk. Overall, the claim liabilities for this line create a somewhat greater
than moderate estimation risk.

Workers’ compensation reserves are typically analyzed in three components: indemnity losses, medical losses and
claim adjustment expenses.

Examples of common risk factors, or perceptions thereof, that could change and, thus, affect the required workers’
compensation reserves (beyond those included in the general discussion section) include:

Indemnity risk factors 
•Time required to recover from the injury
•Degree of available transitional jobs
•Degree of legal involvement
•Changes in the interpretations and processes of the administrative bodies that oversee workers’ compensation claims
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•Future wage inflation for states that index benefits
•Changes in the administrative policies of second injury funds

 Medical risk factors 
•Changes in the cost of medical treatments (including prescription drugs) and underlying fee schedules (“inflation”)
•Frequency of visits to health providers
•Number of medical procedures given during visits to health providers
•Types of health providers used
•Type of medical treatments received
•Use of preferred provider networks and other medical cost containment practices
•Availability of new medical processes and equipment
•Changes in the use of pharmaceutical drugs, including drugs for pain management
•Degree of patient responsiveness to treatment
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General workers’ compensation risk factors 
•Frequency of reopening claims previously closed
•Mortality trends of injured workers with lifetime benefits and medical treatment
•Changes in statutory benefits
•The impact, if any, of potential future changes to the Affordable Care Act

Workers’ compensation book of business risk factors 
•Product mix
•Injury type mix
•Changes in underwriting standards

Unanticipated changes in risk factors can affect reserves. As an indicator of the causal effect that a change in one or
more risk factors could have on reserves for workers’ compensation, a 1% increase (decrease) in incremental paid loss
development for each future calendar year could result in a 1.3% increase (decrease) in claims and claim adjustment
expense reserves.

Historically, the one-year change in the reserve estimate for this product line over the last nine years has varied from
-4% to 0% (averaging -2%) for the Company, and from -4% to 1% (averaging -1%) for the industry overall. The
Company’s year-to-year changes are driven by, and are based on, observed events during the year. The Company
believes that its range of historical outcomes is illustrative of reasonably possible one-year changes in reserve
estimates for this product line. Workers’ compensation reserves represent approximately 38% of the Company’s total
claims and claim adjustment expense reserves.

The Company’s change in reserve estimate for this product line was -4% for 2018, -3% for 2017 and -2% for 2016.
The 2018 change primarily reflected better than expected loss experience for accident years 2017 and prior. The 2017
change primarily reflected better than expected loss experience for accident years 2016 and prior. The 2016 change
primarily reflected better than expected loss experience for accident years 2006 and prior as well as accident years
2009, 2013 and 2015.

Fidelity and Surety
Fidelity is generally considered a short tail coverage. It takes a relatively short period of time to finalize and settle
most fidelity claims. The volatility of fidelity reserves is generally related to the type of business of the insured, the
size and complexity of the insured’s business operations, amount of policy limit and attachment point of coverage. The
uncertainty surrounding reserves for small, commercial insureds is typically less than the uncertainty for large
commercial or financial institutions. The high frequency, low severity nature of small commercial fidelity losses
provides for stability in loss estimates, whereas the low frequency, high severity nature of losses for large insureds
results in a wider range of ultimate loss outcomes. Actuarial techniques that rely on a stable pattern of loss
development are generally not applicable to low frequency, high severity claims.

Surety has certain components that are generally considered short tail coverages with short reporting lags, although
large individual construction and commercial surety contracts can result in a long settlement tail, based on the length
and complexity of the construction project(s) or commercial transaction being insured. The frequency of losses in
surety generally correlates with economic cycles as the primary cause of surety loss is the inability of an insured to
fulfill its contractual obligations. The Company actively seeks to mitigate this exposure to loss through disciplined
risk selection, adherence to underwriting standards and ongoing monitoring of contractor progress in significant
construction projects. The volatility of surety losses is generally related to the type of business performed by the
insured, the type of bonded obligation, the amount of limit exposed to loss and the amount of assets available to the
insurer to mitigate losses, such as unbilled contract funds, collateral, first and third party indemnity, and other security
positions of an insured’s assets. Certain classes of surety claims are very high severity, low frequency in nature. These
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can include large construction contractors involved with one or multiple large, complex projects as well as certain
large commercial surety exposures. Other claim factors affecting reserve variability of surety include litigation related
to amounts owed by and due the insured (e.g., salvage and subrogation efforts) and the results of financial
restructuring of an insured.

Examples of common risk factors, or perceptions thereof, that could change and, thus, affect the required fidelity and
surety reserves (beyond those included in the general discussion section) include:

Fidelity risk factors 
•Type of business of insured
•Policy limit and attachment points
•Third-party claims
•Coverage litigation
•Complexity of claims
•Growth in insureds’ operations
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Surety risk factors 
•Economic trends, including the general level of construction activity
•Concentration of reserves in a relatively few large claims

• Type of business
insured

•Type of obligation insured
•Cumulative limits of liability for insured
•Assets available to mitigate loss
•Defective workmanship/latent defects
•Financial strategy of insured
•Changes in statutory obligations
•Geographic spread of business

Fidelity and Surety book of business risk factors
•Changes in policy provisions (e.g., deductibles, limits, endorsements)
•Changes in underwriting standards

Unanticipated changes in risk factors can affect reserves. As an indicator of the causal effect that a change in one or
more risk factors could have on reserves for fidelity and surety, a 1% increase (decrease) in incremental paid loss
development for each future calendar year could result in a 1.3% increase (decrease) in claims and claim adjustment
expense reserves.

Historically, the one-year change in the reserve estimate for this product line over the last nine years has varied from
-36% to -6% (averaging -19%) for the Company, and from -17% to -2% (averaging -10%) for the industry overall. 
The Company’s year-to-year changes are driven by, and are based on, observed events during the year.  The Company
believes that its range of historical outcomes is illustrative of reasonably possible one-year changes in reserve
estimates for this product line.  Fidelity and surety reserves represent approximately 1% of the Company’s total claims
and claim adjustment expense reserves.

In general, developments on single large claims (both adverse and favorable) are a primary source of changes in
reserve estimates for this product line.

The Company’s change in reserve estimate for this product line was -10% for 2018, -10% for 2017 and -36% for 2016.
The 2018 change primarily reflected better than expected loss experience in the fidelity and surety product line for
accident years 2015 and 2016. The 2017 change primarily reflected better than expected loss experience in the fidelity
and surety product line for accident years 2014 and 2015. The 2016 change primarily reflected better than expected
loss experience in the fidelity and surety product line for accident years 2009 through 2015.

Personal Automobile
Personal automobile includes both short and long tail coverages. The payments that are made quickly typically pertain
to auto physical damage (property) claims and property damage (liability) claims. The payments that take longer to
finalize and are more difficult to estimate relate to bodily injury claims. Reporting lags are relatively short and the
claim settlement process for personal automobile liability generally is the least complex of the liability products. It is
generally viewed as a high frequency, low to moderate severity product line. Overall, the claim liabilities for this line
create a moderate estimation risk.

Personal automobile reserves are typically analyzed in five components: bodily injury liability, property damage
liability, no-fault losses, collision claims and comprehensive claims. These last two components have minimum
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reserve risk and fast payouts and, accordingly, separate factors are not presented.

Examples of common risk factors, or perceptions thereof, that could change and, thus, affect the required personal
automobile reserves (beyond those included in the general reserve discussion section) include:

Bodily injury, property damage liability and no-fault risk factors 
•Trends in jury awards
•Changes in the underlying court system and its philosophy
•Changes in case law
•Litigation trends
•Increases in attorney involvement in, or impact on, claims
•Frequency of claims with payment capped by policy limits

• Change in average severity of accidents, or proportion of severe
accidents
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•Changes in auto safety technology
•Frequency and severity of claims involving distracted drivers and pedestrians
•Subrogation opportunities
•Frequency of visits to health providers
•Number of medical procedures given during visits to health providers
•Types of health providers used
•Types of medical treatments received
•Changes in cost of medical treatments
•Effectiveness of no-fault laws
•Degree of patient responsiveness to treatment
•Changes in claim handling philosophies

Personal automobile book of business risk factors 
•Changes in policy provisions (e.g., deductibles, policy limits, endorsements, etc.)
•Changes in underwriting standards
•Changes in the use of credit data for rating and underwriting

Unanticipated changes in risk factors can affect reserves. As an indicator of the causal effect that a change in one or
more risk factors could have on reserves for personal automobile, a 1% increase (decrease) in incremental paid loss
development for each future calendar year could result in a 1.1% increase (decrease) in claims and claim adjustment
expense reserves.

Historically, the one-year change in the reserve estimate for this product line over the last nine years has varied from
-4% to 3% (averaging 0%) for the Company, and from -3% to 2% (averaging -1%) for the industry overall. The
Company’s year-to-year changes are driven by, and are based on, observed events during the year. The Company
believes that its range of historical outcomes is illustrative of reasonably possible one-year changes in reserve
estimates for this product line. Personal automobile reserves represent approximately 7% of the Company’s total
claims and claim adjustment expense reserves.

The Company’s change in reserve estimate for this product line was -2% for 2018, 0% for 2017 and 3% for 2016. The
2018 change primarily reflected better than expected loss experience for liability coverages for accident years 2015
through 2017. The 2016 change primarily reflected higher than expected loss experience for liability coverages for
accident year 2015.

Homeowners and Personal Lines Other
Homeowners is generally considered a short tail coverage. Most payments are related to the property portion of the
policy, where the claim reporting and settlement process is generally restricted to the insured and the insurer. Claims
on property coverage are typically reported soon after the actual damage occurs, although delays of several months are
not unusual. The resulting settlement process is typically fairly short term, although exceptions do exist.

The liability portion of the homeowners policy generates claims which take longer to pay due to the involvement of
litigation and negotiation, but with generally small reporting lags. Personal Lines Other products include personal
umbrella policies, among others. See “general liability reserving risk factors,” discussed above, for reserving risk factors
related to umbrella coverages.

Overall, the line is generally high frequency, low to moderate severity (except for catastrophes), with simple to
moderate claim complexity.
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Homeowners reserves are typically analyzed in two components: non-catastrophe related losses and catastrophe loss
payments.

Examples of common risk factors, or perceptions thereof, that could change and, thus, affect the required homeowners
reserves (beyond those included in the general discussion section) include:

Non-catastrophe risk factors 
•Salvage opportunities
•Amount of time to return property to residential use
•Changes in weather patterns
•Local building codes
•Construction and building material costs
•Litigation trends
•Trends in jury awards
•Court interpretation of policy provisions (such as occurrence definition, or wind versus flooding)
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•Lags in reporting claims (e.g., winter damage to summer homes, hidden damage after an earthquake, hail damage toroofs and/or equipment on roofs)
•Court or legislative changes to the statute of limitations

Catastrophe risk factors 
•Physical concentration of policyholders
•Availability and cost of local contractors
•Local building codes
•Quality of construction of damaged homes
•Amount of time to return property to residential use

•For the more severe catastrophic events, “demand surge” inflation, which refers to significant short-term increases inbuilding material and labor costs due to a sharp increase in demand for those materials and services

Homeowners book of business risk factors 
•Policy provisions mix (e.g., deductibles, policy limits, endorsements, etc.)
•Degree of concentration of policyholders
•Changes in underwriting standards
•Changes in the use of credit data for rating and underwriting

Unanticipated changes in risk factors can affect reserves. As an indicator of the causal effect that a change in one or
more risk factors could have on reserves for homeowners and personal lines other, a 1% increase (decrease) in
incremental paid loss development for each future calendar year could result in a 1.1% increase (decrease) in claims
and claim adjustment expense reserves.

Historically, the one-year change in the reserve estimate for this product line (excluding the umbrella line of business,
which for statutory reporting purposes is included with the general liability line of business) over the last nine years
has varied from -17% to 3% (averaging -7%) for the Company, and from -7% to -1% (averaging -4%) for the industry
overall. The Company’s year-to-year changes are driven by, and are based on, observed events during the year. The
Company believes that its range of historical outcomes is illustrative of reasonably possible one-year changes in
reserve estimates for this product line. Homeowners and personal lines other reserves represent approximately 4% of
the Company’s total claims and claim adjustment expense reserves.

This line combines both liability and property coverages; however, the majority of the reserves relate to property.
While property is considered a short tail coverage, the one year change for property can be more volatile than that for
the longer tail product lines. This is due to the fact that the majority of the reserve for property relates to the most
recent accident year, which is subject to the most uncertainty for all product lines. This recent accident year
uncertainty is relevant to property because of weather related events which tend to be concentrated in the second half
of the year, and generally are not completely resolved until the following year. Reserve estimates associated with
major catastrophes, including California wildfires in recent years, may take even longer to resolve.

The Company’s change in reserve estimate for this product line (excluding the umbrella line of business) was -2% for
2018, 1% for 2017 and 3% for 2016. The 2018 change primarily reflected better than expected loss experience for
liability coverages for accident years 2014 through 2016, largely offset by higher than expected loss experience for
catastrophe losses for accident year 2017. The 2017 change primarily reflected modestly higher than expected loss
experience for liability coverages for accident years 2014 and 2015. The 2016 change primarily reflected modestly
higher than expected loss experience for liability coverages for accident years 2012 through 2014.

International and Other
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International and other includes products written by the Company’s international operations, as well as all other
products not explicitly discussed above. The principal component of “other” claim reserves is assumed reinsurance
written on an excess-of-loss basis, which may include reinsurance of non-U.S. exposures, and is runoff business.

International and other claim liabilities result from a mix of coverages, currencies and jurisdictions/countries. The
common characteristic is the need to customize the analysis to the individual component, and the inability to rely on
data characterizations and reporting requirements in the U.S. statutory reporting framework.

Due to changes in the business mix for this product line over time, the recently incurred claim liabilities are relatively
shorter tail (due to both the products and the jurisdictions involved, e.g., Canada, the Republic of Ireland and the
United Kingdom), while the older liabilities include some from runoff operations that are extremely long tail (e.g.,
U.S. excess liabilities reinsured through the
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London market, and several underwriting pools in runoff). The speed of claim reporting and claim settlement is a
function of the specific coverage provided, the jurisdiction, the distribution system (e.g., underwriting pool versus
direct) and the proximity of the insurance sale to the insured hazard (e.g., insured and insurer located in different
countries). In particular, liabilities arising from the underwriting pools in runoff may result in significant reporting
lags, settlement lags and claim complexity, due to the need to coordinate with other pool members or co-insurers
through a broker or lead-insurer for claim settlement purposes.

International reserves are generally analyzed by country and general coverage category (e.g., General Liability in
Canada, Commercial Property in the United Kingdom, etc.). The business is also generally split by direct versus
assumed reinsurance for a given coverage. Where the underlying insured hazard is outside the United States, the
underlying coverages are generally similar to those described under the Homeowners, Personal Automobile,
Commercial Automobile, General Liability, Commercial Property and Surety discussions above, taking into account
differences in the legal environment and differences in terms and conditions. However, statutory coverage differences
exist amongst various jurisdictions. For example, in some jurisdictions there are no aggregate policy limits on certain
liability coverages.

Other reserves, primarily assumed reinsurance in runoff, are generally analyzed by program/pool, treaty type, and
general coverage category (e.g., General Liability — excess of loss reinsurance). Excess exposure requires the insured to
“prove” not only claims under the policy, but also the prior payment of claims reaching up to the excess policy’s
attachment point.

Examples of common risk factors, or perceptions thereof, that could change and, thus, affect the required International
and other reserves (beyond those included in the general discussion section, and in the Personal Automobile,
Homeowners, General Liability, Commercial Property, Commercial Automobile and Surety discussions above)
include:

International and other risk factors 
•Changes in claim handling procedures, including those of the primary carriers
•Changes in policy provisions or court interpretation of such provision
•Economic trends

• New theories of
liability

•Trends in jury awards
•Changes in the propensity to sue
•Changes in statutes of limitations
•Changes in the underlying court system
•Distortions from losses resulting from large single accounts or single issues
•Changes in tort law
•Changes in claim adjuster office structure (causing distortions in the data)
•Changes in foreign currency exchange rates

International and other book of business risk factors 
•Changes in policy provisions (e.g., deductibles, policy limits, endorsements, “claims-made” language)
•Changes in underwriting standards
•Product mix (e.g., size of account, industries insured, jurisdiction mix)

Unanticipated changes in risk factors can affect reserves. As an indicator of the causal effect that a change in one or
more risk factors could have on reserves for International and other (excluding asbestos and environmental), a 1%
increase (decrease) in incremental paid loss development for each future calendar year could result in a 1.3% increase
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(decrease) in claims and claim adjustment expense reserves. International and other reserves (excluding asbestos and
environmental) represent approximately 7% of the Company’s total claims and claim adjustment expense reserves.

International and other represents a combination of different product lines, some of which are in runoff. Comparative
historical information is not available for international product lines as insurers domiciled outside of the United States
do not file U.S. statutory reports. Comparative historical information on runoff business is not indicative of reasonably
possible one-year changes in the reserve estimate for this mix of runoff business. Accordingly, the Company has not
included comparative analyses for International and other.

Reinsurance Recoverables
Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the associated claim liability. The
Company evaluates and monitors the financial condition of its reinsurers under voluntary reinsurance arrangements to
minimize its exposure to significant losses from reinsurer insolvencies. In addition, in the ordinary course of business,
the Company becomes involved
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in coverage disputes with its reinsurers. Some of these disputes could result in lawsuits and arbitrations brought by or
against the reinsurers to determine the Company’s rights and obligations under the various reinsurance agreements.
The Company employs dedicated specialists and comprehensive strategies to manage reinsurance collections and
disputes.

The Company has entered into a reinsurance contract in connection with a catastrophe bond issued by Long Point Re
III. This contract meets the requirements to be accounted for as reinsurance in accordance with guidance for
accounting for reinsurance contracts. The catastrophe bond is described in more detail in “Item 1-Business-Catastrophe
Reinsurance.”

The Company reports its reinsurance recoverables net of an allowance for estimated uncollectible reinsurance
recoverables. The allowance is based upon the Company’s ongoing review of amounts outstanding, length of collection
periods, changes in reinsurer credit standing, disputes, applicable coverage defenses and other relevant factors.
Accordingly, the establishment of reinsurance recoverables and the related allowance for uncollectible reinsurance
recoverables is also an inherently uncertain process involving estimates. From time to time, as a result of the
long-tailed nature of the underlying liabilities, coverage complexities and potential for disputes, the Company
considers the commutation of reinsurance contracts. Changes in estimated reinsurance recoverables and commutation
activity could result in additional income statement charges.

Recoverables attributable to structured settlements relate primarily to personal injury claims, of which workers’
compensation claims comprise a significant portion, for which the Company has purchased annuities and remains
contingently liable in the event of a default by the companies issuing the annuities. Recoverables attributable to
mandatory pools and associations relate primarily to workers’ compensation service business. These recoverables are
supported by the participating insurance companies’ obligation to pay a pro rata share based on each company’s
voluntary market share of written premium in each state in which it is a pool participant. In the event a member of a
mandatory pool or association defaults on its share of the pool’s or association’s obligations, the other members’ share of
such obligation increases proportionally.

Investment Valuation and Impairments
Valuation of Investments Reported at Fair Value in Financial Statements
The Company’s estimates of fair value for financial assets and financial liabilities are based on the framework
established in the fair value accounting guidance. The framework is based on the inputs used in valuation, gives the
highest priority to quoted prices in active markets and requires that observable inputs be used in the valuations when
available.

The fair value of a financial instrument is the estimated amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in an
orderly transaction between knowledgeable, unrelated, willing parties, i.e., not in a forced transaction. The estimated
fair value of a financial instrument may differ from the amount that could be realized if the security was sold in an
immediate sale, e.g., a forced transaction. Additionally, the valuation of investments is more subjective when markets
are less liquid due to the lack of market based inputs, which may increase the potential that the estimated fair value of
an investment is not reflective of the price at which an actual transaction would occur.

See note 4 of notes to the consolidated financial statements for a further discussion of the determination of fair value
of investments.

Investment Impairments
See note 1 of notes to the consolidated financial statements for a discussion of investment impairments.
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Due to the subjective nature of the Company’s analysis and estimates of future cash flows, along with the judgment
that must be applied in the analysis, it is possible that the Company could reach a different conclusion whether or not
to impair a security if it had access to additional information about the issuer. Additionally, it is possible that the
issuer's actual ability to meet contractual obligations may be different than what the Company determined during its
analysis, which may lead to a different impairment conclusion in future periods.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets Impairments
See note 1 of notes to the consolidated financial statements for a discussion of impairments of goodwill and other
intangible assets.

OTHER UNCERTAINTIES
For a discussion of other risks and uncertainties that could impact the Company’s results of operations or financial
position, see note 16 of notes to the consolidated financial statements and “Item 1A—Risk Factors.”
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This report contains, and management may make, certain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements, other than statements of historical facts, may be
forward-looking statements. Words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “likely,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “projects,”
“believes,” “estimates” and similar expressions are used to identify these forward-looking statements. These statements
include, among other things, the Company’s statements about:

•

the Company’s outlook and its future results of operations and financial condition (including, among other things,
anticipated premium volume, premium rates, renewal premium changes, underwriting margins and underlying
underwriting margins, net and core income, investment income and performance, loss costs, return on equity, core
return on equity and expected current returns, and combined ratios and underlying combined ratios);
•share repurchase plans;
•future pension plan contributions;
•the sufficiency of the Company’s asbestos and other reserves;
•the impact of emerging claims issues as well as other insurance and non-insurance litigation;
•the cost and availability of reinsurance coverage;
•catastrophe losses;

•
the impact of investment (including changes in interest rates), economic (including inflation, recent changes in tax
law, rapid changes in commodity prices and fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates) and underwriting market
conditions;
•strategic and operational initiatives to improve profitability and competitiveness;
•the Company's competitive advantages;
•new product offerings;

•the impact of new or potential regulations imposed or to be imposed by the United States or other nations, includingtariffs or other barriers to international trade; and
•the impact of a government shutdown.

The Company cautions investors that such statements are subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are
difficult to predict and generally beyond the Company’s control, that could cause actual results to differ materially
from those expressed in, or implied or projected by, the forward-looking information and statements.

For a discussion of some of the factors that could cause actual results to differ, see “Item 1A-Risk Factors” and “Item
7-Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

The Company’s forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this report or as of the date they are made, and
the Company undertakes no obligation to update its forward-looking statements.

Item 7A.    QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
MARKET RISK
Market risk is the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices, such as interest rates (inclusive
of credit spreads), foreign currency exchange rates and other relevant market rate or price changes. Market risk is
directly influenced by the volatility and liquidity in the markets in which the related underlying assets are traded. The
following is a discussion of the Company's primary market risk exposures and how those exposures are managed as of
December 31, 2018. The Company's market risk sensitive instruments, including derivatives, are primarily entered
into for purposes other than trading.
The carrying value of the Company's investment portfolio at December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $72.28 billion and
$72.50 billion, respectively, of which 88% and 86% was invested in fixed maturity securities, respectively. At
December 31, 2018 and 2017, approximately 6.7% and 7.3%, respectively, of the Company's invested assets were
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denominated in foreign currencies. The Company's exposure to equity price risk is not significant. The Company has
no direct commodity risk and is not a party to any credit default swaps.
The primary market risks to the investment portfolio are interest rate risk and credit risk associated with investments
in fixed maturity securities. The portfolio duration is primarily managed through cash market transactions and treasury
futures transactions.  For additional information regarding the Company’s investments, see notes 3 and 4 of notes to
the consolidated financial statements
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as well as the “Investment Portfolio” and “Outlook” sections of “Item 7—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.”

The primary market risk for all of the Company’s debt is interest rate risk at the time of refinancing. The Company
monitors the interest rate environment and evaluates refinancing opportunities as maturity dates approach. For
additional information regarding the Company’s debt, see note 8 of notes to the consolidated financial statements as
well as the “Liquidity and Capital Resources” section of “Item 7—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.”

The Company’s foreign exchange market risk exposure is concentrated in the Company’s invested assets, insurance
reserves and shareholders’ equity denominated in foreign currencies. Cash flows from the Company’s foreign
operations are the primary source of funds for the purchase of investments denominated in foreign currencies. The
Company purchases these investments primarily to fund insurance reserves and other liabilities denominated in the
same currency, effectively reducing its foreign currency exchange rate exposure. Invested assets denominated in the
Canadian dollar comprised approximately 4.1% and 4.4% of the total invested assets at December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. Invested assets denominated in the British Pound Sterling comprised approximately 1.9% and 2.0% of
total invested assets at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Invested assets denominated in other currencies at
December 31, 2018 and 2017 were not material.

There were no other significant changes in the Company's primary market risk exposures or in how those exposures
were managed for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017. The Company
does not currently anticipate significant changes in its primary market risk exposures or in how those exposures are
managed in future reporting periods based upon what is known or expected to be in effect in future reporting periods.
SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS
Sensitivity analysis is defined as the measurement of potential loss in future earnings, fair values or cash flows of
market sensitive instruments resulting from one or more selected hypothetical changes in interest rates and other
market rates or prices over a selected period of time. In the Company’s sensitivity analysis model, a hypothetical
change in market rates is selected that is expected to reflect reasonably possible near-term changes in those rates.
“Near-term” means a period of time going forward up to one year from the date of the consolidated financial statements.
Actual results may differ from the hypothetical change in market rates assumed in this disclosure, especially since this
sensitivity analysis does not reflect the results of any actions that would be taken by the Company to mitigate such
hypothetical losses in fair value.

Interest Rate Risk
In this sensitivity analysis model, the Company uses fair values to measure its potential loss. The sensitivity analysis
model includes the following financial instruments entered into for purposes other than trading: fixed maturities,
non-redeemable preferred stocks, mortgage loans, short-term securities, debt and derivative financial instruments. The
primary market risk to the Company's market sensitive instruments is interest rate risk (inclusive of credit spreads).
The sensitivity analysis model uses various basis point changes in interest rates to measure the hypothetical change in
fair value of financial instruments included in the model.
For invested assets with primary exposure to interest rate risk, estimates of portfolio duration and convexity are used
to model the loss of fair value that would be expected to result from a parallel increase in interest rates. Durations on
invested assets are adjusted for call, put and interest rate reset features. Durations on tax-exempt securities are
adjusted for the fact that the yields on such securities do not normally move in lockstep with changes in the U.S.
Treasury curve. Fixed maturity portfolio durations are calculated on a market value weighted basis, including accrued
interest, using holdings as of December 31, 2018 and 2017.

For debt, the change in fair value is determined by calculating hypothetical December 31, 2018 and 2017 ending
prices based on yields adjusted to reflect a 100 basis point change, comparing such hypothetical ending prices to
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actual ending prices, and multiplying the difference by the par or securities outstanding.
The sensitivity analysis model used by the Company produces a loss in fair value of market sensitive instruments of
approximately $2.31 billion and $2.08 billion based on a 100 basis point increase in interest rates at December 31,
2018 and 2017, respectively.
The loss estimates do not take into account the impact of possible interventions that the Company might reasonably
undertake in order to mitigate or avoid losses that would result from emerging interest rate trends. In addition, the loss
value only reflects the impact of an interest rate increase on the fair value of the Company's financial instruments.
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Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk
The Company uses fair values of investment securities to measure its potential loss from foreign denominated
investments. A hypothetical 10% reduction in value of foreign denominated investments is used to estimate the impact
on the market value of the foreign denominated holdings. The Company's analysis indicates that a hypothetical 10%
reduction in the value of foreign denominated investments would be expected to produce a loss in fair value of
approximately $487 million and $528 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors
The Travelers Companies, Inc.:
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of The Travelers Companies, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
Company) as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income,
changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three‑year period ended December 31, 2018,
and the related notes and financial statement schedules as listed in the accompanying index to consolidated financial
statements and schedules (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31,
2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three‑year period ended
December 31, 2018, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated February 14, 2019 expressed an unqualified opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the
U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and
the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ KPMG LLP
KPMG LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1994.
New York, New York
February 14, 2019
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THE TRAVELERS COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME
(in millions, except per share amounts)

For the year ended December 31, 2018 2017 2016
Revenues
Premiums $27,059 $25,683 $24,534
Net investment income 2,474 2,397 2,302
Fee income 432 447 458
Net realized investment gains (1) 114 216 68
Other revenues 203 159 263
Total revenues 30,282 28,902 27,625
Claims and expenses
Claims and claim adjustment expenses 18,291 17,467 15,070
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs 4,381 4,166 3,985
General and administrative expenses 4,297 4,170 4,154
Interest expense 352 369 363
Total claims and expenses 27,321 26,172 23,572
Income before income taxes 2,961 2,730 4,053
Income tax expense 438 674 1,039
Net income $2,523 $2,056 $3,014
Net income per share
Basic $9.37 $7.39 $10.39
Diluted $9.28 $7.33 $10.28
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding
Basic 267.4 276.0 288.1
Diluted 269.8 278.6 291.0
___________________________________________
(1) Total other-than-temporary impairment (OTTI) losses were $(1) million, $(13) million and $(40) million for the
years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  Of total OTTI, credit losses of $(1) million, $(14)
million and $(29) million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, were recognized in net
realized investment gains.  In addition, unrealized gains (losses) from other changes in total OTTI of $0 million, $1
million and $(11) million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, were recognized in
other comprehensive income (loss) as part of changes in net unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities having
credit losses recognized in the consolidated statement of income.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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THE TRAVELERS COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in millions)

For the year ended December 31, 2018 2017 2016
Net income $2,523 $2,056 $3,014
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Changes in net unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities:
Having no credit losses recognized in the consolidated statement of income (1,489 ) 294 (883 )
Having credit losses recognized in the consolidated statement of income (27 ) 8 21
Net changes in benefit plan assets and obligations (56 ) 29 16
Net changes in unrealized foreign currency translation (247 ) 191 (41 )
Other comprehensive income (loss) before income taxes (1,819 ) 522 (887 )
Income tax expense (benefit) (349 ) 110 (289 )
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes (1,470 ) 412 (598 )
Comprehensive income $1,053 $2,468 $2,416
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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THE TRAVELERS COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
(in millions)
At December 31, 2018 2017
Assets
Fixed maturities, available for sale, at fair value (amortized cost $63,601 and $61,316) $63,464 $62,694
Equity securities, at fair value (cost $382 and $440) 368 453
Real estate investments 904 932
Short-term securities 3,985 4,895
Other investments 3,557 3,528
Total investments 72,278 72,502
Cash 373 344
Investment income accrued 624 606
Premiums receivable 7,506 7,144
Reinsurance recoverables 8,370 8,309
Ceded unearned premiums 578 551
Deferred acquisition costs 2,120 2,025
Deferred taxes 445 70
Contractholder receivables 4,785 4,775
Goodwill 3,937 3,951
Other intangible assets 345 342
Other assets 2,872 2,864
Total assets $104,233 $103,483
Liabilities
Claims and claim adjustment expense reserves $50,668 $49,650
Unearned premium reserves 13,555 12,915
Contractholder payables 4,785 4,775
Payables for reinsurance premiums 289 274
Debt 6,564 6,571
Other liabilities 5,478 5,567
Total liabilities 81,339 79,752
Shareholders’ equity
Common stock (1,750.0 shares authorized; 263.7 and 271.5 shares issued, 263.6 and 271.4
shares outstanding) 23,144 22,886

Retained earnings 35,204 33,462
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,859 ) (343 )
Treasury stock, at cost (510.9 and 500.9 shares) (33,595 ) (32,274 )
Total shareholders’ equity 22,894 23,731
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $104,233 $103,483

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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THE TRAVELERS COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in millions)
For the year ended December 31, 2018 2017 2016
Common stock
Balance, beginning of year $22,886 $22,614 $22,172
Employee share-based compensation 108 136 287
Compensation amortization under share-based plans and other changes 150 136 155
Balance, end of year 23,144 22,886 22,614
Retained earnings
Balance, beginning of year 33,462 32,196 29,945
Cumulative effect of adoption of updated accounting guidance for equity financial
instruments at January 1, 2018 22 — —

Reclassification of certain tax effects from accumulated other comprehensive income
at January 1, 2018 24 — —

Net income 2,523 2,056 3,014
Dividends (818 ) (789 ) (762 )
Other (9 ) (1 ) (1 )
Balance, end of year 35,204 33,462 32,196
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Balance, beginning of year (343 ) (755 ) (157 )
Cumulative effect of adoption of updated accounting guidance for equity financial
instruments at January 1, 2018 (22 ) — —

Reclassification of certain tax effects from accumulated other comprehensive income
at January 1, 2018 (24 ) — —

Other comprehensive income (loss) (1,470 ) 412 (598 )
Balance, end of year (1,859 ) (343 ) (755 )
Treasury stock, at cost
Balance, beginning of year (32,274 ) (30,834 ) (28,362 )
Treasury stock acquired — share repurchase authorization (1,270 ) (1,378 ) (2,400 )
Net shares acquired related to employee share-based compensation plans (51 ) (62 ) (72 )
Balance, end of year (33,595 ) (32,274 ) (30,834 )
Total shareholders’ equity $22,894 $23,731 $23,221
Common shares outstanding
Balance, beginning of year 271.4 279.6 295.9
Treasury stock acquired — share repurchase authorization (9.6 ) (10.9 ) (21.3 )
Net shares issued under employee share-based compensation plans 1.8 2.7 5.0
Balance, end of year 263.6 271.4 279.6

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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THE TRAVELERS COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(in millions)
For the year ended December 31, 2018 2017 2016
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $2,523 $2,056 $3,014
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Net realized investment gains (114 ) (216 ) (68 )
Depreciation and amortization 803 813 826
Deferred federal income tax expense (benefit) (13 ) 337 110
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs 4,381 4,166 3,985
Equity in income from other investments (365 ) (397 ) (232 )
Premiums receivable (393 ) (394 ) (286 )
Reinsurance recoverables (100 ) 16 610
Deferred acquisition costs (4,488 ) (4,257 ) (4,061 )
Claims and claim adjustment expense reserves 1,246 1,460 (257 )
Unearned premium reserves 710 521 372
Other 190 43 456
Net cash provided by operating activities 4,380 4,148 4,469
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from maturities of fixed maturities 7,086 8,750 8,975
Proceeds from sales of investments:
Fixed maturities 3,546 1,854 1,417
Equity securities 178 765 92
Real estate investments 74 23 69
Other investments 511 468 566
Purchases of investments:
Fixed maturities (13,526) (12,250) (11,609)
Equity securities (117 ) (459 ) (51 )
Real estate investments (74 ) (59 ) (48 )
Other investments (537 ) (541 ) (580 )
Net sales (purchases) of short-term securities 908 (26 ) (199 )
Securities transactions in the course of settlement (56 ) (47 ) (21 )
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (4 ) (439 ) —
Other (318 ) (241 ) (338 )
Net cash used in investing activities (2,329 ) (2,202 ) (1,727 )
Cash flows from financing activities
Treasury stock acquired — share repurchase authorization (1,270 ) (1,378 ) (2,400 )
Treasury stock acquired — net employee share-based compensation (51 ) (62 ) (72 )
Dividends paid to shareholders (814 ) (785 ) (757 )
Payment of debt (600 ) (657 ) (400 )
Issuance of debt 591 789 491
Issuance of common stock-employee share options 132 173 332
Net cash used in financing activities (2,012 ) (1,920 ) (2,806 )
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (10 ) 11 (9 )
Net increase (decrease) in cash 29 37 (73 )
Cash at beginning of year 344 307 380
Cash at end of year $373 $344 $307
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
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Income taxes paid $408 $514 $892
Interest paid $347 $367 $358

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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THE TRAVELERS COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.                                      SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of The Travelers Companies, Inc. (together with its
subsidiaries, the Company).  The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and claims and expenses during the reporting
period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.  Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2017 and
2016 financial statements to conform to the 2018 presentation. All material intercompany transactions and balances
have been eliminated.
On August 4, 2017, the Company completed its acquisition of all issued and outstanding shares of Simply Business
Holdings Ltd (Simply Business), a leading provider of small business insurance policies primarily in the United
Kingdom, for a purchase price of approximately $464 million, which included the repayment of debt and other
obligations of Simply Business. In addition, the Company issued 95,953 shares of restricted common stock valued at
approximately $12 million to certain employees of Simply Business who were equity holders of Simply Business. 
Subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, 50% of the restricted stock will vest two years from the issuance date
and the remainder will vest three years from the issuance date.  The Company used a portion of the net proceeds from
the issuance of senior notes in May 2017 (described in more detail in note 8) and internal resources to fund this
transaction. 

Adoption of Accounting Standards
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

In January 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued updated guidance to address the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of certain financial instruments. The updated guidance requires
equity investments, except those accounted for under the equity method of accounting, that have readily determinable
fair value to be measured at fair value with any changes in fair value recognized in net income. Equity securities that
do not have readily determinable fair values may be measured at estimated fair value or cost less impairment, if any,
adjusted for subsequent observable price changes, with changes in the carrying value recognized in net income. A
qualitative assessment for impairment is required for equity investments without readily determinable fair values. The
updated guidance also eliminates the requirement to disclose the method and significant assumptions used to estimate
the fair value of financial instruments measured at amortized cost on the balance sheet. The updated guidance was
effective for the quarter ended March 31, 2018. The adoption of this guidance resulted in the recognition of $22
million of net after-tax unrealized gains on equity investments as a cumulative effect adjustment that increased
retained earnings as of January 1, 2018 and decreased accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) by the same
amount. The Company elected to report changes in the fair value of equity investments in net realized investment
gains (losses). At December 31, 2017, equity investments were classified as available-for-sale on the Company's
balance sheet. However, upon adoption, the updated guidance eliminated the available-for-sale balance sheet
classification for equity investments.

Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

On February 14, 2018, the FASB issued updated guidance that allows a reclassification from AOCI to retained
earnings of the stranded tax effects that occurred due to the enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (TCJA).
The updated guidance is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018 and is to be applied
retrospectively to each period in which there are items impacted by the TCJA remaining in AOCI or at the beginning
of the period of adoption. Early adoption is permitted. The Company adopted the updated guidance effective January
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1, 2018 and elected to reclassify the income tax effects of the TCJA from AOCI to retained earnings as of January 1,
2018. This reclassification resulted in an increase in retained earnings of $24 million as of January 1, 2018 and a
decrease in AOCI by the same amount.
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THE TRAVELERS COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
1.                                      SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

In May 2014, the FASB issued updated guidance to clarify the principles for recognizing revenue. The updated
guidance was effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, and requires an entity to recognize
revenue as performance obligations are met, in order to reflect the transfer of goods or services to customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration the entity is entitled to receive for those goods or services. For the year ended
December 31, 2018, approximately $171 million, or less than 1% of the Company's total revenues, were within the
scope of this updated guidance and were generated from the services described below.

While insurance contracts are not within the scope of this updated guidance, the Company’s revenue related to certain
services with no underlying insurance risk is subject to the updated guidance. These services include the following: (i)
insurance-related services, such as risk management services, claims administration, loss control and risk management
information services on behalf of non-insureds; (ii) servicing carrier fees for various residual market pools and
associations; and (iii) administrative fees related to servicing third-party insurers’ obligations to participate in the
Workers' Compensation Residual Market Plans in certain states. The revenues earned from these service contracts
were not impacted by the adoption of the updated guidance. These revenues are earned as the Company completes its
performance obligations, which primarily occurs on a pro rata basis over the contract service period and reported in
fee income in the Company’s consolidated statement of income.

Commissions earned from on-line insurance brokerage services are also subject to this updated guidance and were
also not impacted by the adoption of the updated guidance. Commissions are earned upon collection of the gross
premium in accordance with the contracts and an accrual is made to recognize policy cancellations, either at the
policyholder’s direction or for non-payment. Commissions are reported in other revenues in the Company's
consolidated statement of income.

The Company does not capitalize the costs to obtain or fulfill the contracts for which revenues are reported in fee
income and other revenues, and has not recognized any material impairment losses on the receivables related to these
contracts during the twelve months ended December 31, 2018.

The Company adopted the updated guidance effective January 1, 2018. The adoption did not have an effect on the
Company’s results of operations, financial position or liquidity.

Statement of Cash Flows: Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments

In August 2016, the FASB issued updated guidance on the classification of cash flows related to certain activities in
the statement of cash flows to reduce diversity in practice. The updated guidance was effective for reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2017 and was applied retrospectively to all periods presented. Under the new guidance,
distributions received on equity method investments that are considered to be a return on investment are reported as
cash flows from operating activities. These distributions were previously reported as cash flows from investing
activities. The adoption of this guidance did not have an effect on the Company’s results of operations, financial
position or liquidity.

Other Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted
Leases
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In February 2016, the FASB issued updated guidance to require lessees to recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability for leases with terms of more than 12 months.  The updated guidance retains the two classifications of a lease
as either an operating or finance lease (previously referred to as a capital lease).  Both lease classifications require the
lessee to record the right-of-use asset and the lease liability based upon the present value of cash flows.  Finance
leases will reflect the financial arrangement by recognizing interest expense on the lease liability separately from the
amortization expense of the right-of-use asset.  Operating leases will recognize lease expense (with no separate
recognition of interest expense) on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.   The accounting by lessors is not
significantly changed by the updated guidance.  The updated guidance requires expanded qualitative and quantitative
disclosures, including additional information about the amounts recorded in the financial statements. 

In July 2018, the FASB amended the updated guidance on leases that was issued in February 2016 and provided an
additional transition method with which to adopt the updated guidance.  Under the additional transition method,
entities may elect to recognize a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the year
of adoption. Consequently, if this transition
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method is elected, an entity’s reporting for the comparative periods prior to adoption presented in the financial
statements would continue to be in accordance with current lease guidance. The amendments also provide lessors with
a practical expedient to combine nonlease components (e.g., a fee for common area maintenance when leasing office
space) with the associated lease component rather than accounting for those components separately if certain criteria
are met. The updated guidance requires entities to recognize a right-of-use asset and lease liability equal to the present
value of lease payments for all leases other than those that are less than one year.

The updated guidance, as amended, is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018. The
Company plans to adopt the updated guidance effective January 1, 2019 using the additional transition method
described above. The adoption of the updated guidance will result in the recognition of a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability of the same amount, which will be less than 1% of total assets and total liabilities, and is not expected to have
a material effect on the Company’s results of operations, financial position or liquidity.

Financial Instruments - Credit Losses: Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments

In June 2016, the FASB issued updated guidance for the accounting for credit losses for financial instruments. The
updated guidance applies a new credit loss model (current expected credit losses or CECL) for determining
credit-related impairments for financial instruments measured at amortized cost (e.g. reinsurance recoverables,
including structured settlements that are recorded as part of reinsurance recoverables) and requires an entity to
estimate the credit losses expected over the life of an exposure or pool of exposures. The estimate of expected credit
losses should consider historical information, current information, as well as reasonable and supportable forecasts,
including estimates of prepayments. The expected credit losses, and subsequent adjustments to such losses, will be
recorded through an allowance account that is deducted from the amortized cost basis of the financial asset, with the
net carrying value of the financial asset presented on the consolidated balance sheet at the amount expected to be
collected.
The updated guidance also amends the current other-than-temporary impairment model for available-for-sale debt
securities by requiring the recognition of impairments relating to credit losses through an allowance account and limits
the amount of credit loss to the difference between a security’s amortized cost basis and its fair value. In addition, the
length of time a security has been in an unrealized loss position will no longer impact the determination of whether a
credit loss exists.

The updated guidance is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is
permitted for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018. Based on the financial instruments currently held
by the Company, there would not be a material effect on the Company’s results of operations, financial position or
liquidity if the new guidance were able to be adopted in the current accounting period. The impact on the Company’s
results of operations, financial position or liquidity at the date of adoption of the updated guidance will be determined
by the financial instruments held by the Company and the economic conditions at that time.

Intangibles - Goodwill and Other

In January 2017, the FASB issued updated guidance that eliminates the requirement to calculate the implied fair value
of goodwill (i.e., Step 2 of the current goodwill impairment test) to measure a goodwill impairment charge.  Instead,
entities will record an impairment charge by comparing a reporting unit’s fair value with its carrying amount and
recognizing an impairment charge for the excess of the carrying amount over estimated fair value (i.e., Step 1 of
current guidance).  The implied fair value of goodwill is currently determined in Step 2 by deducting the fair value of
all assets and liabilities of the reporting unit (determined in the same manner as a business combination) from the
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reporting unit’s fair value as determined in Step 1 (including any corporate-level assets or liabilities that were included
in the determination of the carrying amount and fair value of the reporting unit in Step 1).  The updated guidance
requires an entity to perform its annual, or interim, impairment test by either: (1) an initial qualitative assessment of
factors (such as changes in management, key personnel, strategy, key technology or customers) that may impact a
reporting unit’s fair value and lead to the determination that it is more likely than not that the reporting unit’s fair value
is less than its carrying value, including goodwill (consistent with current guidance), or (2) applying Step 1.

The updated guidance is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019 and is to be applied
prospectively. Early adoption is permitted for interim or annual goodwill impairment tests performed on testing dates
after January 1, 2017. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s results
of operations, financial position or liquidity.
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Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service
Contract

In August 2018, the FASB issued updated guidance to align the accounting for implementation costs incurred in a
software hosting arrangement (i.e., a cloud computing arrangement) that is a service contract with the guidance for
capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software.  Accordingly, the updated
guidance requires an entity to determine the stage of a project that the implementation activity relates to and the nature
of the associated costs in order to determine whether those costs should be expensed as incurred or capitalized.   The
updated guidance also requires the entity to amortize the capitalized implementation costs as an expense over the term
of the hosting arrangement.

The updated guidance is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019.  Early adoption is
permitted.  The Company plans to early adopt the updated guidance effective January 1, 2019 using the prospective
method of adoption. The adoption of the updated guidance is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s
results of operations, financial position or liquidity.

Accounting Policies
Investments
Fixed Maturities
Fixed maturities include bonds, notes and redeemable preferred stocks. Fixed maturities, including instruments subject
to securities lending agreements, are classified as available for sale and reported at fair value, with unrealized
investment gains and losses, net of income taxes, charged or credited directly to other comprehensive income.
Equity Securities
Equity securities, which include public common and non-redeemable preferred stocks, are reported at fair value with
changes in fair value recognized in net income. Prior to January 1, 2018, equity securities were classified as available
for sale and changes in their fair value were charged or credited directly to other comprehensive income.
Real Estate Investments
The Company’s real estate investments include warehouses, office buildings and other commercial land and properties
that are directly owned. Real estate is recorded on the purchase date at the purchase price, which generally represents
fair value, and is supported by internal analysis or external appraisals that use discounted cash flow analyses and other
acceptable valuation techniques.  Real estate held for investment purposes is subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation.
Buildings are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the expected useful life of the building or 39
years.  Real estate held for sale is carried at lower of cost or fair value, less estimated costs to sell.
Short-term Securities
Short-term securities have an original maturity of less than one year and are carried at amortized cost, which
approximates fair value.
Other Investments
Investments in Private Equity Limited Partnerships, Hedge Funds and Real Estate Partnerships
The Company uses the equity method of accounting for investments in private equity limited partnerships, hedge
funds and real estate partnerships.  The partnerships and the hedge funds generally report investments on their balance
sheet at fair value.  The financial statements prepared by the investee are received by the Company on a lag basis, with
the lag period generally dependent upon the type of underlying investments.  The private equity and real estate
partnerships provide financial information quarterly which is generally available to investors, including the Company,
within three months following the date of the reporting period.  The hedge funds provide financial information
monthly, which is generally available to investors within one month following the
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date of the reporting period.  The Company regularly requests financial information from the partnerships prior to the
receipt of the partnerships’ financial statements and records any material information obtained from these requests in
its consolidated financial statements.
Other
Also included in other investments are non-public common equities, preferred equities and derivatives.  Non-public
common equities and preferred equities are reported at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income.
Prior to January 1, 2018, non-public common equities and preferred equities were reported at fair value with changes
in fair value, net of taxes, charged or credited directly to other comprehensive income. The Company’s derivative
financial instruments are carried at fair value, with the changes in fair value reflected in the consolidated statement of
income in net realized investment gains (losses).  For a further discussion of the derivatives used by the Company, see
note 3.
Net Investment Income
Investment income from fixed maturities is recognized based on the constant effective yield method which includes an
adjustment for estimated principal pre-payments, if any. The effective yield used to determine amortization for fixed
maturities subject to prepayment risk (e.g., asset-backed, loan-backed and structured securities) is recalculated and
adjusted periodically based upon actual historical and/or projected future cash flows, which are obtained from a
widely-accepted securities data provider.  The adjustments to the yield for highly rated prepayable fixed maturities are
accounted for using the retrospective method.  The adjustments to the yield for non-highly rated prepayable fixed
maturities are accounted for using the prospective method.  Dividends on equity securities (including those with
transfer restrictions) are recognized in income when declared.  Rental income on real estate is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.  See the section titled: Real Estate in note 3 for further discussion.  Investments
in private equity limited partnerships, hedge funds, real estate partnerships and joint ventures are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting, whereby the Company’s share of the investee’s earnings or losses in the fund is
reported in net investment income.
Accrual of income is suspended on non-securitized fixed maturities that are in default, or on which it is likely that
future payments will not be made as scheduled.  Interest income on investments in default is recognized only when
payments are received.  Investments included in the consolidated balance sheet that were not income-producing for
the preceding 12 months were not material.
For fixed maturities where the Company records an other-than-temporary impairment, a determination is made as to
the cause of the impairment and whether the Company expects a recovery in the value.  For fixed maturities where the
Company expects a recovery in value, not necessarily to par, the constant effective yield method is utilized, and the
investment is amortized to the expected recovery amount.
Investment Gains and Losses
Net realized investment gains and losses are included as a component of pre-tax revenues based upon specific
identification of the investments sold on the trade date. Included in net realized investment gains (losses) are
other-than-temporary impairment losses on invested assets other than those investments accounted for using the equity
method of accounting as described in the “Investment Impairments” section that follows.
Investment Impairments
The Company conducts a periodic review to identify and evaluate invested assets having other-than-temporary
impairments. 
Other-Than-Temporary Impairments of Fixed Maturities
Some of the factors considered in identifying other-than-temporary impairments of fixed maturities include: (1) the
extent to which the fair value has been less than amortized cost; (2) the financial condition, near-term and long-term
prospects for the issuer, including the relevant industry conditions and trends, and implications of rating agency
actions and offering prices; (3) the likelihood of the recoverability of principal and interest; (4) whether it is more
likely than not that the Company will be required to sell the
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investment prior to an anticipated recovery in value; and (5) the length of time and extent to which the fair value has
been less than amortized cost.
For fixed maturity investments that the Company does not intend to sell or for which it is more likely than not that the
Company would not be required to sell before an anticipated recovery in value, the Company separates the credit loss
component of the impairment from the amount related to all other factors and reports the credit loss component in net
realized investment gains (losses).  The impairment related to all other factors is reported in other comprehensive
income.
For fixed maturity investments the Company intends to sell or for which it is more likely than not that the Company
will be required to sell before an anticipated recovery in value, the full amount of the impairment is included in net
realized investment gains (losses).
Upon recognizing an other-than-temporary impairment, the new cost basis of the investment is the previous amortized
cost basis less the other-than-temporary impairment recognized in net realized investment gains (losses).  The new
cost basis is not adjusted for any subsequent recoveries in fair value; however, for fixed maturity investments the
difference between the new cost basis and the expected cash flows is accreted on a quarterly basis to net investment
income over the remaining expected life of the investment.
Determination of Credit Loss — Fixed Maturities
The Company determines the credit loss component of fixed maturity investments by utilizing discounted cash flow
modeling to determine the present value of the security and comparing the present value with the amortized cost of the
security.  If the amortized cost is greater than the present value of the expected cash flows, the difference is considered
a credit loss and recognized in net realized investment gains (losses).
For non-structured fixed maturities (U.S. Treasury securities, obligations of U.S. government and government
agencies and authorities, obligations of states, municipalities and political subdivisions, debt securities issued by
foreign governments and certain corporate debt), the estimate of expected cash flows is determined by projecting a
recovery value and a recovery time frame and assessing whether further principal and interest will be received.  The
determination of recovery value incorporates an issuer valuation assumption utilizing one or a combination of
valuation methods as deemed appropriate by the Company.  The Company determines the undiscounted recovery
value by allocating the estimated value of the issuer to the Company’s assessment of the priority of claims.  The
present value of the cash flows is determined by applying the effective yield of the security at the date of acquisition
(or the most recent implied rate used to accrete the security if the implied rate has changed as a result of a previous
impairment) and an estimated recovery time frame.  Generally, that time frame for securities for which the issuer is in
bankruptcy is 12 months.  For securities for which the issuer is financially troubled but not in bankruptcy, that time
frame is generally 24 months.  Included in the present value calculation are expected principal and interest payments;
however, for securities for which the issuer is classified as bankrupt or in default, the present value calculation
assumes no interest payments and a single recovery amount.
In estimating the recovery value, significant judgment is involved in the development of assumptions relating to a
myriad of factors related to the issuer including, but not limited to, revenue, margin and earnings projections, the
likely market or liquidation values of assets, potential additional debt to be incurred pre- or
post-bankruptcy/restructuring, the ability to shift existing or new debt to different priority layers, the amount of
restructuring/bankruptcy expenses, the size and priority of unfunded pension obligations, litigation or other contingent
claims, the treatment of intercompany claims and the likely outcome with respect to inter-creditor conflicts.
For structured fixed maturity securities (primarily residential and commercial mortgage-backed securities and
asset-backed securities), the Company estimates the present value of the security by projecting future cash flows of
the assets underlying the securitization, allocating the flows to the various tranches based on the structure of the
securitization and determining the present value of the cash flows using the effective yield of the security at the date
of acquisition (or the most recent implied rate used to accrete the security if the implied rate has changed as a result of
a previous impairment or changes in expected cash flows).  The Company incorporates levels of delinquencies,
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economic data, to arrive at its estimate of the parameters applied to the assets underlying the securitization. 
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Real Estate Investments
On at least an annual basis, the Company obtains independent appraisals for substantially all of its real estate
investments. In addition, the carrying value of all real estate investments is reviewed for impairment on a quarterly
basis or when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  The
review for impairment considers the valuation from the independent appraisal, when applicable, and incorporates an
estimate of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the real estate
property. An impairment loss is recognized if the expected future undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying
value of the real estate property.  The impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds fair value.
Other Investments
The Company reviews its investments in private equity limited partnerships, hedge funds and real estate partnerships
for impairment no less frequently than quarterly and monitors the performance throughout the year through
discussions with the managers/general partners.  If the Company becomes aware of an impairment of a partnership’s
investments at the balance sheet date prior to receiving the partnership’s financial statements, it will recognize an
impairment by recording a reduction in the carrying value of the partnership with a corresponding charge to net
investment income.
Changes in Intent to Sell Temporarily Impaired Assets
The Company may, from time to time, sell invested assets subsequent to the balance sheet date that it did not intend to
sell at the balance sheet date.  Conversely, the Company may not sell invested assets that it asserted that it intended to
sell at the balance sheet date.  Such changes in intent are due to events occurring subsequent to the balance sheet date. 
The types of events that may result in a change in intent include, but are not limited to, significant changes in the
economic facts and circumstances related to the invested asset (e.g., a downgrade or upgrade from a rating agency),
significant unforeseen changes in liquidity needs, or changes in tax laws or the regulatory environment.
Securities Lending
The Company has, from time to time, engaged in securities lending activities from which it generates net investment
income by lending certain of its investments to other institutions for short periods of time. Borrowers of these
securities provide collateral equal to at least 102% of the market value of the loaned securities plus accrued interest.
This collateral is held by a third-party custodian, and the Company has the right to access the collateral only in the
event that the institution borrowing the Company’s securities is in default under the lending agreement (i.e., the
Company is not permitted to re-pledge or sell any such collateral). Therefore, the Company does not recognize the
receipt of the collateral held by the third-party custodian or the obligation to return the collateral. The loaned securities
remain a recorded asset of the Company.  The Company accepts only cash as collateral for securities on loan and
restricts the manner in which that cash is invested.
Reinsurance Recoverables
Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the associated claim liability. The
Company reports its reinsurance recoverables net of an allowance for estimated uncollectible reinsurance
recoverables. The allowance is based upon the Company’s ongoing review of amounts outstanding, length of collection
periods, changes in reinsurer credit standing, disputes, applicable coverage defenses and other relevant factors. 
Amounts deemed to be uncollectible, including amounts due from known insolvent reinsurers, are written off against
the allowance for estimated uncollectible reinsurance recoverables. Any subsequent collections of amounts previously
written off are reported as part of claims and claim adjustment expenses.  The Company evaluates and monitors the
financial condition of its reinsurers under voluntary reinsurance arrangements to minimize its exposure to significant
losses from reinsurer insolvencies.
Deferred Acquisition Costs
Incremental direct costs of acquired, new and renewal insurance contracts, consisting of commissions (other than
contingent commissions) and premium-related taxes, are capitalized and charged to expense pro rata over the contract
periods in which the related premiums are earned.  Deferred acquisition costs are reviewed to determine if they are
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and, if not, are charged to expense. Future investment income attributable to related premiums is taken into account in
measuring the recoverability of the carrying value of this asset. All other acquisition expenses are charged to
operations as incurred.
Contractholder Receivables and Payables
Under certain workers’ compensation insurance contracts with deductible features, the Company is obligated to pay the
claimant for the full amount of the claim. The Company is subsequently reimbursed by the policyholder for the
deductible amount. These amounts are included on a gross basis in the consolidated balance sheet in contractholder
payables and contractholder receivables, respectively.
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
The Company performs a review, on at least an annual basis, of goodwill held by the reporting units which are the
Company’s three operating and reportable segments: Business Insurance; Bond & Specialty Insurance; and Personal
Insurance.  The Company estimates the fair value of its reporting units and compares it to their carrying value,
including goodwill.  If the carrying values of the reporting units were to exceed their fair value, the amount of the
impairment would be calculated and goodwill adjusted accordingly.
The Company uses a discounted cash flow model to estimate the fair value of its reporting units.  The discounted cash
flow model is an income approach to valuation that is based on a detailed cash flow analysis for deriving a current fair
value of reporting units and is representative of the Company’s reporting units’ current and expected future financial
performance.  The discount rate assumptions reflect the Company’s assessment of the risks inherent in the projected
future cash flows and the Company’s weighted-average cost of capital, and are compared against available market data
for reasonableness.
Other indefinite-lived intangible assets held by the Company are also reviewed for impairment on at least an annual
basis.  The classification of the asset as indefinite-lived is reassessed and an impairment is recognized if the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.
Intangible assets that are deemed to have a finite useful life are amortized over their useful lives.  The carrying amount
of intangible assets with a finite useful life is regularly reviewed for indicators of impairment in value.  Impairment is
recognized only if the carrying amount of the intangible asset is not recoverable from its undiscounted cash flows and
is measured as the difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of the asset.
As a result of the reviews performed for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company
determined that the estimated fair value substantially exceeded the respective carrying value of its reporting units for
those years and that goodwill was not impaired.  The Company also determined during its reviews for each year that
its other indefinite-lived intangible assets and finite-lived intangible assets were not impaired.
Claims and Claim Adjustment Expense Reserves
Claims and claim adjustment expense reserves represent estimates for the ultimate cost of unpaid reported and
unreported claims incurred and related expenses. The reserves are adjusted regularly based upon experience. Included
in the claims and claim adjustment expense reserves in the consolidated balance sheet are reserves for long-term
disability and annuity claim payments, primarily arising from workers’ compensation insurance and workers’
compensation excess insurance policies, that are discounted to the present value of estimated future payments.
The Company performs a continuing review of its claims and claim adjustment expense reserves, including its
reserving techniques and the impact of reinsurance. The reserves are also reviewed regularly by qualified actuaries
employed by the Company.  Since the reserves are based on estimates, the ultimate liability may be more or less than
such reserves. The effects of changes in such estimated reserves are included in the results of operations in the period
in which the estimates are changed. Such changes in estimates could occur in a future period and may be material to
the Company’s results of operations and financial position in such period.
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Other Liabilities
Included in other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet is the Company’s estimate of its liability for guaranty
fund and other insurance-related assessments. The liability for expected state guaranty fund and other premium-based
assessments is recognized as the Company writes or becomes obligated to write or renew the premiums on which the
assessments are expected to be based.  The liability for loss-based assessments is recognized as the related losses are
incurred. At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company had a liability of $217 million and $231 million,
respectively, for guaranty fund and other insurance-related assessments and related recoverables of $16 million at both
dates. The liability for such assessments and the related recoverables are not discounted for the time value of money.
The loss-based assessments are expected to be paid over a period ranging from one year to the life expectancy of
certain workers’ compensation claimants and the recoveries are expected to occur over the same period of time.
Also included in other liabilities is an accrual for policyholder dividends. Certain insurance contracts, primarily
workers’ compensation, are participating whereby dividends are paid to policyholders in accordance with contract
provisions. Net written premiums for participating dividend policies were approximately 1% of total net written
premiums for each of the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.  Policyholder dividends are accrued against
earnings using best available estimates of amounts to be paid.  The liability accrued for policyholder dividends totaled
$72 million and $67 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Treasury Stock
The cost of common stock repurchased by the Company is reported as treasury stock and represents authorized and
unissued shares of the Company under the Minnesota Business Corporation Act.
Statutory Accounting Practices
The Company’s U.S. insurance subsidiaries, domiciled principally in the State of Connecticut, are required to prepare
statutory financial statements in accordance with the accounting practices prescribed or permitted by the insurance
departments of the states of domicile. Prescribed statutory accounting practices are those practices that are
incorporated directly or by reference in state laws, regulations, and general administrative rules applicable to all
insurance enterprises domiciled in a particular state. The State of Connecticut requires insurers domiciled in
Connecticut to prepare their statutory financial statements in accordance with National Association of Insurance
Commissioners’ (NAIC) statutory accounting practices.
Permitted statutory accounting practices are those practices that differ either from state-prescribed statutory
accounting practices or NAIC statutory accounting practices.
The Company does not apply any statutory accounting practices that would be considered a prescribed or permitted
statutory accounting practice that differs from NAIC statutory accounting practices.
The Company’s non-U.S. insurance subsidiaries file financial statements prepared in accordance with the regulatory
reporting requirements of their respective local jurisdiction.
Premiums and Unearned Premium Reserves
Premiums are recognized as revenues pro rata over the policy period. Unearned premium reserves represent the
unexpired portion of policy premiums. Accrued retrospective premiums are included in premium balances receivable.
Premium balances receivable are reported net of an allowance for estimated uncollectible premium amounts.
Ceded premiums are charged to income over the applicable term of the various reinsurance contracts with third party
reinsurers. Prepaid reinsurance premiums represent the unexpired portion of premiums ceded to reinsurers and are
reported as part of other assets.
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Fee Income
Fee income includes servicing carrier fees and revenues from large deductible policies and service contracts and is
recognized as the Company completes its performance obligations, which is primarily on a pro rata basis over the
contract service period or the underlying policy periods.
Other Revenues
Other revenues include revenues from premium installment charges, which are recognized as collected, revenues of
noninsurance subsidiaries other than fee income and gains and losses on dispositions of assets and redemption of debt,
and other miscellaneous revenues, including gains recognized as a result of settlements of reinsurance disputes and
claims-related legal matters.
Income Taxes
The Company recognizes deferred income tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax effects attributable to
temporary differences between the financial statement and tax return bases of assets and liabilities, based on enacted
tax rates and other provisions of the tax law. The effect of a change in tax laws or rates on deferred tax assets and
liabilities is recognized in income in the period in which such change is enacted. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a
valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that all or some portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
Foreign Currency Translation
The Company assigns functional currencies to its foreign operations, which are generally the currencies of the local
operating environment. Foreign currency amounts are remeasured to the functional currency, and the resulting foreign
exchange gains or losses are reflected in earnings. Functional currency amounts are then translated into U.S. dollars.
The foreign currency remeasurement and translation are calculated using current exchange rates for items reported in
the balance sheets and average exchange rates for items recorded in earnings.  The change in unrealized foreign
currency translation gain or loss during the year, net of tax, is a component of other comprehensive income.
Share-Based Compensation
The Company has an employee stock incentive compensation plan that permits grants of nonqualified stock options,
incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, deferred stock, stock units, performance awards and
other share-based or share-denominated awards with respect to the Company’s common stock.
Compensation cost is measured based on the grant-date fair value of an award, utilizing the assumptions discussed in
note 13.  Compensation cost is recognized for financial reporting purposes over the period in which the employee is
required to provide service in exchange for the award (generally the vesting period).  In connection with certain
share-based awards, participants are entitled to receive dividends during the vesting period, either in cash or dividend
equivalent shares, commensurate with the dividends paid to common shareholders.  Dividends and dividend
equivalent shares on awards that are expected to vest are recorded in retained earnings.  Dividends paid on awards that
are not expected to vest as part of the Company’s forfeiture estimate are recorded as compensation expense.
Nature of Operations
Business Insurance
Business Insurance offers a broad array of property and casualty insurance and insurance-related services to its
customers, primarily in the United States, as well as in Canada, the United Kingdom, the Republic of Ireland, Brazil
and throughout other parts of the world as a corporate member of Lloyd’s.  Business Insurance is organized as follows:
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Domestic

•Select Accounts provides small businesses with property and casualty insurance products and services, includingcommercial multi-peril, workers’ compensation, commercial automobile, general liability and commercial property.

•

Middle Market provides mid-sized businesses with property and casualty insurance products and services, including
workers’ compensation, general liability, commercial multi-peril, commercial automobile and commercial property, as
well as risk management, claims handling and other services. Middle Market generally provides these products to
mid-sized businesses through Commercial Accounts, as well as to targeted industries through Construction,
Technology, Public Sector Services and Oil & Gas, and additionally, provides mono-line umbrella and excess
coverage insurance through Excess Casualty. Middle Market also provides insurance for goods in transit and movable
objects, as well as builders’ risk insurance, through Inland Marine; insurance for the marine transportation industry and
related services, as well as other businesses involved in international trade, through Ocean Marine; and
comprehensive breakdown for equipment, including property and business interruption, through Boiler & Machinery.

•

National Accounts provides large companies with casualty insurance products and services, including workers’
compensation, commercial automobile and general liability, generally utilizing loss-sensitive products, on both a
bundled and unbundled basis. National Accounts also includes the Company’s commercial residual market business,
which primarily offers workers’ compensation services to the involuntary market.

•

National Property and Other provides traditional and customized commercial property insurance programs to large
and mid-sized customers through National Property. National Property and Other also provides insurance coverage
for the commercial transportation industry through Northland Transportation, general liability and commercial
property policies for small, difficult to place specialty classes of commercial business primarily on an excess and
surplus lines basis through Northfield, and tailored property and casualty insurance programs on an admitted basis for
customers with common risk characteristics or coverage requirements through National Programs. National Property
and Other also serves small to medium-sized agricultural businesses, including farms, ranches, wineries and related
operations, through Agribusiness.
International

•

International, through its operations in Canada, the United Kingdom, the Republic of Ireland and Brazil, provides
property and casualty insurance and risk management services to several customer groups, including, among others,
those in the technology, manufacturing and public services industry sectors.  International also provides insurance for
both the foreign exposures of United States organizations and the United States exposures of foreign organizations
through Global Services. At its Lloyd’s syndicate (Syndicate 5000), for which the Company provides 100% of the
capital, International underwrites six principal businesses — international marine, retail marine, global property,
construction & special risks, energy and aviation. 
Business Insurance also includes Simply Business, a leading provider of small business insurance policies primarily in
the United Kingdom that was acquired in August 2017, as well as Business Insurance Other, which primarily
comprises the Company’s asbestos and environmental liabilities, and the assumed reinsurance and certain other runoff
operations.

Bond & Specialty Insurance
Bond & Specialty Insurance provides surety, fidelity, management liability, professional liability, and other property
and casualty coverages and related risk management services to its customers in the United States and certain
specialty insurance products in Canada, the United Kingdom, the Republic of Ireland and Brazil, utilizing various
degrees of financially-based underwriting approaches.  The range of coverages includes performance, payment and
commercial surety bonds for construction and general commercial enterprises; fidelity insurance for private
companies, not-for-profit organizations and financial institutions; management liability coverages including directors’
and officers’ liability, employment practices liability, fiduciary liability and cyber risk for public corporations, private
companies, not-for-profit organizations and financial institutions; professional liability
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coverage for a variety of professionals including, among others, lawyers and design professionals; and in the United
States only, property, workers’ compensation, auto and general liability for financial institutions.
Bond & Specialty Insurance surety business in Brazil and Colombia is conducted through Junto Holding Brasil S.A.
(Junto) and Junto Holding Latam S.A. in Brazil. The Company owns 49.5% of both Junto, a market leader in surety
coverages in Brazil, and Junto Holding Latam S.A., which owns a majority interest in JMalucelli Travelers Seguros
S.A., a Colombian start-up surety provider. These joint venture investments are accounted for using the equity method
and are included in “other investments” on the consolidated balance sheet.
Personal Insurance
Personal Insurance writes a broad range of property and casualty insurance covering individuals’ personal risks,
primarily in the United States, as well as in Canada. The primary products of automobile and homeowners insurance
are complemented by a broad suite of related coverages.
Automobile policies provide coverage for liability to others for both bodily injury and property damage, uninsured
motorist protection, and for physical damage to an insured’s own vehicle from collision, fire, flood, hail and theft.  In
addition, many states require policies to provide first-party personal injury protection, frequently referred to as
no-fault coverage.
Homeowners policies provide protection against losses to dwellings and contents from a variety of perils (excluding
flooding) as well as coverage for personal liability. The Company writes homeowners insurance for dwellings,
condominiums and tenants, and rental properties.  The Company also writes coverage for boats and yachts and
valuable personal items such as jewelry, and also writes coverages for umbrella liability, identity fraud, and weddings
and special events.
2.                                      SEGMENT INFORMATION
The accounting policies used to prepare the segment reporting data for the Company’s three reportable business
segments are the same as those described in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in note 1.
Except as described below for certain legal entities, the Company allocates its invested assets and the related net
investment income to its reportable business segments.  Pre-tax net investment income is allocated based upon an
investable funds concept, which takes into account liabilities (net of non-invested assets) and appropriate capital
considerations for each segment. For investable funds, a benchmark investment yield is developed that reflects the
estimated duration of the loss reserves’ future cash flows, the interest rate environment at the time the losses were
incurred and A+ rated corporate debt instrument yields.  For capital, a benchmark investment yield is developed that
reflects the average yield on the total investment portfolio.  The benchmark investment yields are applied to each
segment’s investable funds and capital, respectively, to produce a total notional investment income by segment.  The
Company’s actual net investment income is allocated to each segment in proportion to the respective segment’s notional
investment income to total notional investment income.  There are certain legal entities within the Company that are
dedicated to specific reportable business segments.  The invested assets and related net investment income from these
legal entities are reported in the applicable business segment and are not allocated among the other business segments.
The cost of the Company’s catastrophe treaty program is included in the Company’s ceded premiums and is allocated
among reportable business segments based on an estimate of actual market reinsurance pricing using expected losses
calculated by the Company’s catastrophe model, adjusted for any experience adjustments.
The following tables summarize the components of the Company’s revenues, income, net written premiums and total
assets by reportable business segments.
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(for the year ended December 31, in millions) Business
Insurance

Bond &
Specialty
Insurance

Personal
Insurance

Total
Reportable
Segments

2018
Premiums $ 14,722 $ 2,420 $9,917 $ 27,059
Net investment income 1,833 233 408 2,474
Fee income 412 — 20 432
Other revenues 112 23 66 201
Total segment revenues (1) $ 17,079 $ 2,676 $10,411 $ 30,166
Amortization and depreciation $ 2,943 $ 515 $1,719 $ 5,177
Income tax expense 259 198 42 499
Segment income (1) 1,638 793 297 2,728
2017
Premiums $ 14,146 $ 2,307 $9,230 $ 25,683
Net investment income 1,786 228 383 2,397
Fee income 430 — 17 447
Other revenues 69 24 60 153
Total segment revenues (1) $ 16,431 $ 2,559 $9,690 $ 28,680
Amortization and depreciation $ 2,852 $ 493 $1,627 $ 4,972
Income tax expense (benefit) 448 208 (44 ) 612
Segment income (1) 1,613 556 128 2,297
2016
Premiums $ 13,855 $ 2,260 $8,419 $ 24,534
Net investment income 1,701 239 362 2,302
Fee income 442 — 16 458
Other revenues 168 21 63 252
Total segment revenues (1) $ 16,166 $ 2,520 $8,860 $ 27,546
Amortization and depreciation $ 2,783 $ 491 $1,530 $ 4,804
Income tax expense 656 309 192 1,157
Segment income (1) 1,982 712 517 3,211
_________________________________________

(1)
Segment revenues for reportable business segments exclude net realized investment gains. Segment income for
reportable business segments equals net income excluding the after-tax impact of net realized investment gains
and, in 2017, the impact of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 at enactment.
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Net written premiums by market were as follows:
(for the year ended December 31, in millions) 2018 2017 2016
Business Insurance:
Domestic:
Select Accounts $2,828 $2,800 $2,729
Middle Market 8,214 7,756 7,379
National Accounts 1,025 1,010 1,058
National Property and Other 1,805 1,691 1,779
Total Domestic 13,872 13,257 12,945
International 1,084 1,013 955
Total Business Insurance 14,956 14,270 13,900
Bond & Specialty Insurance:
Domestic:
Management Liability 1,455 1,367 1,342
Surety 835 793 757
Total Domestic 2,290 2,160 2,099
International 238 199 172
Total Bond & Specialty Insurance 2,528 2,359 2,271
Personal Insurance:
Domestic:
Agency:
Automobile 4,972 4,646 4,103
Homeowners and Other 4,148 3,933 3,772
Total Agency 9,120 8,579 7,875
Direct-to-Consumer 396 361 309
Total Domestic 9,516 8,940 8,184
International 708 650 603
Total Personal Insurance 10,224 9,590 8,787
Total consolidated net written premiums $27,708 $26,219 $24,958
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Business Segment Reconciliations
(for the year ended December 31, in millions) 2018 2017 2016
Revenue reconciliation
Earned premiums
Business Insurance:
Domestic:
Workers’ compensation $3,899 $3,962 $3,969
Commercial automobile 2,388 2,132 2,010
Commercial property 1,828 1,775 1,769
General liability 2,181 2,047 1,977
Commercial multi-peril 3,333 3,198 3,148
Other 28 29 31
Total Domestic 13,657 13,143 12,904
International 1,065 1,003 951
Total Business Insurance 14,722 14,146 13,855
Bond & Specialty Insurance:
Domestic:
Fidelity and surety 1,017 977 962
General liability 1,004 962 946
Other 195 187 180
Total Domestic 2,216 2,126 2,088
International 204 181 172
Total Bond & Specialty Insurance 2,420 2,307 2,260
Personal Insurance:
Domestic
Automobile 5,097 4,655 4,013
Homeowners and Other 4,135 3,943 3,813
Total Domestic 9,232 8,598 7,826
International 685 632 593
Total Personal Insurance 9,917 9,230 8,419
Total earned premiums 27,059 25,683 24,534
Net investment income 2,474 2,397 2,302
Fee income 432 447 458
Other revenues 201 153 252
Total segment revenues 30,166 28,680 27,546
Other revenues 2 6 11
Net realized investment gains 114 216 68
Total revenues $30,282 $28,902 $27,625
Income reconciliation, net of tax
Total segment income $2,728 $2,297 $3,211
Interest Expense and Other (1) (298 ) (254 ) (244 )
Core income 2,430 2,043 2,967
Net realized investment gains 93 142 47
Impact of Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 at enactment — (129 ) —
Net income $2,523 $2,056 $3,014
________________________________________
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(at December 31, in millions) 2018 2017
Asset reconciliation:
Business Insurance $78,965 $78,082
Bond & Specialty Insurance 8,693 8,776
Personal Insurance 15,943 15,949
Total assets for reportable segments 103,601 102,807
Other assets (1) 632 676
Total consolidated assets $104,233 $103,483
___________________________________________

(1)

The primary components of other assets at December 31, 2018 were accrued over-funded benefit plan assets
related to the Company's qualified domestic pension plan and other intangible assets. The primary components of
other assets at December 31, 2017 were accrued over-funded benefit plan assets related to the Company's qualified
domestic pension plan, other intangible assets and deferred taxes.

Enterprise-Wide Disclosures
The Company does not have revenue from transactions with a single customer amounting to 10 percent or more of its
revenues.
The following table presents revenues of the Company’s operations based on location:
(for the year ended December 31, in millions) 2018 2017 2016
U.S. $28,418 $27,253 $25,904
Non-U.S.:
Canada 1,293 1,232 1,154
Other Non-U.S. 571 417 567
Total Non-U.S. 1,864 1,649 1,721
Total revenues $30,282 $28,902 $27,625
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Fixed Maturities
The amortized cost and fair value of investments in fixed maturities classified as available for sale were as follows:

Amortized Gross Unrealized Fair
(at December 31, 2018, in millions) Cost Gains Losses Value
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government and government
agencies and authorities $ 2,076 $ 4 $ 16 $2,064

Obligations of states, municipalities and political subdivisions:
Local general obligation 14,473 219 120 14,572
Revenue 9,755 172 74 9,853
State general obligation 1,329 18 13 1,334
Pre-refunded 2,772 80 — 2,852
Total obligations of states, municipalities and political subdivisions 28,329 489 207 28,611
Debt securities issued by foreign governments 1,255 7 5 1,257
Mortgage-backed securities, collateralized mortgage obligations and
pass-through securities 2,557 54 38 2,573

All other corporate bonds 29,307 156 583 28,880
Redeemable preferred stock 77 2 — 79
Total $ 63,601 $ 712 $ 849 $63,464

Amortized Gross Unrealized Fair
(at December 31, 2017, in millions) Cost Gains Losses Value
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government and government
agencies and authorities $ 2,080 $ 4 $ 8 $2,076

Obligations of states, municipalities and political subdivisions:
Local general obligation 13,488 444 26 13,906
Revenue 11,307 338 19 11,626
State general obligation 1,443 44 3 1,484
Pre-refunded 3,758 142 1 3,899
Total obligations of states, municipalities and political subdivisions 29,996 968 49 30,915
Debt securities issued by foreign governments 1,505 14 10 1,509
Mortgage-backed securities, collateralized mortgage obligations and
pass-through securities 2,334 87 11 2,410

All other corporate bonds 25,311 478 100 25,689
Redeemable preferred stock 90 5 — 95
Total $ 61,316 $ 1,556 $ 178 $62,694
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The amortized cost and fair value of fixed maturities by contractual maturity follow. Actual maturities will differ from
contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or
prepayment penalties.

(at December 31, 2018, in millions) Amortized
Cost

Fair
Value

Due in one year or less $ 4,489 $4,505
Due after 1 year through 5 years 17,020 17,021
Due after 5 years through 10 years 17,030 16,785
Due after 10 years 22,505 22,580

61,044 60,891
Mortgage-backed securities, collateralized mortgage obligations and pass-through securities 2,557 2,573
Total $ 63,601 $63,464
Pre-refunded bonds of $2.85 billion and $3.90 billion at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, were bonds for
which states or municipalities have established irrevocable trusts, almost exclusively comprised of U.S. Treasury
securities and obligations of U.S. government and government agencies and authorities. These trusts were created to
fund the payment of principal and interest due under the bonds.
The Company’s fixed maturity investment portfolio at December 31, 2018 and 2017 included $2.57 billion and $2.41
billion, respectively, of residential mortgage-backed securities, which include pass-through securities and
collateralized mortgage obligations (CMOs).  Included in the totals at December 31, 2018 and 2017 were $859 million
and $804 million, respectively, of GNMA, FNMA, FHLMC (excluding FHA project loans) and Canadian government
guaranteed residential mortgage-backed pass-through securities classified as available for sale.  Also included in those
totals were residential CMOs classified as available for sale with a fair value of $1.71 billion and $1.61 billion at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Approximately 52% and 55% of the Company’s CMO holdings at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, were guaranteed by or fully collateralized by securities issued by GNMA,
FNMA or FHLMC.  The weighted average credit rating of the $828 million and $717 million of non-guaranteed CMO
holdings at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, was “Aa1” and “A1,” respectively.  The weighted average credit
rating of all of the above securities was “Aaa/Aa1” and “Aa1” at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company held commercial mortgage-backed securities (CMBS, including FHA
project loans) of $1.22 billion and $1.17 billion, respectively, which are included in “All other corporate bonds” in the
tables above.  At December 31, 2018 and 2017, approximately $458 million and $475 million of these securities,
respectively, or the loans backing such securities, contained guarantees by the U.S. government or a
government-sponsored enterprise.  The weighted average credit rating of the $759 million and $693 million of
non-guaranteed securities at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, was “Aaa” at both dates.  The CMBS portfolio
is supported by loans that are diversified across economic sectors and geographical areas. The weighted average credit
rating of the CMBS portfolio was “Aaa” at both December 31, 2018 and 2017.
At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company had $367 million and $304 million, respectively, of securities on loan
as part of a tri-party lending agreement.
Proceeds from sales of fixed maturities classified as available for sale were $3.55 billion, $1.85 billion and $1.42
billion in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Gross gains of $51 million, $42 million and $79 million and gross losses
of $18 million, $38 million and $20 million were realized on those sales in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company’s insurance subsidiaries had $4.23 billion and $4.41 billion,
respectively, of securities on deposit at financial institutions in certain states pursuant to the respective states’ insurance
regulatory requirements.  Funds deposited with third parties to be used as collateral to secure various liabilities on
behalf of insureds, cedants and other creditors had a fair value of $37 million and $35 million at December 31, 2018
and 2017, respectively.  Other investments pledged as collateral securing outstanding letters of credit had a fair value
of $1 million at both December 31, 2018 and 2017.  In addition, the Company utilizes Lloyd’s trust deposits, whereby
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at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and $33 million held by TRV at both December 31, 2018 and 2017
were pledged into Lloyd’s trust accounts to provide a portion of the capital needed to support the Company’s
obligations at Lloyd’s.
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Equity Securities
The cost and fair value of investments in equity securities were as follows:

(at December 31, 2018, in millions) Cost Gross
Gains

Gross
Losses

Fair
Value

Public common stock $338 $ 2 $ 24 $ 316
Non-redeemable preferred stock 44 8 — 52
Total $382 $ 10 $ 24 $ 368

(at December 31, 2017, in millions) Cost Gross
Gains

Gross
Losses

Fair
Value

Public common stock $332 $ 8 $ 1 $ 339
Non-redeemable preferred stock 108 12 6 114
Total $440 $ 20 $ 7 $ 453
For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company recognized $29 million of net losses on equity securities still
held as of December 31, 2018.
Proceeds from sales of equity securities previously classified as available for sale were $765 million and $92 million
in 2017 and 2016, respectively.  Gross gains of $239 million and $17 million and gross losses of $3 million and $3
million were realized on those sales in 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Real Estate
The Company’s real estate investments include warehouses, office buildings and other commercial land and properties
that are directly owned.  The Company negotiates commercial leases with individual tenants through unrelated,
licensed real estate brokers. Negotiated terms and conditions include, among others, rental rates, length of lease period
and improvements to the premises to be provided by the landlord.
Proceeds from the sale of real estate investments were $74 million, $23 million and $69 million in 2018, 2017 and
2016, respectively.  Gross gains of $23 million, $10 million and $7 million were realized on those sales in 2018, 2017
and 2016, respectively, and there were no gross losses.  Accumulated depreciation on real estate held for investment
purposes was $383 million and $364 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Future minimum rental income on operating leases relating to the Company’s real estate properties is expected to be
$101 million, $90 million, $77 million, $62 million and $39 million for 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023,
respectively, and $75 million for 2024 and thereafter.
Short-term Securities
The Company’s short-term securities consist of Aaa-rated registered money market funds, U.S. Treasury securities,
high-quality commercial paper (primarily A1/P1) and high-quality corporate securities purchased within a year to
their maturity with a combined average of 54 days to maturity at December 31, 2018.  The amortized cost of these
securities, which totaled $3.99 billion and $4.90 billion at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, approximated
their fair value.
Variable Interest Entities
Entities which do not have sufficient equity at risk to allow the entity to finance its activities without additional
financial support or in which the equity investors, as a group, do not have the characteristic of a controlling financial
interest are referred to as variable interest entities (VIE). A VIE is consolidated by the variable interest holder that is
determined to have the controlling financial interest (primary beneficiary) as a result of having both the power to
direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance and the obligation to
absorb losses or right to receive benefits from the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE.  The Company
determines whether it is the primary beneficiary of an entity subject to
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consolidation based on a qualitative assessment of the VIE’s capital structure, contractual terms, nature of the VIE’s
operations and purpose and the Company’s relative exposure to the related risks of the VIE on the date it becomes
initially involved in the VIE. The Company reassesses its VIE determination with respect to an entity on an ongoing
basis.
The Company is a passive investor in limited partner equity interests issued by third party VIEs. These include certain
of the Company’s investments in private equity limited partnerships, hedge funds and real estate partnerships where the
Company is not related to the general partner. These investments are generally accounted for under the equity method
and reported in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as other investments unless the Company is deemed the
primary beneficiary. These equity interests generally cannot be redeemed. Distributions from these investments are
received by the Company as a result of liquidation of the underlying investments of the funds and/or as income
distribution. The Company’s maximum exposure to loss with respect to these investments is limited to the investment
carrying amounts reported in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet and any unfunded commitment. The Company
considers an investment in a VIE in which it has a 20% or greater equity interest as a significant VIE. Neither the
Company’s carrying amounts nor the unfunded commitments related to these significant VIE’s are material individually
or in the aggregate.
Unrealized Investment Losses
The following tables summarize, for all investments in an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2018 and 2017, the
aggregate fair value and gross unrealized loss by length of time those securities have been continuously in an
unrealized loss position.  The fair value amounts reported in the tables are estimates that are prepared using the
process described in note 4.  The Company also relies upon estimates of several factors in its review and evaluation of
individual investments, using the process described in note 1, in determining whether such investments are
other-than-temporarily impaired.

Less than 12 months 12 months or
longer Total

(at December 31, 2018, in millions) Fair
Value

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fixed maturities
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S.
government and government agencies and authorities $ 484 $ 5 $1,011 $ 11 $1,495 $ 16

Obligations of states, municipalities and political
subdivisions 5,241 82 3,298 125 8,539 207

Debt securities issued by foreign governments 96 — 328 5 424 5
Mortgage-backed securities, collateralized mortgage
obligations and pass-through securities 593 9 1,070 29 1,663 38

All other corporate bonds 12,622 303 6,872 280 19,494 583
Total fixed maturities $ 19,036 $ 399 $12,579 $ 450 $31,615 $ 849
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Less than 12 months 12 months or
longer Total

(at December 31, 2017, in millions) Fair
Value

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fixed maturities
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S.
government and government agencies and authorities $ 1,150 $ 5 $470 $ 3 $1,620 $ 8

Obligations of states, municipalities and political
subdivisions 505 2 2,959 47 3,464 49

Debt securities issued by foreign governments 394 6 111 4 505 10
Mortgage-backed securities, collateralized mortgage
obligations and pass-through securities 1,021 7 250 4 1,271 11

All other corporate bonds 6,062 48 1,990 52 8,052 100
Total fixed maturities 9,132 68 5,780 110 14,912 178
Equity securities
Public common stock 18 — 34 1 52 1
Non-redeemable preferred stock 3 — 56 6 59 6
Total equity securities 21 — 90 7 111 7
Total $ 9,153 $ 68 $5,870 $ 117 $15,023 $ 185
At December 31, 2018, the amount of gross unrealized losses for all fixed maturity investments reported at fair value
for which fair value was less than 80% of amortized cost was not significant.

Impairment Charges
Impairment charges included in net realized investment gains in the consolidated statement of income were as
follows:
(for the year ended December 31, in millions) 2018 2017 2016
Fixed maturities
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government and government agencies and
authorities $ — $— $—

Obligations of states, municipalities and political subdivisions — — —
Debt securities issued by foreign governments — — —
Mortgage-backed securities, collateralized mortgage obligations and pass-through securities — — —
All other corporate bonds 1 4 15
Redeemable preferred stock — — —
Total fixed maturities 1 4 15
Equity securities
Public common stock — 9 9
Non-redeemable preferred stock — — 3
Total equity securities — 9 12
Other investments — 1 2
Total $ 1 $ 14 $ 29
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The following tables present the cumulative amount of and the changes during the year in credit losses on fixed
maturities held at December 31, 2018 and 2017, that were recognized in the consolidated statement of income from
other-than-temporary impairments (OTTI) and for which a portion of the OTTI was recognized in other
comprehensive income (loss) in the consolidated balance sheet.

Year ended December 31, 2018 (in millions)

Cumulative
OTTI Credit
Losses
Recognized for
Securities
Held,
Beginning of
Period

Additions for
OTTI Securities
Where No
Credit Losses
Were
Previously
Recognized

Additions for
OTTI
Securities
Where Credit
Losses Have
Been
Previously
Recognized

Reductions
Due to
Sales/Defaults
of Credit-
Impaired
Securities

Adjustments
to Book Value
of Credit-
Impaired
Securities due
to Changes in
Cash Flows

Cumulative
OTTI Credit
Losses
Recognized for
Securities Still
Held, End of
Period

Fixed maturities
Mortgage-backed securities, collateralized mortgage
obligations and pass-through securities $ 29 $ —$ —$ (18 ) $ 4 $ 15

All other corporate bonds 46 — — (12 ) 8 42
Total fixed maturities $ 75 $ —$ —$ (30 ) $ 12 $ 57

Year ended December 31, 2017 (in millions)

Cumulative
OTTI Credit
Losses
Recognized for
Securities
Held,
Beginning of
Period

Additions for
OTTI Securities
Where No
Credit Losses
Were
Previously
Recognized

Additions for
OTTI
Securities
Where Credit
Losses Have
Been
Previously
Recognized

Reductions
Due to
Sales/Defaults
of Credit-
Impaired
Securities

Adjustments
to Book Value
of Credit-
Impaired
Securities due
to Changes in
Cash Flows

Cumulative
OTTI Credit
Losses
Recognized for
Securities Still
Held, End of
Period

Fixed maturities
Mortgage-backed securities, collateralized mortgage
obligations and pass-through securities $ 31 $ —$ — $ — $ (2 ) $ 29

All other corporate bonds 54 — 1 (7 ) (2 ) 46
Total fixed maturities $ 85 $ —$ 1 $ (7 ) $ (4 ) $ 75
Concentrations and Credit Quality
Concentrations of credit risk arise from exposure to counterparties that are engaged in similar activities and have
similar economic characteristics that could cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected
by changes in economic or other conditions.  The Company seeks to mitigate credit risk by actively monitoring the
creditworthiness of counterparties, obtaining collateral as deemed appropriate and applying controls that include credit
approvals, limits of credit exposure and other monitoring procedures.
At December 31, 2018 and 2017, other than U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government and
government agencies and authorities, the Company was not exposed to any concentration of credit risk of a single
issuer greater than 5% of the Company’s shareholders’ equity.
Included in fixed maturities are below investment grade securities totaling $1.48 billion and $1.67 billion at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The Company defines its below investment grade securities as those
securities rated below investment grade by external rating agencies, or the equivalent by the Company when a public
rating does not exist.  Such securities include below investment grade bonds that are publicly traded and certain other
privately issued bonds that are classified as below investment grade loans.

151

Edgar Filing: PUBLIX SUPER MARKETS INC - Form 4

Explanation of Responses: 96



Edgar Filing: PUBLIX SUPER MARKETS INC - Form 4

Explanation of Responses: 97



Table of Contents
THE TRAVELERS COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
3.                                      INVESTMENTS (Continued)

Net Investment Income
(for the year ended December 31, in millions) 2018 2017 2016
Gross investment income
Fixed maturities $1,980 $1,895 $1,981
Equity securities 16 28 37
Short-term securities 92 62 29
Real estate investments 48 44 51
Other investments 377 406 242
Gross investment income 2,513 2,435 2,340
Investment expenses 39 38 38
Net investment income $2,474 $2,397 $2,302
Changes in net unrealized gains on investment securities that are included as a separate component of other
comprehensive income (loss) were as follows:
(at and for the year ended December 31, in millions) 2018 2017 2016
Changes in net unrealized investment gains
Fixed maturities $(1,515) $513 $(915)
Equity securities — (215 ) 51
Other investments (1 ) 4 2
Change in net pre-tax unrealized gains on investment securities (1,516 ) 302 (862 )
Related tax expense (benefit) (319 ) 78 (303 )
Change in net unrealized gains on investment securities (1,197 ) 224 (559 )
Cumulative effect of adoption of updated accounting guidance for equity financial
instruments at January 1, 2018 (22 ) — —

Reclassification of certain tax effects from accumulated other comprehensive income at
January 1, 2018 152 — —

Balance, beginning of year 954 730 1,289
Balance, end of year $(113 ) $954 $730
The total impact of net unrealized gains on investment securities was $1.11 billion after-tax at December 31, 2017,
which included the $954 million reported in accumulated other comprehensive income shown above, as well as $158
million included in retained earnings that was part of the impact of enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017
recorded in earnings.

Derivative Financial Instruments
From time to time, the Company enters into U.S. Treasury note futures contracts to modify the effective duration of
specific assets within the investment portfolio.  U.S. Treasury futures contracts require a daily mark-to-market and
settlement with the broker.  At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company had $0 and $400 million notional value of
open U.S. Treasury futures contracts, respectively.  Net realized investment gains and losses related to U.S. Treasury
futures contracts in 2018, 2017 and 2016 were not significant.
The Company also sells a small amount of U.S. equity index put option contracts that are settled for cash upon their
expiration or when they are rolled over.  Net realized investment losses related to these derivatives in 2018, 2017 and
2016 were not significant.
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4.                                      FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The Company’s estimates of fair value for financial assets and financial liabilities are based on the framework
established in the fair value accounting guidance.  The framework is based on the inputs used in valuation, gives the
highest priority to quoted prices in active markets and requires that observable inputs be used in the valuations when
available.  The disclosure of fair value estimates in the fair value accounting guidance hierarchy is based on whether
the significant inputs into the valuation are observable.  In determining the level of the hierarchy in which the estimate
is disclosed, the highest priority is given to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets and the lowest priority to
unobservable inputs that reflect the Company’s significant market assumptions.  The level in the fair value hierarchy
within which the fair value measurement is reported is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
measurement in its entirety.  The three levels of the hierarchy are as follows:

•Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted market prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the Company has theability to access.

•

Level 2 - Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets or
liabilities in inactive markets; or valuations based on models where the significant inputs are observable (e.g., interest
rates, yield curves, prepayment speeds, default rates, loss severities, etc.) or can be corroborated by observable market
data.

•Level 3 - Valuations based on models where significant inputs are not observable.  The unobservable inputs reflect theCompany’s own assumptions about the inputs that market participants would use.
Valuation of Investments Reported at Fair Value in Financial Statements
The fair value of a financial instrument is the estimated amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in an
orderly transaction between knowledgeable, unrelated, willing parties, i.e., not in a forced transaction.  The estimated
fair value of a financial instrument may differ from the amount that could be realized if the security was sold in an
immediate sale, e.g., a forced transaction.  Additionally, the valuation of investments is more subjective when markets
are less liquid due to the lack of market based inputs, which may increase the potential that the estimated fair value of
an investment is not reflective of the price at which an actual transaction would occur.
For investments that have quoted market prices in active markets, the Company uses the unadjusted quoted market
prices as fair value and includes these prices in the amounts disclosed in Level 1 of the hierarchy.  The Company
receives the quoted market prices from third party, nationally recognized pricing services.  When quoted market prices
are unavailable, the Company utilizes these pricing services to determine an estimate of fair value.  The fair value
estimates provided from these pricing services are included in the amount disclosed in Level 2 of the hierarchy.  If
quoted market prices and an estimate from a pricing service are unavailable, the Company produces an estimate of fair
value based on internally developed valuation techniques, which, depending on the level of observable market inputs,
will render the fair value estimate as Level 2 or Level 3.  The Company bases all of its estimates of fair value for
assets on the bid price as it represents what a third-party market participant would be willing to pay in an arm’s length
transaction.
Fixed Maturities
The Company utilized a pricing service to estimate fair value measurements for approximately 99% and 98% of its
fixed maturities at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.  The pricing service utilizes market quotations for fixed
maturity securities that have quoted prices in active markets.  Since fixed maturities other than U.S. Treasury
securities generally do not trade on a daily basis, the pricing service prepares estimates of fair value measurements for
these securities using its proprietary pricing applications, which include available relevant market information,
benchmark curves, benchmarking of like securities, sector groupings and matrix pricing.  Additionally, the pricing
service uses an Option Adjusted Spread model to develop prepayment and interest rate scenarios.
The pricing service evaluates each asset class based on relevant market information, relevant credit information,
perceived market movements and sector news.  The market inputs utilized in the pricing evaluation, listed in the
approximate order of priority, include: benchmark yields, reported trades, broker/dealer quotes, issuer spreads,
two-sided markets, benchmark securities, bids, offers, reference data, and industry and economic events.  The extent
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and the market conditions.  Depending on the security, the priority of the use of inputs may change or some market
inputs may not be relevant.  For some securities, additional inputs may be necessary.
The pricing service utilized by the Company has indicated that it will only produce an estimate of fair value if there is
objectively verifiable information to produce a valuation. If the pricing service discontinues pricing an investment, the
Company would be required to produce an estimate of fair value using some of the same methodologies as the pricing
service but would have to make assumptions for any market-based inputs that were unavailable due to market
conditions. The Company reviews the estimates of fair value provided by the pricing service and compares the
estimates to the Company’s knowledge of the market to determine if the estimates obtained are representative of the
prices in the market. In addition, the Company has periodic discussions with the pricing service to discuss and
understand any changes in process and their responsiveness to changes occurring in the markets. The Company also
monitors all monthly price changes and further evaluates any securities whose value changed more than 10% from the
prior month. The Company has implemented various other processes including randomly selecting purchased or sold
securities and comparing execution prices to the estimates from the pricing service as well as reviewing securities
whose valuation did not change from their previous valuation (stale price review). The Company also uses a second 
independent pricing service to further test the primary pricing service’s valuation of the Company’s fixed maturity
portfolio. These processes have not highlighted any significant issues with the fair value estimates received from the
primary pricing service.
The fair value estimates of most fixed maturity investments are based on observable market information rather than
market quotes.  Accordingly, the estimates of fair value for such fixed maturities, other than U.S. Treasury securities,
provided by the pricing service are included in the amount disclosed in Level 2 of the hierarchy.  The estimated fair
value of U.S. Treasury securities is included in the amount disclosed in Level 1 as the estimates are based on
unadjusted market prices.
The Company also holds certain fixed maturity investments which are not priced by the pricing service and,
accordingly, estimates the fair value of such fixed maturities using an internal matrix that is based on market
information regarding interest rates, credit spreads and liquidity. The underlying source data for calculating the matrix
of credit spreads relative to the U.S. Treasury curve are observable market-based indices that relate to corporate and
high-yield fixed maturity investments. The Company includes the fair value estimates of these corporate bonds in
Level 2, since all significant inputs are market observable.

While the vast majority of the Company’s fixed maturities are included in Level 2, the Company holds a number of
municipal bonds and corporate bonds which are not valued by the pricing service and also estimates the fair value of
these bonds using another internal pricing matrix that includes some unobservable inputs that are significant to the
valuation.  Due to the limited amount of observable market information, the Company includes the fair value
estimates for these particular bonds in Level 3.  The fair value of the fixed maturities for which the Company used this
internal pricing matrix was $82 million and $127 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.  Additionally,
the Company holds a small amount of other fixed maturity investments that have characteristics that make them
unsuitable for matrix pricing.  For these fixed maturities, the Company obtains a quote from a broker (primarily the
market maker).  The fair value of the fixed maturities for which the Company received a broker quote was $104
million and $77 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.  Due to the disclaimers on the quotes that
indicate that the price is indicative only, the Company includes these fair value estimates in Level 3.
Equity Securities — Public Common Stock and Non-Redeemable Preferred Stock
For public common stock and non-redeemable preferred stocks, the Company receives prices from pricing services
that are based on observable market transactions and includes these estimates in the amount disclosed in Level 1. 
When current market quotes in active markets are unavailable for certain non-redeemable preferred stocks held by the
Company, the Company receives an estimate of fair value from the pricing services.  The services utilize similar
methodologies to price the non-redeemable preferred stocks as they do for the fixed maturities. The Company includes
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the fair value estimate for these non-redeemable preferred stocks in the amount disclosed in Level 2.
Other Investments
The Company holds investments in various publicly-traded securities which are reported in other investments.  These
investments include mutual funds and other small holdings.  The $16 million and $19 million fair value of these
investments at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, was disclosed in Level 1.  At December 31, 2018 and 2017,
the Company held investments in non-public common and preferred equity securities, with fair value estimates of $36
million and $38 million, respectively, reported in other investments, where the fair value estimate is determined either
internally or by an external fund manager based on recent
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filings, operating results, balance sheet stability, growth and other business and market sector fundamentals.  Due to
the significant unobservable inputs in these valuations, the Company includes the total fair value estimate for all of
these investments at December 31, 2018 and 2017 in the amount disclosed in Level 3.
Other Liabilities
The Company has a put/call option that was entered into in connection with a business acquisition that allows the
Company to acquire the remaining shares of the acquired company at a future date. The fair value of the put/call at
December 31, 2018 was $10 million and was determined using an internal model and is based on the acquired
company's financial performance, adjusted for a risk margin and discounted to present value. The Company includes
the fair value estimate of the put/call in Level 3.
Fair Value Hierarchy
The following tables present the level within the fair value hierarchy at which the Company’s financial assets and
financial liabilities are measured on a recurring basis.  An investment transferred between levels during a period is
transferred at its fair value as of the beginning of that period.
(at December 31, 2018, in millions) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Invested assets:
Fixed maturities
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government and government
agencies and authorities $2,064 $2,064 $— $ —

Obligations of states, municipalities and political subdivisions 28,611 — 28,599 12
Debt securities issued by foreign governments 1,257 — 1,257 —
Mortgage-backed securities, collateralized mortgage obligations and pass-through
securities 2,573 — 2,554 19

All other corporate bonds 28,880 — 28,725 155
Redeemable preferred stock 79 3 76 —
Total fixed maturities 63,464 2,067 61,211 186
Equity securities
Public common stock 316 316 — —
Non-redeemable preferred stock 52 30 22 —
Total equity securities 368 346 22 —
Other investments 52 16 — 36
Total $63,884 $2,429 $61,233 $ 222

Other liabilities $10 $— $— $ 10
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(at December 31, 2017, in millions) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Invested assets:
Fixed maturities
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government and government
agencies and authorities $2,076 $2,076 $— $ —

Obligations of states, municipalities and political subdivisions 30,915 — 30,910 5
Debt securities issued by foreign governments 1,509 — 1,509 —
Mortgage-backed securities, collateralized mortgage obligations and pass-through
securities 2,410 — 2,371 39

All other corporate bonds 25,689 11 25,518 160
Redeemable preferred stock 95 3 92 —
Total fixed maturities 62,694 2,090 60,400 204
Equity securities
Public common stock 339 339 — —
Non-redeemable preferred stock 114 45 69 —
Total equity securities 453 384 69 —
Other investments 57 19 — 38
Total $63,204 $2,493 $60,469 $ 242
During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company’s transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 were not
significant.
The following tables present the changes in the Level 3 fair value category for the years ended December 31, 2018
and 2017.

(in millions) Fixed
Maturities

Other
InvestmentsTotal

Balance at December 31, 2017 $ 204 $ 38 $242
Total realized and unrealized investment gains (losses):
Reported in net realized investment gains (1) 2 7 9
Reported in increases in other comprehensive income (loss) (4 ) — (4 )
Purchases, sales and settlements/maturities:
Purchases 146 3 149
Sales (11 ) (12 ) (23 )
Settlements/maturities (71 ) — (71 )
Gross transfers into Level 3 11 — 11
Gross transfers out of Level 3 (91 ) — (91 )
Balance at December 31, 2018 $ 186 $ 36 $222
Amount of total realized investment gains (losses) for the period included in the
consolidated statement of income attributable to changes in the fair value of assets still
held at the reporting date

$ — $ — $—

___________________________________________
(1)Includes impairments on investments held at the end of the period as well as amortization on fixed maturities.
The Company also includes in Level 3 the put/call option entered into in connection with a business combination that
is reported in other liabilities and had a fair value of $10 million at December 31, 2018.
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(in millions) Fixed
Maturities

Other
InvestmentsTotal

Balance at December 31, 2016 $ 184 $ 36 $220
Total realized and unrealized investment gains (losses):
Reported in net realized investment gains (1) — (1 ) (1 )
Reported in increases in other comprehensive income (loss) 1 3 4
Purchases, sales and settlements/maturities:
Purchases 312 — 312
Sales (2 ) — (2 )
Settlements/maturities (47 ) — (47 )
Gross transfers into Level 3 21 — 21
Gross transfers out of Level 3 (265 ) — (265 )
Balance at December 31, 2017 $ 204 $ 38 $242
Amount of total realized investment gains (losses) for the period included in the
consolidated statement of income attributable to changes in the fair value of assets still
held at the reporting date

$ — $ (1 ) $(1 )

___________________________________________
(1)Includes impairments on investments held at the end of the period as well as amortization on fixed maturities.
Financial Instruments Disclosed, But Not Carried, At Fair Value
The following tables present the carrying value and fair value of the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities
disclosed, but not carried, at fair value, and the level within the fair value hierarchy at which such assets and liabilities
are categorized.

(at December 31, 2018, in millions) Carrying
Value

Fair
Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets:
Short-term securities $ 3,985 $3,985 $ 632 $3,316 $ 37
Financial liabilities:
Debt $ 6,464 $7,128 $ — $7,128 $ —
Commercial paper 100 100 — 100 —

(at December 31, 2017, in millions) Carrying
Value

Fair
Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets:
Short-term securities $ 4,895 $4,895 $1,238 $3,622 $ 35
Financial liabilities:
Debt $ 6,471 $7,702 $— $7,702 $ —
Commercial paper 100 100 — 100 —
The Company had no material assets or liabilities that were measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis during the
years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.
5.                                      REINSURANCE
The Company’s consolidated financial statements reflect the effects of assumed and ceded reinsurance transactions.
Assumed reinsurance refers to the acceptance of certain insurance risks that other insurance companies have
underwritten. Ceded reinsurance involves transferring certain insurance risks (along with the related written and
earned premiums) the Company has underwritten
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to other insurance companies who agree to share these risks. The primary purpose of ceded reinsurance is to protect
the Company, at a cost, from losses in excess of the amount it is prepared to accept and to protect the Company’s
capital. Reinsurance is placed on both a quota-share and excess-of-loss basis.  Ceded reinsurance arrangements do not
discharge the Company as the primary insurer, except for instances where the primary policy or policies have been
novated, such as in certain structured settlement agreements.
The Company utilizes a corporate catastrophe excess-of-loss reinsurance treaty with unaffiliated reinsurers to manage
its exposure to losses resulting from catastrophes and to protect its capital.  In addition to the coverage provided under
this treaty, the Company also utilizes catastrophe bonds to protect against certain weather-related and earthquake
losses in the Northeastern United States, and a Northeast catastrophe reinsurance treaty to protect against losses
resulting from weather-related and earthquake catastrophes in the Northeastern United States.  The Company also
utilizes excess-of-loss treaties to protect against earthquake losses up to a certain threshold in Business Insurance (for
certain markets) and for Personal Insurance, and several reinsurance treaties specific to its international operations.
The Company monitors the financial condition of its reinsurers under voluntary reinsurance arrangements to evaluate
the collectability of amounts due from reinsurers and as a basis for determining the reinsurers with which the
Company conducts ongoing business.  In addition, in the ordinary course of business, the Company may become
involved in coverage disputes with its reinsurers.  Some of these disputes could result in lawsuits and arbitrations
brought by or against the reinsurers to determine the Company’s rights and obligations under the various reinsurance
agreements. The Company employs dedicated specialists and strategies to manage reinsurance collections and
disputes.
Included in reinsurance recoverables are amounts related to involuntary reinsurance arrangements.  The Company is
required to participate in various involuntary reinsurance arrangements through assumed reinsurance, principally with
regard to residual market mechanisms in workers’ compensation and automobile insurance, as well as homeowners’
insurance in certain coastal areas. In addition, the Company provides services for several of these involuntary
arrangements (mandatory pools and associations) under which it writes such residual market business directly, then
cedes 100% of this business to the mandatory pool.  Such participations and servicing arrangements are arranged to
mitigate credit risk to the Company, as any ceded balances are jointly backed by all the pool members.
Also included in reinsurance recoverables are amounts related to certain structured settlements.  Structured settlements
are annuities purchased from various life insurance companies to settle certain personal physical injury claims, of
which workers’ compensation claims comprise a significant portion.  In cases where the Company did not receive a
release from the claimant, the structured settlement is included in reinsurance recoverables and the related claim cost
is included in the liability for claims and claim adjustment expense reserves, as the Company retains the contingent
liability to the claimant.  If it is expected that the life insurance company is not able to pay, the Company would
recognize an impairment of the related reinsurance recoverable if, and to the extent, the purchased annuities are not
covered by state guaranty associations.  In the event that the life insurance company fails to make the required annuity
payments, the Company would be required to make such payments.
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The following is a summary of reinsurance financial data reflected in the consolidated statement of income:
(for the year ended December 31, in millions) 2018 2017 2016
Written premiums
Direct $28,210 $26,648 $25,567
Assumed 1,042 1,000 928
Ceded (1,544 ) (1,429 ) (1,537 )
Total net written premiums $27,708 $26,219 $24,958
Earned premiums
Direct $27,536 $26,189 $25,262
Assumed 1,024 965 875
Ceded (1,501 ) (1,471 ) (1,603 )
Total net earned premiums $27,059 $25,683 $24,534
Percentage of assumed earned premiums to net earned premiums 3.8 % 3.8 % 3.6 %
Ceded claims and claim adjustment expenses incurred $1,293 $1,225 $762
Ceded premiums include the premiums paid for coverage provided by the Company’s catastrophe bonds.
Reinsurance recoverables include amounts recoverable on both paid and unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses
and were as follows:
(at December 31, in millions) 2018 2017
Gross reinsurance recoverables on paid and unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses $3,485 $3,303
Allowance for uncollectible reinsurance (110 ) (111 )
Net reinsurance recoverables 3,375 3,192
Mandatory pools and associations 2,005 2,011
Structured settlements 2,990 3,106
Total reinsurance recoverables $8,370 $8,309
Terrorism Risk Insurance Program
The Terrorism Risk Insurance Program is a Federal program administered by the Department of the Treasury
authorized through December 31, 2020 that provides for a system of shared public and private compensation for
certain insured losses resulting from certified acts of terrorism.
In order for a loss to be covered under the program (subject losses), the loss must meet certain aggregate industry loss
minimums and must be the result of an event that is certified as an act of terrorism by the U.S. Secretary of the
Treasury, in consultation with the Secretary of Homeland Security and the Attorney General of the United States.  The
annual aggregate industry loss minimum under the program is $180 million for 2019 and will increase to $200 million
for 2020.  The program excludes from participation the following types of insurance: Federal crop insurance, private
mortgage insurance, financial guaranty insurance, medical malpractice insurance, health or life insurance, flood
insurance, reinsurance, commercial automobile, professional liability (other than directors' and officers’), surety,
burglary and theft, and farm-owners multi-peril.  In the case of a war declared by Congress, only workers’
compensation losses are covered by the program. All commercial property and casualty insurers licensed in the United
States are generally required to participate in the program. Under the program, a participating insurer, in exchange for
making terrorism insurance available, is entitled to be reimbursed by the Federal Government for 81% of subject
losses in 2019, after an insurer deductible, subject to an annual cap.  This reimbursement percentage will decrease to
80% of subject losses in 2020.
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The deductible for any calendar year is equal to 20% of the insurer’s direct earned premiums for covered lines for the
preceding calendar year.  The Company’s estimated deductible under the program is $2.52 billion for 2019.  The
annual cap limits the amount of aggregate subject losses for all participating insurers to $100 billion.  Once subject
losses have reached the $100 billion aggregate during a program year, participating insurers will not be liable under
the program for additional covered terrorism losses for that program year.  There have been no terrorism-related losses
that have triggered program coverage since the program was established.  Since the law is untested, there is substantial
uncertainty as to how it will be applied if an act of terrorism is certified under the program.  It is also possible that
future legislative action could change or eliminate the program.  Further, given the unpredictable frequency and
severity of terrorism losses, as well as the limited terrorism coverage in the Company’s own reinsurance program,
future losses from acts of terrorism, particularly involving nuclear, biological, chemical or radiological events, could
be material to the Company’s operating results, financial position and/or liquidity in future periods. In addition, the
Company may not have sufficient resources to respond to claims arising from a high frequency of high severity
natural catastrophes and/or of man-made catastrophic events involving conventional means.  While the Company
seeks to manage its exposure to man-made catastrophic events involving conventional means, the Company may not
have sufficient resources to respond to claims arising out of one or more man-made catastrophic events involving
nuclear, biological, chemical or radiological means.
6.                                      GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill
The following table presents the carrying amount of the Company’s goodwill by segment.  Each reportable segment
includes goodwill associated with the Company’s international business which is subject to the impact of changes in
foreign currency exchange rates.
(at December 31, in millions) 2018 2017
Business Insurance (1) $2,585 $2,585
Bond & Specialty Insurance 550 550
Personal Insurance 776 790
Other 26 26
Total $3,937 $3,951
___________________________________________
(1) Goodwill at December 31, 2018 included $26 million associated with a business acquisition in 2018, none of
which will be deductible for tax purposes.
Other Intangible Assets
The following tables present a summary of the Company’s other intangible assets by major asset class:

(at December 31, 2018, in millions)
Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization Net

Subject to amortization
Customer-related $ 98 $ 12 $86
Contract-based (1) 208 175 33
Total subject to amortization 306 187 119
Not subject to amortization 226 — 226
Total $ 532 $ 187 $345
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(at December 31, 2017, in millions)
Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization Net

Subject to amortization
Customer-related $ 77 $ 4 $73
Contract-based (1) 209 167 42
Total subject to amortization 286 171 115
Not subject to amortization 227 — 227
Total $ 513 $ 171 $342
___________________________________________

(1)

Contract-based intangible assets subject to amortization are comprised of fair value adjustments on claims and
claim adjustment expense reserves, reinsurance recoverables and other contract-related intangible assets.  Fair
value adjustments recorded in connection with insurance acquisitions were based on management’s estimate of
nominal claims and claim adjustment expense reserves and reinsurance recoverables.  The method used calculated
a risk adjustment to a risk-free discounted reserve that would, if reserves ran off as expected, produce results that
yielded the assumed cost-of-capital on the capital supporting the loss reserves.  The fair value adjustments are
reported as other intangible assets on the consolidated balance sheet, and the amounts measured in accordance with
the acquirer’s accounting policies for insurance contracts have been reported as part of the claims and claim
adjustment expense reserves and reinsurance recoverables.  The intangible assets are being recognized into income
over the expected payment pattern.  Because the time value of money and the risk adjustment (cost of capital)
components of the intangible assets run off at different rates, the amount recognized in income may be a net benefit
in some periods and a net expense in other periods.

Amortization expense of intangible assets was $17 million, $13 million and $11 million for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  Amortization expense for all intangible assets subject to
amortization is estimated to be $16 million in 2019, $15 million in 2020, $14 million in 2021, $13 million in 2022 and
$12 million in 2023. Amortization expense for intangible assets arising from insurance contracts acquired in a
business combination is estimated to be $6 million in 2019, $5 million in 2020, $4 million in 2021, $3 million in 2022
and $3 million in 2023.
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Claims and claim adjustment expense reserves were as follows:
(at December 31, in millions) 2018 2017
Property-casualty $50,653 $49,633
Accident and health 15 17
Total $50,668 $49,650
The following table presents a reconciliation of beginning and ending property casualty reserve balances for claims
and claim adjustment expenses:
(at and for the year ended December 31, in millions) 2018 2017 2016
Claims and claim adjustment expense reserves at beginning of year $49,633 $47,929 $48,272
Less reinsurance recoverables on unpaid losses 8,123 7,981 8,449
Net reserves at beginning of year 41,510 39,948 39,823
Estimated claims and claim adjustment expenses for claims arising in the current year 18,614 17,846 15,675
Estimated decrease in claims and claim adjustment expenses for claims arising in prior
years (406 ) (458 ) (680 )

Total increases 18,208 17,388 14,995
Claims and claim adjustment expense payments for claims arising in:
Current year 7,697 7,335 6,220
Prior years 9,363 8,708 8,576
Total payments 17,060 16,043 14,796
Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain) (187 ) 217 (74 )
Net reserves at end of year 42,471 41,510 39,948
Plus reinsurance recoverables on unpaid losses 8,182 8,123 7,981
Claims and claim adjustment expense reserves at end of year $50,653 $49,633 $47,929

Gross claims and claim adjustment expense reserves at December 31, 2018 increased by $1.02 billion over
December 31, 2017, primarily reflecting the impacts of (i) higher volumes of insured exposures and loss cost trends
for the current accident year and (ii) catastrophe losses in 2018, partially offset by the impacts of (iii) payments related
to catastrophe losses incurred in 2017 and (iv) net favorable prior year reserve development. Gross claims and claim
adjustment expense reserves at December 31, 2017 increased by $1.70 billion over December 31, 2016, primarily
reflecting the impacts of (i) catastrophe losses in the second half of 2017 and (ii) higher volumes of insured exposures
and loss cost trends for the current accident year, partially offset by the impacts of (iii) payments related to operations
in runoff and (iv) net favorable prior year reserve development.
Reinsurance recoverables on unpaid losses at December 31, 2018 increased by $59 million over December 31, 2017,
primarily reflecting the 2018 impacts of catastrophe losses and the asbestos reserve increase, partially offset by cash
collections. Reinsurance recoverables on unpaid losses at December 31, 2017 increased by $142 million from
December 31, 2016, primarily reflecting the impacts of catastrophe losses and the asbestos reserve increase in the
second half of 2017, partially offset by cash collections in 2017, including the settlement of certain disputes as
discussed in more detail in note 16. 
Included in the claims and claim adjustment expense reserves are reserves for long-term disability and annuity claim
payments, primarily arising from workers’ compensation insurance and workers’ compensation excess insurance
policies, that are discounted to the present value of the estimated future payments.  The discount rate used was 5% at
both December 31, 2018 and 2017.  Total reserves net of the discount were $2.45 billion and $2.32 billion, and the
related amount of discount was $1.16 billion and $1.10
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billion, at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.  Accretion of the discount is reported as part of “claims and
claim adjustment expenses” in the consolidated statement of income and was $49 million, $50 million and $50 million
in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Prior Year Reserve Development
The following disclosures regarding reserve development are on a “net of reinsurance” basis.
2018
In 2018, estimated claims and claim adjustment expenses incurred included $406 million of net favorable
development for claims arising in prior years, including $517 million of net favorable prior year reserve development
and $49 million of accretion of discount that impacted the Company's results of operations.
Business Insurance.  Net favorable prior year reserve development in 2018 totaled $142 million, primarily driven by
better than expected loss experience in the segment’s domestic operations in (i) the workers’ compensation product line
for multiple accident years and (ii) the commercial property product line for recent accident years, partially offset by
higher than expected loss experience in the segment's domestic operations in (iii) the general liability product line for
both primary and excess coverages for multiple accident years, including a $225 million increase to asbestos reserves
and a $55 million increase to environmental reserves and (iv) the commercial automobile product line for recent
accident years.
Bond & Specialty Insurance.  Net favorable prior year reserve development in 2018 totaled $266 million, primarily
driven by better than expected loss experience in the segment’s domestic operations in the general liability product line
for management liability coverages for multiple accident years.
Personal Insurance.  Net favorable prior year reserve development in 2018 totaled $109 million, primarily driven by
better than expected loss experience in the segment's domestic operations in the automobile product line for recent
accident years.
2017
In 2017, estimated claims and claim adjustment expenses incurred included $458 million of net favorable
development for claims arising in prior years, including $592 million of net favorable prior year reserve development
and $50 million of accretion of discount that impacted the Company's results of operations.
Business Insurance. Net favorable prior year reserve development in 2017 totaled $439 million, primarily driven by
better than expected loss experience in the segment's domestic operations in (i) the workers’ compensation product line
for multiple accident years, (ii) the general liability product line (excluding an increase to asbestos and environmental
reserves) for both primary and excess coverages for multiple accident years and (iii) the commercial multi-peril
product line for liability coverages for multiple accident years, partially offset by (iv) a $225 million increase to
asbestos reserves, (v) the impact of higher than expected loss experience in the commercial automobile product line
for recent accident years and (vi) a $65 million increase to environmental reserves. The net favorable prior year
reserve development in the segment’s domestic operations was partially offset by net unfavorable prior year reserve
development in the segment’s international operations in Europe primarily due to the U.K. Ministry of Justice’s “Ogden”
discount rate adjustment applied to lump sum bodily injury payouts.
Bond & Specialty Insurance.  Net favorable prior year reserve development in 2017 totaled $140 million, primarily
driven by better than expected loss experience in the segment’s domestic operations in the general liability product line
for management liability coverages for multiple accident years.
Personal Insurance.  Net favorable prior year reserve development in 2017 was not significant and totaled $13 million.
2016
In 2016, estimated claims and claim adjustment expenses incurred included $680 million of net favorable
development for claims arising in prior years, including $771 million of net favorable prior year reserve development
and $50 million of accretion of discount that impacted the Company's results of operations.
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Business Insurance.  Net favorable prior year reserve development in 2016 totaled $424 million, primarily driven by
better than expected loss experience in the Company’s domestic operations in (i) the workers’ compensation product
line for multiple accident years and (ii) the general liability product line (excluding an increase to asbestos and
environmental reserves), related to both primary and excess coverages for multiple accident years, partially offset by
(iii) a $225 million increase to asbestos reserves and (iv) a $82 million increase to environmental reserves, as well as
net favorable prior year reserve development in the segment's international operations in Europe.
Bond & Specialty Insurance.  Net favorable prior year reserve development in 2016 totaled $350 million, primarily
driven by better than expected loss experience in the Company’s domestic operations in (i) the fidelity and surety
product line for multiple accident years and (ii) the general liability product line for management liability coverages
for multiple accident years.
Personal Insurance. Net unfavorable prior year reserve development in 2016 was not significant and totaled $3
million.
Claims Development
The following is a summary of claims and claim adjustment expense reserves, including certain components, for the
Company’s major product lines by reporting segment at December 31, 2018.

(at December 31, 2018, in mllions)

Net Undiscounted
Claims and Claim
Adjustment Expense
Reserves

Discount
(Net of
Reinsurance)

Subtotal:
Net Claims and
Claim
Adjustment
Expense Reserves

Reinsurance
Recoverables on
Unpaid Losses
(4)

Claims and Claim
Adjustment
Expense
Reserves

Business Insurance
General liability $ 7,159 $ (174 ) $ 6,985 $ 854 $ 7,839
Commercial property 973 — 973 429 1,402
Commercial multi-peril 3,535 — 3,535 181 3,716
Commercial automobile 2,861 — 2,861 226 3,087
Workers’ compensation (1) 16,039 (909 ) 15,130 698 15,828
Bond & Specialty Insurance
General liability 1,833 — 1,833 152 1,985
Fidelity and surety 419 — 419 7 426
Personal Insurance
Automobile 2,776 — 2,776 480 3,256
Homeowners (excluding Other) 1,376 — 1,376 3 1,379
International - Canada 710 — 710 26 736
Subtotal — claims and allocated claim
adjustment expenses for the products
presented in the development tables below

37,681 (1,083 ) 36,598 3,056 39,654

Other insurance contracts (2) 3,762 (5 ) 3,757 2,116 5,873
Unallocated loss adjustment expense reserves 2,053 — 2,053 37 2,090
Structured settlements (3) — — — 2,990 2,990
Other 63 — 63 (17 ) 46
Total property-casualty 43,559 (1,088 ) 42,471 8,182 50,653
Accident and health — — — 15 15
Total $ 43,559 $ (1,088 ) $ 42,471 $ 8,197 $ 50,668

164

Edgar Filing: PUBLIX SUPER MARKETS INC - Form 4

Explanation of Responses: 113



Table of Contents
THE TRAVELERS COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7.                                      INSURANCE CLAIM RESERVES (Continued)

___________________________________________

(1)Net discount amount includes discount of $70 million on reinsurance recoverables for long-term disability andannuity claim payments.

(2)Primarily includes residual market, international (other than operations in Canada within the Personal Insurancesegment) and runoff assumed reinsurance business.
(3)Includes structured settlements in cases where the Company did not receive a release from the claimant.
(4)Total reinsurance recoverables (on paid and unpaid losses) at December 31, 2018 were $8.37 billion.
The claim development tables that follow present, by accident year, incurred and cumulative paid claims and allocated
claim adjustment expense on a historical basis.  This claim development information is presented on an undiscounted,
net of reinsurance basis for ten years, or the number of years for which claims incurred typically remain outstanding if
less than ten years. The claim development tables also provide the historical average annual percentage payout of
incurred claims by age, net of reinsurance, as supplementary information (identified as unaudited in the tables below).
For Personal Insurance - International - Canada, the claim development information reflects the acquisition of The
Dominion of Canada General Insurance Company (Dominion) in November 2013 on a retrospective basis (includes
Dominion data for years prior to the Company’s acquisition of Dominion).
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Business Insurance
General Liability

(dollars in millions)
For the Years Ended December 31,
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Incurred Claims and Allocated Claim Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance
Unaudited

Accident Year

IBNR
Reserves
Dec 31,
2018

Cumulative
Number of
Reported
Claims

2009 $ 1,060 $ 1,071 $ 1,028 $ 960 $ 869 $ 837 $ 809 $ 796 $ 783 $ 775 $ 56 25,702
2010 1,028 1,031 1,021 959 927 912 918 908 911 79 27,911
2011 1,004 1,074 1,065 998 972 935 913 908 80 27,444
2012 989 985 935 913 892 905 917 98 24,801
2013 965 975 958 940 927 933 101 22,446
2014 976 989 983 948 956 177 22,108
2015 998 956 923 967 222 21,033
2016 1,075 1,058 1,087 439 19,190
2017 1,133 1,143 717 16,464
2018 1,253 1,080 13,107

Total $ 9,850
Cumulative Paid Claims and Allocated Claim Adjustment
Expenses, Net of Reinsurance

Accident Year Unaudited
2009 $35 $167 $314 $446 $543 $613 $643 $667 $689 $701
2010 35 139 324 487 629 702 756 781 800
2011 47 187 355 539 660 725 762 799

2012 32 150 295 489 589 699 754 Liability for
Claims

2013 35 175 363 498 639 745 And Allocated
Claim

2014 37 163 321 515 640 Adjustment
Expenses,

2015 36 137 336 558 Net of
Reinsurance

2016 35 191 421
2017 40 180 2009 - Before
2018 42 2018 2009

Total $5,640 $4,210 $2,949
Total net
liability $7,159

Average Annual Percentage Payout of Incurred Claims by Age, Net of Reinsurance
Unaudited

Years 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
3.8 % 13.6 % 19.0 % 19.1 % 13.4 % 9.5 % 5.0 % 3.2 % 2.5 % 1.5 %
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Commercial Property
(dollars in millions)
For the Years Ended December 31,
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Incurred Claims and Allocated Claims Adjustment
Expenses, Net of Reinsurance
Unaudited

Accident Year

IBNR
Reserves
December 31,
2018

Cumulative
Number of
Reported
Claims

2014 $ 936 $ 860 $ 836 $ 835 $ 834 $ 6 21,568
2015 786 750 741 731 6 20,143
2016 896 863 820 22 22,267
2017 1,209 1,177 30 24,855
2018 1,093 73 21,547

Total $ 4,655
Cumulative Paid Claims and Allocated Claim
Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance
Unaudited

Liability for Claims

Accident Year And Allocated
Claim

2014 $ 464 $ 710 $ 775 $ 803 $ 817 Adjustment
Expenses,

2015 376 615 681 699 Net of Reinsurance
2016 441 685 745
2017 618 1,003 2014 - Before
2018 561 2018 2014

Total $ 3,825 $ 830 $ 143
Total net liability $ 973

Average Annual Percentage Payout of Incurred
Claims by Age, Net of Reinsurance
Unaudited

Years 1 2 3 4 5
52.9 % 31.2 % 8.0 % 2.9 % 1.7 %
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Commercial Multi-Peril
(dollars in millions)
For the Years Ended December 31,
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Incurred Claims and Allocated Claim Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance
Unaudited

Accident
Year

IBNR
Reserves
December 31,
2018

Cumulative
Number
of
Reported
Claims

2009 $1,484 $1,506 $1,501 $1,498 $1,511 $1,514 $1,514 $1,509 $1,500 $1,493 $ 21 103,448
2010 1,711 1,826 1,832 1,861 1,895 1,892 1,898 1,885 1,881 32 111,931
2011 2,235 2,244 2,269 2,286 2,296 2,287 2,283 2,279 38 125,743
2012 1,885 1,883 1,903 1,888 1,888 1,867 1,859 42 104,800
2013 1,615 1,623 1,620 1,609 1,591 1,600 51 83,667
2014 1,663 1,627 1,625 1,617 1,626 72 78,097
2015 1,568 1,625 1,593 1,597 110 71,242
2016 1,662 1,623 1,598 204 68,024
2017 1,872 1,928 357 69,218
2018 1,976 605 58,784

Total $17,837
Cumulative Paid Claims and Allocated Claim Adjustment Expenses, Net of
Reinsurance

Accident Year Unaudited
2009 $603 $958 $1,121 $1,264 $1,360 $1,408 $1,436 $1,449 $1,457 $1,466
2010 709 1,180 1,395 1,579 1,698 1,763 1,798 1,819 1,834
2011 1,060 1,573 1,803 1,979 2,088 2,156 2,193 2,222

2012 795 1,246 1,424 1,590 1,699 1,752 1,780 Liability for
Claims

2013 644 987 1,167 1,304 1,410 1,475 And Allocated
Claim

2014 628 956 1,154 1,328 1,448 Adjustment
Expenses,

2015 595 970 1,144 1,310 Net of
Reinsurance

2016 585 950 1,133
2017 716 1,199 2009 - Before
2018 792 2018 2009

Total $14,659 $3,178 $357
Total net
liability $3,535

Average Annual Percentage Payout of Incurred Claims by Age, Net of Reinsurance
Unaudited

Years 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
39.7 % 23.2 % 11.0 % 9.4 % 6.2 % 3.3 % 1.7 % 1.1 % 0.7 % 0.6 %
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Commercial Automobile
(dollars in millions)
For the Years Ended December 31,
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Incurred Claims and Allocated Claims Adjustment
Expenses, Net of Reinsurance
Unaudited

Accident Year

IBNR
Reserves
December 31,
2018

Cumulative
Number of
Reported
Claims

2014 $ 1,156 $ 1,153 $ 1,155 $ 1,171 $ 1,193 $ 36 177,493
2015 1,188 1,202 1,234 1,283 83 173,333
2016 1,278 1,303 1,371 191 182,647
2017 1,386 1,501 401 190,126
2018 1,645 736 185,419

Total $ 6,993
Cumulative Paid Claims and Allocated Claim
Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance
Unaudited

Liability for Claims

Accident Year And Allocated
Claim

2014 $ 394 $ 611 $ 812 $ 977 $ 1,089 Adjustment
Expenses,

2015 405 650 885 1,058 Net of Reinsurance
2016 412 688 931
2017 456 746 2014 - Before
2018 515 2018 2014

Total $ 4,339 $ 2,654 $ 207
Total net liability $ 2,861

Average Annual Percentage Payout of Incurred
Claims by Age, Net of Reinsurance
Unaudited

Years 1 2 3 4 5
31.3 % 19.2 % 17.6 % 13.7 % 9.3 %
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Workers’ Compensation
(dollars in millions)
For the Years Ended December 31,
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Incurred Claims and Allocated Claim Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance
Unaudited

Accident
Year

IBNR
Reserves
December 31,
2018

Cumulative
Number
of
Reported
Claims

2009 $1,799 $1,778 $1,746 $1,753 $1,753 $1,766 $1,775 $1,750 $1,736 $1,728 $ 221 104,789
2010 1,886 2,042 2,035 2,056 2,049 2,052 2,055 2,021 2,003 271 117,368
2011 2,284 2,303 2,347 2,350 2,379 2,385 2,363 2,348 356 136,728
2012 2,447 2,456 2,457 2,456 2,445 2,453 2,416 404 137,922
2013 2,553 2,545 2,540 2,506 2,463 2,423 473 132,424
2014 2,554 2,553 2,547 2,476 2,430 563 124,507
2015 2,644 2,585 2,505 2,441 751 122,388
2016 2,768 2,690 2,569 863 122,493
2017 2,779 2,681 1,179 119,890
2018 2,744 1,738 109,002

Total $23,783
Cumulative Paid Claims and Allocated Claim Adjustment Expenses, Net
of Reinsurance

Accident Year Unaudited
2009 $288 $623 $828 $961 $1,065 $1,137 $1,193 $1,235 $1,274 $1,303
2010 341 750 978 1,133 1,246 1,321 1,385 1,430 1,465
2011 420 911 1,185 1,365 1,487 1,583 1,652 1,696

2012 443 940 1,217 1,394 1,536 1,629 1,689 Liability for
Claims

2013 458 954 1,237 1,413 1,525 1,604 And Allocated
Claim

2014 455 944 1,224 1,399 1,505 Adjustment
Expenses,

2015 430 893 1,154 1,310 Net of
Reinsurance

2016 421 873 1,118
2017 433 890 2009 - Before
2018 440 2018 2009

Total $13,020 $10,763 $5,276
Total net liability $16,039

Average Annual Percentage Payout of Incurred Claims by Age, Net of Reinsurance
Unaudited

Years 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
17.4 % 19.5 % 11.2 % 7.3 % 5.3 % 3.8 % 3.0 % 2.2 % 2.0 % 1.7 %
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Bond & Specialty Insurance
General Liability

(dollars in millions)
For the Years Ended December 31,
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Incurred Claims and Allocated Claim Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance
Unaudited

Accident
Year

IBNR
Reserves
December 31,
2018

Cumulative
Number
of
Reported
Claims

2009 $ 592 $ 624 $ 665 $ 686 $ 680 $ 660 $ 655 $ 641 $ 631 $ 626 $ 11 6,297
2010 571 612 679 679 661 668 653 653 657 18 5,673
2011 565 596 639 632 601 545 520 508 (12 ) 5,212
2012 538 591 614 605 601 599 605 97 4,853
2013 510 565 606 630 654 607 103 4,442
2014 549 571 563 518 473 67 4,335
2015 528 524 486 437 92 4,155
2016 512 511 504 153 4,235
2017 534 517 266 4,128
2018 530 406 2,894

Total $ 5,464
Cumulative Paid Claims and Allocated Claim Adjustment
Expenses, Net of Reinsurance

Accident Year Unaudited
2009 $36 $167 $310 $390 $460 $497 $563 $592 $595 $597
2010 33 152 291 396 482 565 597 623 631
2011 33 143 249 324 414 447 476 490

2012 38 160 255 342 383 419 436 Liability for
Claims

2013 34 154 252 352 400 434 And Allocated
Claim

2014 38 150 239 312 367 Adjustment
Expenses,

2015 38 141 234 310 Net of
Reinsurance

2016 30 141 233
2017 38 155 2009 - Before
2018 49 2018 2009

Total $3,702 $1,762 $71
Total net
liability $1,833

Average Annual Percentage Payout of Incurred Claims by Age, Net of Reinsurance
Unaudited

Years 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
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6.8 % 21.4 % 19.4 % 15.3 % 11.4 % 7.3 % 6.0 % 3.7 % 0.9 % 0.2 %
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Fidelity and Surety
(dollars in millions)
For the Years Ended December 31,
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 IBNR

Reserves
December 31,
2018

Cumulative
Incurred Claims and Allocated Claims Adjustment Number of
Expenses, Net of Reinsurance Reported

Accident Year Unaudited Claims
2014 $ 223 $ 212 $ 165 $ 136 $ 130 $ (4 ) 1,069
2015 217 191 179 145 38 827
2016 226 239 205 12 866
2017 244 271 64 863
2018 220 121 595

Total $ 971
Cumulative Paid Claims and Allocated Claim
Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance

Accident Year Unaudited Liability for Claims
And Allocated
Claim

2014 $ 58 $ 96 $ 111 $ 127 $ 124 Adjustment
Expenses,

2015 32 75 87 86 Net of Reinsurance
2016 54 121 142
2017 70 166 2014 - Before
2018 64 2018 2014

Total $ 582 $ 389 $ 30
Total net liability $ 419

Average Annual Percentage Payout
of Incurred
Claims by Age, Net of Reinsurance
Unaudited

Years 1 2 3 4 5
29.5% 31.8% 9.9% 6.1% (2.7)%
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Personal Insurance
Automobile

(dollars in millions)
For the Years Ended December 31,
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 IBNR

Reserves
December 31,
2018

Cumulative
Incurred Claims and Allocated Claims Adjustment Number of
Expenses, Net of Reinsurance Reported

Accident Year Unaudited Claims
2014 $ 2,014 $ 1,994 $ 1,981 $ 1,985 $ 1,980 $ 14 670,431
2015 2,186 2,244 2,236 2,222 35 757,837
2016 2,779 2,791 2,772 126 921,479
2017 3,323 3,256 341 1,059,610
2018 3,281 825 960,293

Total $ 13,511
Cumulative Paid Claims and Allocated Claim
Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance

Accident Year Unaudited Liability for Claims
And Allocated
Claim

2014 $ 1,193 $ 1,564 $ 1,763 $ 1,879 $ 1,936 Adjustment
Expenses,

2015 1,319 1,768 1,985 2,109 Net of Reinsurance
2016 1,610 2,203 2,466
2017 1,912 2,575 2014 - Before
2018 1,889 2018 2014

Total $ 10,975 $ 2,536 $ 240
Total net liability $ 2,776

Average Annual Percentage Payout of Incurred
Claims by Age, Net of Reinsurance
Unaudited

Years 1 2 3 4 5
58.8 % 20.2 % 9.8 % 5.7 % 2.9 %
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Homeowners (excluding Other)
(dollars in millions)
For the Years Ended December 31,
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 IBNR

Reserves
December 31,
2018

Cumulative
Incurred Claims and Allocated Claims Adjustment Number of
Expenses, Net of Reinsurance Reported

Accident Year Unaudited Claims
2014 $ 1,515 $ 1,450 $ 1,453 $ 1,457 $ 1,451 $ 7 151,705
2015 1,438 1,454 1,461 1,452 10 145,088
2016 1,556 1,547 1,525 27 143,797
2017 2,312 2,340 101 168,357
2018 2,610 568 165,780

Total $ 9,378
Cumulative Paid Claims and Allocated Claim
Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance

Accident Year Unaudited Liability for Claims
And Allocated
Claim

2014 $ 1,053 $ 1,338 $ 1,402 $ 1,425 $ 1,433 Adjustment
Expenses,

2015 994 1,333 1,395 1,421 Net of Reinsurance
2016 1,049 1,392 1,455
2017 1,471 2,059 2014 - Before
2018 1,657 2018 2014

Total $ 8,025 $ 1,353 $ 23
Total net liability $ 1,376

Average Annual Percentage Payout of Incurred
Claims by Age, Net of Reinsurance
Unaudited

Years 1 2 3 4 5
67.2 % 22.7 % 4.3 % 1.7 % 0.5 %
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International - Canada
(dollars in millions)
For the Years Ended December 31, IBNR

Reserves
December 31,
2018

Cumulative
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Number of

Accident Incurred Claims and Allocated Claim Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance Reported
Year Unaudited Claims
2009 $ 454 $ 442 $ 450 $ 456 $ 464 $ 456 $ 449 $ 449 $ 442 $ 440 $ — 55,162
2010 463 464 475 488 477 469 465 459 457 5 54,919
2011 436 416 424 420 412 406 401 396 4 55,783
2012 413 393 394 378 377 361 355 12 51,226
2013 461 455 446 435 422 421 14 54,231
2014 408 422 423 412 405 (3 ) 52,291
2015 343 342 342 339 16 45,201
2016 343 389 389 32 45,728
2017 329 362 26 46,545
2018 418 89 46,883

Total $ 3,982

Accident Cumulative Paid Claims and Allocated Claim AdjustmentExpenses, Net of Reinsurance
Year Unaudited
2009 $189 $283 $323 $350 $379 $403 $419 $430 $433 $434
2010 182 278 313 351 380 409 425 437 442
2011 167 237 266 299 332 353 370 378

2012 157 219 249 274 300 317 325 Liability for
Claims

2013 184 258 289 320 351 368
And
Allocated
Claim

2014 180 252 287 314 344 Adjustment
Expenses,

2015 154 215 241 269 Net of
Reinsurance

2016 201 269 294

2017 173 244 2009
- Before

2018 208 2018 2009
Total $3,306 $ 676 $ 34

Total net
liability $ 710

Average Annual Percentage Payout of Incurred Claims by Age, Net of Reinsurance
Unaudited

Years 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
45.2 % 18.7 % 7.8 % 7.4 % 7.3 % 5.2 % 3.5 % 2.2 % 1.0 % 0.2 %

The incurred and paid amounts have been translated from the local currency to U.S. dollars using the December 31,
2018 spot rate for all years presented in the table above in order to isolate changes in foreign exchange rates from loss
development.
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Methodology for Estimating Incurred But Not Reported (IBNR) Reserves
Claims and claim adjustment expense reserves represent management’s estimate of the ultimate liability for unpaid
losses and loss adjustment expenses for claims that have been reported and claims that have been incurred but not yet
reported as of the balance sheet date.  Claims and claim adjustment expense reserves do not represent an exact
calculation of the liability, but instead represent management estimates, primarily utilizing actuarial expertise and
projection methods that develop estimates for the ultimate cost of claims and claim adjustment expenses.  Because the
establishment of claims and claims adjustment expense reserves is an inherently uncertain process involving estimates
and judgment, currently estimated claims and claim adjustment expense reserves may change.  The Company reflects
changes to the reserves in the results of operations in the period the estimates are changed.
Cumulative amounts paid and case reserves held as of the balance sheet date are subtracted from the estimate of the
ultimate cost of claims and claim adjustment expenses to derive incurred but not reported (IBNR) reserves. 
Accordingly, IBNR reserves include the cost of unreported claims, development on known claims and re-opened
claims.  This approach to estimating IBNR reserves has been in place for many years, with no material changes in
methodology in the past year.
Detailed claim data is typically insufficient to produce a reliable indication of the initial estimate for ultimate claims
and claim adjustment expenses for an accident year.  As a result, the initial estimate for an accident year is generally
based on an exposure-based method using either the loss ratio projection or the expected loss method.  The loss ratio
projection method, which is typically used for guaranteed-cost business, develops an initial estimate of ultimate claims
and claim adjustment expenses for an accident year by multiplying earned premium for the accident year by a
projected loss ratio.  The projected loss ratio is determined by analyzing prior period experience, and adjusting for loss
cost trends, rate level differences, mix of business changes and other known or observed factors influencing the
accident year relative to prior accident years.  The expected loss method, which is typically used for loss sensitive
business, develops an initial estimate of ultimate claims and claim adjustment expenses for an accident year by
analyzing exposures by account.
For prior accident years, the following estimation and analysis methods are principally used by the Company’s
actuaries to estimate the ultimate cost of claims and claim adjustment expenses.  These estimation and analysis
methods are typically referred to as conventional actuarial methods.

•
The paid loss development method assumes that the future change (positive or negative) in cumulative paid losses for
a given cohort of claims will occur in a stable, predictable pattern from year-to-year, consistent with the pattern
observed in past cohorts.

•The case incurred development method is the same as the paid loss development method but is based on cumulativecase-incurred losses rather than paid losses.

•

The Bornhuetter-Ferguson method uses an initial estimate of ultimate losses for a given product line reserve
component, typically expressed as a ratio to earned premium.  The method assumes that the ratio of additional claim
activity to earned premium for that component is relatively stable and predictable over time and that actual claim
activity to date is not a credible predictor of further activity for that component.  The method is used most often for
more recent accident years where claim data is sparse and/or volatile, with a transition to other methods as the
underlying claim data becomes more voluminous and therefore more credible.

•

The average value analysis combined with the reported claim development method assumes that average claim values
are stable and predictable over time for a particular cohort of claims.  It is typically limited to analysis at more
granular levels, such as coverage or hazard/peril, where a more homogeneous subset of claims produce a more stable
and fairly predictable average value.  The reported claim development method is the same as the paid loss
development method but uses changes in cumulative claim counts to produce estimates of ultimate claim counts rather
than ultimate dollars.  The resulting estimate of ultimate claim counts by cohort is multiplied by an average value per
claim from an average value analysis to obtain estimated ultimate claims and claim adjustment expenses.
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While these are the principal methods utilized, the Company’s actuaries have available to them the full range of
actuarial methods developed by the casualty actuarial profession.  The Company’s actuaries are also continually
monitoring developments within the profession for advances in existing techniques or the creation of new techniques
that might improve current and future estimates.  Most actuarial methods assume that past patterns demonstrated in
the data will repeat themselves in the future.  For certain reserve components where this assumption may not hold,
such as asbestos and environmental reserves, conventional actuarial methods are not utilized by the Company.
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Methodology for Determining Cumulative Number of Reported Claims
A claim file is created when the Company is notified of an actual demand for payment, notified of an event that may
lead to a demand for payment or when it is determined that a demand for payment could possibly lead to a future
demand for payment on another coverage on the same policy or on another policy.  Claim files are generally created
for a policy at the claimant by coverage level, depending on the particular facts and circumstances of the underlying
event.
For Business Insurance and for Personal Insurance, claim file information is summarized such that the Company
generally recognizes one count for each policy claim event by internal regulatory line of business, regardless of the
number of claimants or coverages involved.  The claims counts are then accumulated and reported by product line. 
While the methodology is generally consistent within each segment for the product lines displayed, there are some
minor differences between and within segments.  For Bond & Specialty Insurance, the Company generally recognizes
one count per coverage per policy claim event and one count per bond per surety claim event.
For purposes of the claims development tables above, claims reported for direct business are counted even if they
eventually close with no loss payment, except in the case of (i) deductible business, where the claim is not counted
until the case incurred claim estimate is above the deductible, and (ii) International-Canada reported claim counts
where claims closed with no loss payment are not counted.  Note that claims with zero claim dollars may still generate
some level of claim adjustment expenses.  Claim counts for assumed business are included only to the extent such
counts are available. The Company generally does not receive claim count information for which the underlying claim
activity is handled by others, including pools and associations.  The Company does not generate claim counts for
ceded business. The methods used to summarize claim counts have not changed significantly over the time periods
reported in the tables above.
The Company cautions against using the summarized claim count information provided in this disclosure in
attempting to project ultimate loss payouts by product line. The Company generally finds claim count data to be useful
only on a more granular basis than the aggregated basis disclosed in the claim development tables above, as the risks,
average values and other dynamics of the claim process can vary materially by the cause of loss and coverage within
product line.  For example, in Personal Automobile, the introduction of a new roadside assistance coverage feature
several years ago resulted in a significant increase in claim counts with a low average claim cost.  For this reason the
Company varies its approach to, and in many cases the level of aggregation for, counting claims for internal analysis
purposes depending on the particular granular analysis performed.
Asbestos and Environmental Reserves
At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company’s claims and claim adjustment expense reserves included $1.62 billion
and $1.64 billion, respectively, for asbestos and environmental-related claims, net of reinsurance.
It is difficult to estimate the reserves for asbestos and environmental-related claims due to the vagaries of court
coverage decisions, plaintiffs’ expanded theories of liability, the risks inherent in complex litigation and other
uncertainties, including, without limitation, those which are set forth below.
Asbestos Reserves. Because each policyholder presents different liability and coverage issues, the Company generally
reviews the exposure presented by each policyholder at least annually.  Among the factors which the Company may
consider in the course of this review are: available insurance coverage, including the role of any umbrella or excess
insurance the Company has issued to the policyholder; limits and deductibles; an analysis of the policyholder’s
potential liability; the jurisdictions involved; past and anticipated future claim activity and loss development on
pending claims; past settlement values of similar claims; allocated claim adjustment expense; the potential role of
other insurance; the role, if any, of non-asbestos claims or potential non-asbestos claims in any resolution process; and
applicable coverage defenses or determinations, if any, including the determination as to whether or not an asbestos
claim is a products/completed operation claim subject to an aggregate limit and the available coverage, if any, for that
claim.
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In the third quarter of 2018, the Company completed its annual in-depth asbestos claim review, including a review of
active policyholders and litigation cases for potential product and “non-product” liability, and noted the continuation of
the following trends:
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•a high level of litigation activity in certain jurisdictions involving individuals alleging serious asbestos-related illness,primarily involving mesothelioma claims;

•while overall payment patterns have been generally stable, there has been an increase in severity for certainpolicyholders due to the high level of litigation activity; and
•a moderate level of asbestos-related bankruptcy activity. 

In the home office and field office category, which accounts for the vast majority of policyholders with active
asbestos-related claims, the number of policyholders tendering asbestos claims for the first time, the number of
policyholders with open asbestos claims and net asbestos-related payments declined slightly when compared to 2017.
Payments on behalf of policyholders in this category continue to be influenced by a high level of litigation activity in
a limited number of jurisdictions where individuals alleging serious asbestos-related injury, primarily mesothelioma,
continue to target defendants who were not traditionally primary targets of asbestos litigation.

The Company’s quarterly asbestos reserve reviews include an analysis of exposure and claim payment patterns by
policyholder category, as well as recent settlements, policyholder bankruptcies, judicial rulings and legislative
actions.  The Company also analyzes developing payment patterns among policyholders in the home office and field
office category and the assumed reinsurance and other category as well as projected reinsurance billings and
recoveries.  In addition, the Company reviews its historical gross and net loss and expense paid experience,
year-by-year, to assess any emerging trends, fluctuations, or characteristics suggested by the aggregate paid activity.
Conventional actuarial methods are not utilized to establish asbestos reserves and the Company’s evaluations have not
resulted in a reliable method to determine a meaningful average asbestos defense or indemnity payment.

The completion of these reviews and analyses in 2018, 2017 and 2016 resulted in $225 million increases in each year
to the Company’s net asbestos reserves. In each year, the reserve increases were primarily driven by increases in the
Company’s estimate of projected settlement and defense costs related to a broad number of policyholders in the home
office and field office category. The increase in the estimate of projected settlement and defense costs resulted from
payment trends that continue to be higher than previously anticipated due to the impact of the current litigation
environment surrounding mesothelioma claims discussed above. Over the past decade, the property and casualty
insurance industry, including the Company, has experienced net unfavorable prior year reserve development with
regard to asbestos reserves, but the Company believes that over that period there has been a reduction in the volatility
associated with the Company’s overall asbestos exposure as the overall asbestos environment has evolved from one
dominated by exposure to significant litigation risks, particularly coverage disputes relating to policyholders in
bankruptcy who were asserting that their claims were not subject to the aggregate limits contained in their policies, to
an environment primarily driven by a frequency of litigation related to individuals with mesothelioma. The Company’s
overall view of the current underlying asbestos environment is essentially unchanged from recent periods and there
remains a high degree of uncertainty with respect to future exposure to asbestos claims.

Net asbestos paid loss and loss expenses in 2018, 2017 and 2016 were $225 million, $271 million and $708 million,
respectively.  Net payments in 2016 included the $458 million net payment related to PPG Industries, Inc.  
Approximately 9%, 4% and 69% of total net paid losses in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, related to policyholders
with whom the Company entered into settlement agreements that limit those policyholders' ability to present future
claims to the Company.
Environmental Reserves.  In establishing environmental reserves, the Company evaluates the exposure presented by
each policyholder and the anticipated cost of resolution, if any. These claims are mainly brought pursuant to various
state or federal statutes that require a liable party to undertake or pay for environmental remediation. Liability under
these statutes may be joint and several with other responsible parties. In the course of its analysis, the Company
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generally considers the probable liability, available coverage and relevant judicial interpretations.  In addition, the
Company considers the many variables presented, such as: the nature of the alleged activities of the policyholder at
each site; the number of sites; the total number of potentially responsible parties at each site; the nature of the alleged
environmental harm and the corresponding remedy at each site; the nature of government enforcement activities at
each site; the ownership and general use of each site; the overall nature of the insurance relationship between the
Company and the policyholder, including the role of any umbrella or excess insurance the Company has issued to the
policyholder; the involvement of other insurers; the potential for other available coverage, including the number of
years of coverage; the role, if any, of non-environmental claims or potential non-environmental claims in any
resolution process; and the applicable law in each jurisdiction.  The evaluation of the exposure presented by a
policyholder can change as information concerning that policyholder and the many variables presented is developed. 
Conventional actuarial methods are not used to estimate these reserves.
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The Company continues to receive notices from policyholders tendering claims for the first time, frequently under
policies issued prior to the mid-1980s. These policyholders continue to present smaller exposures, have fewer sites
and are lower tier defendants.  Further, in many instances, clean-up costs have been reduced because regulatory
agencies are willing to accept risk-based site analyses and more efficient clean-up technologies. Over the past several
years, the Company has experienced generally favorable trends in the number of new policyholders tendering
environmental claims for the first time and in the number of pending declaratory judgment actions relating to
environmental matters. However, the degree to which those favorable trends have continued has been less than
anticipated. In addition, reserve development on existing environmental claims has been greater than anticipated,
driven by claims and legal developments in a limited number of jurisdictions. As a result of these factors, in 2018,
2017 and 2016, the Company increased its net environmental reserves by $55 million, $65 million and $82 million,
respectively.

Asbestos and Environmental Reserves. As a result of the processes and procedures discussed above, management
believes that the reserves carried for asbestos and environmental claims are appropriately established based upon
known facts, current law and management’s judgment. However, the uncertainties surrounding the final resolution of
these claims continue, and it is difficult to determine the ultimate exposure for asbestos and environmental claims and
related litigation. As a result, these reserves are subject to revision as new information becomes available and as
claims develop. Changes in the legal, regulatory and legislative environment may impact the future resolution of
asbestos and environmental claims and result in adverse loss reserve development.  The emergence of a greater
number of asbestos or environmental claims beyond that which is anticipated may result in adverse loss reserve
development. Changes in applicable legislation and future court and regulatory decisions and interpretations,
including the outcome of legal challenges to legislative and/or judicial reforms establishing medical criteria for the
pursuit of asbestos claims, could affect the settlement of asbestos and environmental claims.  It is also difficult to
predict the ultimate outcome of complex coverage disputes until settlement negotiations near completion and
significant legal questions are resolved or, failing settlement, until the dispute is adjudicated. This is particularly the
case with policyholders in bankruptcy where negotiations often involve a large number of claimants and other parties
and require court approval to be effective. As part of its continuing analysis of asbestos and environmental reserves,
the Company continues to study the implications of these and other developments.
Because of the uncertainties set forth above, additional liabilities may arise for amounts in excess of the Company’s
current reserves.  In addition, the Company’s estimate of claims and claim adjustment expenses may change.  These
additional liabilities or increases in estimates, or a range of either, cannot now be reasonably estimated and could
result in income statement charges that could be material to the Company’s operating results in future periods.
Catastrophe Exposure
The Company has geographic exposure to catastrophe losses, which can be caused by a variety of events, including,
among others, hurricanes, tornadoes and other windstorms, earthquakes, hail, wildfires, severe winter weather, floods,
tsunamis, volcanic eruptions and other naturally-occurring events, such as solar flares.  Catastrophes can also result
from terrorist attacks and other intentionally destructive acts including those involving nuclear, biological, chemical
and radiological events, cyber events, explosions and destruction of infrastructure.  The incidence and severity of
catastrophes are inherently unpredictable. The extent of losses from a catastrophe is a function of both the total
amount of insured exposure in the area affected by the event and the severity of the event. Most catastrophes are
restricted to small geographic areas; however, hurricanes, earthquakes and wildfires may produce significant damage
in larger areas, especially those that are heavily populated. The Company generally seeks to mitigate its exposure to
catastrophes through individual risk selection and the purchase of catastrophe reinsurance.
There are also risks which impact the estimation of ultimate costs for catastrophes.  For example, the estimation of
reserves related to hurricanes can be affected by the inability of the Company and its insureds to access portions of the
impacted areas, the complexity of factors contributing to the losses, the legal and regulatory uncertainties and the
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nature of the information available to establish the reserves.  Complex factors include, but are not limited to:
determining whether damage was caused by flooding versus wind; evaluating general liability and pollution
exposures; estimating additional living expenses; the impact of demand surge; the potential impact of changing
climate conditions, including higher frequency and severity of weather-related events; infrastructure disruption; fraud;
the effect of mold damage and business income interruption costs; and reinsurance collectibility.  The timing of a
catastrophe’s occurrence, such as at or near the end of a reporting period, can also affect the information available to
the Company in estimating reserves for that reporting period.  The estimates related to catastrophes are adjusted as
actual claims emerge.
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8.                                      DEBT
Debt outstanding was as follows:
(at December 31, in millions) 2018 2017
Short-term:
Commercial paper $100 $100
5.90% Senior notes due June 2, 2019 500 —
5.80% Senior notes due May 15, 2018 — 500
Total short-term debt 600 600
Long-term:
5.90% Senior notes due June 2, 2019 — 500
3.90% Senior notes due November 1, 2020 500 500
7.75% Senior notes due April 15, 2026 200 200
7.625% Junior subordinated debentures due December 15, 2027 125 125
6.375% Senior notes due March 15, 2033 500 500
6.75% Senior notes due June 20, 2036 400 400
6.25% Senior notes due June 15, 2037 800 800
5.35% Senior notes due November 1, 2040 750 750
4.60% Senior notes due August 1, 2043 500 500
4.30% Senior notes due August 25, 2045 400 400
8.50% Junior subordinated debentures due December 15, 2045 56 56
3.75% Senior notes due May 15, 2046 500 500
8.312% Junior subordinated debentures due July 1, 2046 73 73
4.00% Senior notes due May 30, 2047 700 700
4.05% Senior notes due March 7, 2048 500 —
Total long-term debt 6,004 6,004
Total debt principal 6,604 6,604
Unamortized fair value adjustment 44 46
Unamortized debt issuance costs (84 ) (79 )
Total debt $6,564 $6,571
2018 Debt Issuance. On March 7, 2018, the Company issued $500 million aggregate principal amount of 4.05% senior
notes that will mature on March 7, 2048.  The net proceeds of the issuance, after the deduction of the underwriting
discount and expenses payable by the Company, totaled approximately $491 million.  Interest on the senior notes is
payable semi-annually in arrears on March 7 and September 7.  Prior to September 7, 2047, the senior notes may be
redeemed, in whole or in part, at the Company’s option, at any time or from time to time, at a redemption price equal to
the greater of (a) 100% of the principal amount of any senior notes to be redeemed or (b) the sum of the present values
of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest to but excluding September 7, 2047 on any senior notes
to be redeemed (exclusive of interest accrued to the date of redemption) discounted to the date of redemption on a
semi-annual basis (assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months) at the then current Treasury rate (as
defined in the senior notes), plus 15 basis points.  On or after September 7, 2047, the senior notes may be redeemed, in
whole or in part, at the Company’s option, at any time or from time to time, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the
principal amount of any senior notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the
redemption date.

2018 Debt Repayment. On May 15, 2018, the Company's $500 million, 5.80% senior notes matured and were fully
paid.
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2017 Debt Issuance. On May 22, 2017, the Company issued $700 million aggregate principal amount of 4.00% senior
notes that will mature on May 30, 2047. The net proceeds of the issuance, after the deduction of the underwriting
discount and expenses payable by the Company, totaled approximately $689 million. Interest on the senior notes is
payable semi-annually in arrears on May 30 and November 30. Prior to November 30, 2046, the senior notes may be
redeemed, in whole or in part, at the Company’s option, at any time or from time to time, at a redemption price equal to
the greater of (a) 100% of the principal amount of any senior notes to be redeemed or (b) the sum of the present values
of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest to November 30, 2046 on any senior notes to be
redeemed (exclusive of interest accrued to the date of redemption) discounted to the date of redemption on a
semi-annual basis (assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months) at the then current Treasury rate (as
defined in the senior notes), plus 15 basis points. On or after November 30, 2046, the senior notes may be redeemed,
in whole or in part, at the Company’s option, at any time or from time to time, at a redemption price equal to 100% of
the principal amount of any senior notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the
redemption date.

2017 Debt Redemption and Repayment. On June 2, 2017, the Company redeemed the remaining $107 million
aggregate principal amount of its 6.25% Fixed-to-Floating Rate Junior Subordinated Debentures due 2067 at a price
per debenture of 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date. On
December 15, 2017, the Company’s $450 million, 5.75% senior notes matured and were fully paid.

2016 Debt Issuance.  On May 11, 2016, the Company issued $500 million aggregate principal amount of 3.75% senior
notes that will mature on May 15, 2046.  The net proceeds of the issuance, after the deduction of underwriting and
other expenses, totaled approximately $491 million.  Interest on the senior notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on
May 15 and November 15.  Prior to November 15, 2045, the senior notes may be redeemed, in whole or in part, at the
Company’s option, at any time or from time to time, at a redemption price equal to the greater of (a) 100% of the
principal amount of any senior notes to be redeemed or (b) the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled
payments of principal and interest on any senior notes to be redeemed (exclusive of interest accrued to the date of
redemption) discounted to the date of redemption on a semi-annual basis (assuming a 360-day year consisting of
twelve 30-day months) at the then current Treasury Rate (as defined in the senior notes), plus 20 basis points.  On or
after November 15, 2045, the senior notes may be redeemed, in whole or in part, at the Company’s option, at any time
or from time to time, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of any senior notes to be redeemed,
plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date.
2016 Debt Repayment.  On June 20, 2016, the Company’s $400 million, 6.25% senior notes matured and were fully
paid.
Description of Debt
Commercial Paper—The Company maintains an $800 million commercial paper program.  (See “Credit Agreement”
discussion that follows.)  Interest rates on commercial paper issued in 2018 ranged from 1.47% to 2.37%, and in 2017
ranged from 0.65% to 1.17%.
Senior Notes—The Company’s various senior debt issues are unsecured obligations that rank equally with one another. 
Interest payments are made semi-annually.  The Company generally may redeem some or all of the notes prior to
maturity in accordance with terms unique to each debt instrument.
Junior Subordinated Debentures—The Company’s three junior subordinated debenture instruments are all similar in
nature to each other.  Three separate business trusts issued preferred securities to investors and used the proceeds to
purchase the Company’s junior subordinated debentures.  Interest on each of the instruments is paid semi-annually.
The Company’s consolidated balance sheet includes the debt instruments acquired in a business acquisition, which
were recorded at fair value as of the acquisition date. The resulting fair value adjustment is being amortized over the
remaining life of the respective debt instruments using the effective-interest method. The amortization of the fair value
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Unamortized Fair Value
Purchase Adjustment at December 31,

Effective
Interest Rate
to Maturity(in millions) Issue Rate Maturity Date 2018 2017

Junior subordinated debentures 7.625 % Dec. 2027 $ 12 $ 13 6.147 %
8.500 % Dec. 2045 14 15 6.362 %
8.312 % Jul. 2046 18 18 6.362 %

Total $ 44 $ 46
The Travelers Companies, Inc. fully and unconditionally guarantees the payment of all principal, premiums, if any,
and interest on certain debt obligations of its subsidiaries Travelers Property Casualty Corp. and Travelers Insurance
Group Holdings, Inc. The guarantees pertain to the $200 million 7.75% notes due 2026 and the $500 million 6.375%
notes due 2033.
Maturities—The amount of debt obligations, other than commercial paper, that become due in each of the next five years
is as follows: 2019, $500 million; 2020, $500 million; 2021, $0; 2022, $0; and 2023, $0.
Credit Agreement
On June 4, 2018, the Company entered into a five-year, $1.0 billion revolving credit agreement with a syndicate of
financial institutions, replacing its five-year, $1.0 billion credit agreement that was due to expire on June 7, 2018. 
Pursuant to the credit agreement covenants, the Company must maintain a minimum consolidated net worth, defined
as shareholders’ equity determined in accordance with GAAP (excluding accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss)) plus (a) trust preferred securities (not to exceed 15% of total capital) and (b) mandatorily convertible securities
(combined with trust preferred securities, not to exceed 25% of total capital) less goodwill and other intangible assets. 
The threshold is adjusted downward by an amount equal to 70% of the aggregate amount of common stock
repurchased by the Company after March 31, 2018, up to a maximum deduction of $1.75 billion. The threshold was
$13.60 billion at December 31, 2018 and could decline to a minimum of $12.494 billion during the term of the credit
agreement, subject to the Company repurchasing an additional $1.58 billion of its common stock. In addition, the
credit agreement contains other customary restrictive covenants as well as certain customary events of default,
including with respect to a change in control, which is defined to include the acquisition of 35% or more of the
Company’s voting stock and certain changes in the composition of the Company’s board of directors.  At December 31,
2018, the Company was in compliance with these covenants.  Generally, the cost of borrowing under this agreement
will range from LIBOR plus 75 basis points to LIBOR plus 137.5 basis points, depending on the Company’s credit
ratings.  At December 31, 2018, that cost would have been LIBOR plus 100 basis points, had there been any amounts
outstanding under the credit agreement.  In the event that LIBOR is no longer available, the credit agreement provides
that the Company and the syndicate of financial institutions use commercially reasonable efforts to jointly agree upon
an alternate rate of interest.
Shelf Registration
The Company has a shelf registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission that expires on
June 17, 2019 which permits it to issue securities from time to time at prices and on other terms to be determined at
the time of offering.
9.                                      SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND DIVIDEND AVAILABILITY
Authorized Shares
The number of authorized shares of the Company is 1.755 billion, consisting of five million shares of preferred stock,
1.745 billion shares of voting common stock and five million undesignated shares.  The Company’s Articles of
Incorporation authorize the Board of Directors to establish, from the undesignated shares, one or more classes and
series of shares, and to further designate the type of shares and terms thereof.
Preferred Stock
The Company’s Articles of Incorporation provide authority to issue up to five million shares of preferred stock.
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Common Stock
The Company is governed by the Minnesota Business Corporation Act. All authorized shares of voting common stock
have no par value.  Shares of common stock reacquired are considered authorized and unissued shares.
Restricted Stock

In August 2017, the Company issued 95,953 shares of restricted stock valued at approximately $12 million in
connection with a business acquisition to certain employees of the acquired business, of which 92,995 shares
remained outstanding and unvested at December 31, 2018. The restricted stock is subject to service conditions and as
such is recognized as share-based compensation; 50% of the restricted stock will vest two years from the issuance date
and the remainder will vest three years from the issuance date. The value is being recognized over the respective
vesting periods and included with the share-based compensation cost of awards that are issued under the Company’s
share-based incentive compensation plan (see note 13). The recipients generally have all the rights of a shareholder of
the Company including the right to vote the applicable shares of common stock and to receive dividends on such
shares, if and as declared by the Board of Directors. The restricted stock is held under the Company’s control with the
Company’s transfer agent and will be released upon vesting.

Treasury Stock
The Company’s Board of Directors has approved common share repurchase authorizations under which
repurchases may be made from time to time in the open market, pursuant to pre-set trading plans meeting the
requirements of Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, in private transactions or otherwise.  The
authorizations do not have a stated expiration date.  The timing and actual number of shares to be repurchased in the
future will depend on a variety of factors, including the Company’s financial position, earnings, share price,
catastrophe losses, maintaining capital levels commensurate with the Company’s desired ratings from independent
rating agencies, funding of the Company’s qualified pension plan, capital requirements of the Company’s operating
subsidiaries, legal requirements, regulatory constraints, other investment opportunities (including mergers and
acquisitions and related financings), market conditions and other factors.  In April 2017, the Board of Directors
approved a share repurchase authorization that added an additional $5.0 billion of repurchase capacity. The following
table summarizes repurchase activity in 2018 and remaining repurchase capacity at December 31, 2018.

(in millions, except per share amounts)
Quarterly Period Ending

Number of
shares
repurchased

Cost of shares
repurchased

Average price paid
per share

Remaining capacity
under share repurchase
authorization

March 31, 2018 2.5 $ 350 $ 141.84 $ 4,206
June 30, 2018 2.7 350 129.66 3,856
September 30, 2018 3.0 400 130.22 3,456
December 31, 2018 1.4 170 125.09 3,286
Total 9.6 $ 1,270 132.33 3,286
The Company’s Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan and the Amended and Restated 2014 Stock
Incentive Plan provide settlement alternatives to employees in which the Company retains shares to cover payroll
withholding taxes in connection with the vesting of restricted stock unit awards and performance share awards, and to
cover the price of certain stock options that were exercised.  During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the
Company acquired $51 million and $62 million, respectively, of its common stock under these plans.
Common shares acquired are reported as treasury stock in the consolidated balance sheet.
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Dividend Availability
The Company’s U.S. insurance subsidiaries, domiciled principally in the State of Connecticut, are subject to various
regulatory restrictions that limit the maximum amount of dividends available to be paid by each insurance subsidiary
to its respective parent company without prior approval of insurance regulatory authorities. A maximum of $2.52
billion is available by the end of 2019 for such dividends to the holding company, TRV, without prior approval of the
Connecticut Insurance Department.  The Company may choose to accelerate the timing within 2019 and/or increase
the amount of dividends from its insurance subsidiaries in 2019, which could result in certain dividends being subject
to approval by the Connecticut Insurance Department.
In addition to the regulatory restrictions on the availability of dividends that can be paid by the Company’s U.S.
insurance subsidiaries, the maximum amount of dividends that may be paid to the Company’s shareholders is limited,
to a lesser degree, by certain covenants contained in its line of credit agreement with a syndicate of financial
institutions that require the Company to maintain a minimum consolidated net worth as described in note 8.
TRV is not dependent on dividends or other forms of repatriation from its foreign operations to support its liquidity
needs.  The undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign operations are intended to be permanently reinvested in
those operations, and such earnings were not material to the Company's financial position or liquidity at December 31,
2018.
TRV and its two non-insurance holding company subsidiaries received dividends of $2.30 billion, $2.33 billion and
$3.05 billion from their U.S. insurance subsidiaries in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, TRV declared cash dividends per common share of $3.03,
$2.83 and $2.62, respectively, and paid cash dividends of $814 million, $785 million and $757 million, respectively.
Statutory Net Income and Statutory Capital and Surplus
Statutory net income of the Company’s domestic and international insurance subsidiaries was $2.61 billion, $2.30
billion and $3.20 billion for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Statutory capital and
surplus of the Company’s domestic and international insurance subsidiaries was $20.77 billion and $20.45 billion at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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10.                                      OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND ACCUMULATED OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
The following table presents the changes in the Company’s accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) for the
years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.

Changes in Net Unrealized Gains on
Investment Securities

(in millions)

Having No Credit
Losses Recognized in
the Consolidated
Statement of Income

Having Credit Losses
Recognized in the
Consolidated
Statement of Income

Net Benefit
Plan
Assets and
Obligations
Recognized in
Shareholders’ Equity

Net Unrealized
Foreign Currency
Translation

Total Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Balance, December 31, 2015 $ 1,100 $ 189 $ (713 ) $ (733 ) $ (157 )
Other comprehensive income (loss) (OCI)
before reclassifications (530 ) 4 (30 ) (49 ) (605 )

Amounts reclassified from AOCI, net of tax (42 ) 9 40 — 7
Net OCI, current period (572 ) 13 10 (49 ) (598 )
Balance, December 31, 2016 528 202 (703 ) (782 ) (755 )
OCI before reclassifications 367 4 (24 ) 171 518
Amounts reclassified from AOCI, net of tax (148 ) 1 41 — (106 )
Net OCI, current period 219 5 17 171 412
Balance, December 31, 2017 747 207 (686 ) (611 ) (343 )
Cumulative effect of adoption of updated
accounting guidance for equity financial
instruments at January 1, 2018

(34 ) — — — (34 )

Income tax benefit (12 ) — — — (12 )
Net of taxes (22 ) — — — (22 )
Reclassification of certain tax effects from
accumulated other comprehensive income at
January 1, 2018

145 7 (141 ) (35 ) (24 )

Total effect of adoption of new guidance at
January 1, 2018, net of tax 123 7 (141 ) (35 ) (46 )

OCI before reclassifications, net of tax (1,151 ) (21 ) (114 ) (227 ) (1,513 )
Amounts reclassified from AOCI, net of tax (25 ) — 68 — 43
Net OCI, current period (1,176 ) (21 ) (46 ) (227 ) (1,470 )
Balance, December 31, 2018 $ (306 ) $ 193 $ (873 ) $ (873 ) $ (1,859 )
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The following table presents the pre-tax components of the Company’s other comprehensive income (loss) and the
related income tax expense (benefit).
(for the year ended December 31, in millions) 2018 2017 2016
Changes in net unrealized gains on investment securities:
Having no credit losses recognized in the consolidated statement of income $(1,489) $294 $(883)
Income tax expense (benefit) (313 ) 75 (311 )
Net of taxes (1,176 ) 219 (572 )
Having credit losses recognized in the consolidated statement of income (27 ) 8 21
Income tax expense (benefit) (6 ) 3 8
Net of taxes (21 ) 5 13
Net changes in benefit plan assets and obligations (56 ) 29 16
Income tax expense (benefit) (10 ) 12 6
Net of taxes (46 ) 17 10
Net changes in unrealized foreign currency translation (247 ) 191 (41 )
Income tax expense (benefit) (20 ) 20 8
Net of taxes (227 ) 171 (49 )
Total other comprehensive income (loss) (1,819 ) 522 (887 )
Total income tax expense (benefit) (349 ) 110 (289 )
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes $(1,470) $412 $(598)
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The following table presents the pre-tax and related income tax (expense) benefit components of the amounts
reclassified from the Company’s AOCI to the Company’s consolidated statement of income.
(for the year ended December 31, in millions) 2018 2017 2016
Reclassification adjustments related to unrealized gains on investment securities:
Having no credit losses recognized in the consolidated statement of income (1) $(32) $(228) $(64)
Income tax expense (2) (7 ) (80 ) (22 )
Net of taxes (25 ) (148 ) (42 )
Having credit losses recognized in the consolidated statement of income (1) — 1 13
Income tax benefit (2) — — 4
Net of taxes — 1 9
Reclassification adjustment related to benefit plan assets and obligations:
Claims and claim adjustment expenses (3) 35 32 25
General and administrative expenses (3) 51 48 37
Total 86 80 62
Income tax benefit (2) 18 39 22
Net of taxes 68 41 40
Reclassification adjustment related to foreign currency translation (1) — — —
Income tax benefit (2) — — —
Net of taxes — — —
Total reclassifications 54 (147 ) 11
Total income tax (expense) benefit 11 (41 ) 4
Total reclassifications, net of taxes $43 $(106) $7
___________________________________________
(1)(Increases) decreases net realized investment gains on the consolidated statement of income.
(2)(Increases) decreases income tax expense on the consolidated statement of income.
(3)Increases (decreases) expenses on the consolidated statement of income.
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11.                                      EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share was computed by dividing net income available to common shareholders by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the period. The computation of diluted earnings per share
reflected the effect of potentially dilutive securities.
The following is a reconciliation of the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share
computations:
(for the year ended December 31, in millions, except per share amounts) 2018 2017 2016
Basic and Diluted
Net income, as reported $2,523 $2,056 $3,014
Participating share-based awards — allocated income (19 ) (15 ) (22 )
Net income available to common shareholders — basic and diluted $2,504 $2,041 $2,992
Common Shares
Basic
Weighted average shares outstanding 267.4 276.0 288.1
Diluted
Weighted average shares outstanding 267.4 276.0 288.1
Weighted average effects of dilutive securities:
Stock options and performance shares 2.4 2.6 2.9
Total 269.8 278.6 291.0
Net income Per Common Share
Basic $9.37 $7.39 $10.39
Diluted $9.28 $7.33 $10.28
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12.                                      INCOME TAXES
Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017
On December 22, 2017, the U.S. enacted the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (TCJA) which, among other changes,
reduced the U.S. federal tax rate from 35% to 21% beginning on January 1, 2018 and imposed a tax on undistributed
and previously untaxed post-1986 foreign earnings and profits (accumulated foreign earnings). Total income tax
expense for 2017 included a net charge of $129 million to reflect the estimated impacts of the changes in tax laws and
tax rates included in TCJA at the date of enactment, primarily reflecting the revaluation of the Company's deferred tax
assets and liabilities at the new statutory federal tax rate of 21%, and the recognition of tax imposed on accumulated
foreign earnings. The estimated effects of enactment of TCJA were reflected in the Company's net deferred tax asset
and current income tax receivable reported on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2017.
Components of Income Tax Expense
The following table presents the components of income tax expense included in the amounts reported in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements:
(for the year ended December 31, in millions) 2018 2017 2016
Composition of income tax expense included in the consolidated statement of income
Current expense:
Federal $424 $314 $899
Impact of TCJA at enactment — 21 —
Foreign 41 56 21
State 8 4 8
Total current tax expense 473 395 928
Deferred expense (benefit):
Federal (13 ) 229 110
Impact of TCJA at enactment — 108 —
Foreign (22 ) (58 ) 1
Total deferred tax expense (benefit) (35 ) 279 111
Total income tax expense included in the consolidated statement of income 438 674 1,039
Composition of income tax expense (benefit) included in shareholders’ equity
Expense (benefit) relating to changes in the unrealized gain (loss) on investments, unrealized
loss on foreign exchange and other items in other comprehensive income (loss) (349 ) 110 (289 )

Total income tax expense included in the consolidated financial statements $89 $784 $750
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The following is a reconciliation of income tax expense at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate to the income tax
expense reported in the Company’s consolidated statement of income:
(for the year ended December 31, in millions) 2018 2017 2016
Income (loss) before income taxes
U.S. $3,039 $2,798 $3,946
Foreign (78 ) (68 ) 107
Total income before income taxes 2,961 2,730 4,053
Effective tax rate
Statutory tax rate 21 % 35 % 35 %
Expected federal income tax expense 622 956 1,419
Tax effect of:
Nontaxable investment income (150 ) (297 ) (323 )
TCJA at enactment — 129 —
Other, net (34 ) (114 ) (57 )
Total income tax expense $438 $674 $1,039
Effective tax rate 15 % 25 % 26 %
The Company paid income taxes of $408 million, $514 million and $892 million during the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  The current income tax receivable of $12 million and $65 million
at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, was included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheet.
In computing taxable income, property and casualty insurers reduce underwriting income by claims and claim
adjustment expenses incurred. The deduction for claims incurred is discounted at the interest rates and for the claim
payment patterns prescribed by the U.S. Treasury. TCJA changed the prescribed interest rates to rates based on
corporate bond yield curves and extended the applicable time periods for the claim payment pattern. These changes
were effective for tax years beginning after 2017 and are subject to a transition rule that spreads the additional tax
payment from the amount determined by applying these changes over the subsequent eight years beginning in 2018.
This item is a taxable temporary difference and had no direct impact on total tax expense for 2017 and will not
directly impact total tax expense in future years. The required additional tax payments are currently estimated to
approximate $23 million per year over the eight-year period through 2025 and will result in a modest reduction in net
investment income over that period.
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The net deferred tax asset comprises the tax effects of temporary differences related to the following assets and
liabilities:
(at December 31, in millions) 2018 2017
Deferred tax assets
Claims and claim adjustment expense reserves $571 $930
Unearned premium reserves 503 478
Compensation-related liabilities 92 61
Other 200 191
Total gross deferred tax assets 1,366 1,660
Less: valuation allowance 8 6
Adjusted gross deferred tax assets 1,358 1,654
Deferred tax liabilities
Claims and claim adjustment expense reserve discounting (transition rule) 159 560
Deferred acquisition costs 397 376
Investments 152 454
Internally developed software 92 97
Depreciation 67 57
Other 46 40
Total gross deferred tax liabilities 913 1,584
Net deferred tax asset $445 $70
If the Company determines that any of its deferred tax assets will not result in future tax benefits, a valuation
allowance must be established for the portion of these assets that are not expected to be realized.  The net change in
the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets was an increase of $2 million in 2018 relating to the Company’s
consolidated Brazilian subsidiary.  Based upon a review of the Company’s anticipated future taxable income, and also
including all other available evidence, both positive and negative, the Company’s management concluded that it is
more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets will be realized.
For tax return purposes, as of December 31, 2018, the Company had net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards in the
United States, Brazil, Canada and the United Kingdom.  The amount and timing of realizing the benefits of NOL
carryforwards depend on future taxable income and limitations imposed by tax laws.  Only the benefits of the United
Kingdom NOL carryforwards have been recognized in the consolidated financial statements and are included in net
deferred tax assets.  The NOL amounts by jurisdiction and year of expiration are as follows:

(in millions) Amount Year of expiration
United States $ 2 2035 - 2036
Brazil $ 19 None
Canada $ 1 2037 - 2038
United Kingdom $ 146 None
The Company recognized $41 million of tax expense resulting from deemed repatriation of foreign earnings as part of
the net charge of $129 million to record the effect of TCJA at enactment during December 2017. These undistributed
foreign earnings are intended to be permanently reinvested in those operations.

Provisional Tax Amounts

During the fourth quarter of 2017, the Company recorded provisional amounts for the tax imposed on accumulated
foreign earnings and partnership investments, as well as the amount due under the transition rule relating to the change
in discounting of claims incurred, based on information available at December 31, 2017. In 2018, the Company made
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amounts for taxes related to accumulated foreign earnings based upon final earnings from its foreign operations and
the proposed regulations issued by the U.S. Treasury. These minor adjustments were consistent with final regulations
issued by the U.S. Treasury in January 2019. The Company also made minor adjustments to the provisional amount
for taxes related to partnership investments based upon the latest available information associated with those
investments (Form K-1s) that were received in 2018.

In November 2018, the U.S. Treasury issued proposed regulations which would establish the interest rate and
discounting methodology to be used in determining the tax discount on claims and claim adjustment expense reserves
under TCJA. The proposed regulations significantly reduce the deferred tax assets and liabilities related to the
transition rule for discounting of reserves and reduced the estimated additional tax payments associated with the
transition rule from $70 million to $23 million per year over the eight years beginning in 2018 as discussed above.

The Company estimated the amounts payable related to the transition rules for discounting of loss reserves using the
regulations proposed by the U.S. Treasury during 2018. These amounts are subject to change once the final
regulations are issued, which is expected to occur in 2019.

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

The following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017:
(in millions) 2018 2017
Balance at January 1 $ 6 $13
Additions for tax positions of prior years 25 —
Reductions for tax positions of prior years — (1 )
Reductions based on tax positions related to current year — (6 )
Balance at December 31 $ 31 $6
Included in the balances at December 31, 2018 and 2017 were $29 million and $3 million, respectively, of
unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the annual effective tax rate.  Also included in the balances
at those dates were $2 million and $3 million, respectively, of tax positions for which the ultimate deductibility is
certain, but for which there is uncertainty about the timing of deductibility.  The timing of such deductibility could
affect the annual effective tax rate depending on the year of deduction and tax rate at the time.
The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in income taxes. 
During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company recognized approximately $(10) million,
$(33) million and $31 million in interest, respectively.  The Company had approximately $14 million and $25 million
accrued for the payment of interest at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
The IRS has completed examinations of the Company’s U.S. income tax returns for all years through 2014.  The
Company does not expect any significant changes to its liability for unrecognized tax benefits during the next twelve
months.
13.                                      SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE COMPENSATION
The Company has a share-based incentive compensation plan, The Travelers Companies, Inc. Amended and Restated
2014 Stock Incentive Plan (the 2014 Incentive Plan), the purposes of which are to align the interests of the Company’s
non-employee directors, executive officers and other employees with those of the Company’s shareholders and to
attract and retain personnel by providing incentives in the form of share-based awards.  The 2014 Incentive Plan
permits grants of nonqualified stock options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock,
restricted stock units, deferred stock, deferred stock units, performance awards and other share-based or
share-denominated awards with respect to the Company’s common stock. The Company has a policy of issuing new
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In connection with the adoption of the 2014 Incentive Plan, The Travelers Companies, Inc. Amended and Restated
2004 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (the 2004 Incentive Plan) was terminated, joining several other legacy
share-based incentive compensation plans that had been terminated in prior years (together, the legacy plans).
Outstanding grants were not affected by the termination of the legacy plans.  The 2014 Incentive Plan is currently the
only plan pursuant to which future stock-based awards may be granted.
The number of shares of the Company’s common stock initially authorized for grant under the 2014 Incentive Plan was
10 million shares.  In May 2017 and 2016, the Company’s shareholders authorized an additional 2.5 million and 4.4
million shares of the Company’s common stock, respectively, for grant under the 2014 Incentive Plan.  The following
are not counted towards the combined 16.9 million shares available and will be available for future grants under the
2014 Incentive Plan: (i) shares of common stock subject to awards that expire unexercised, that are forfeited,
terminated or canceled, that are settled in cash or other forms of property, or otherwise do not result in the issuance of
shares of common stock, in whole or in part; (ii) shares that are used to pay the exercise price of stock options and
shares used to pay withholding taxes on awards generally; and (iii) shares purchased by the Company on the open
market using cash option exercise proceeds; provided, however, that the increase in the number of shares of common
stock available for grant pursuant to such market purchases shall not be greater than the number that could be
repurchased at fair market value on the date of exercise of the stock option giving rise to such option proceeds.  In
addition, the 16.9 million shares authorized by shareholders for issuance under the 2014 Incentive Plan will be
increased by any shares subject to awards under the 2004 Incentive Plan that were outstanding as of May 27, 2014 and
subsequently expire, are forfeited, canceled, settled in cash or otherwise terminate without the issuance of shares.
The Company also has a compensation program for non-employee directors (the Director Compensation Program).
Under the Director Compensation Program, non-employee directors’ compensation consists of an annual retainer, a
deferred stock award, committee chair fees and a lead director fee.  Each non-employee director may choose to
receive all or a portion of his or her annual retainer, committee chair fee and lead director fee in the form of cash or
deferred stock units which vest upon grant.  The annual deferred stock awards vest in full one day prior to the date of
the Company’s annual meeting of shareholders occurring in the year following the year of the grant date, subject to
continued service. The deferred stock awards, including dividend equivalents, accumulate until distribution either in a
lump sum six months after termination of service as a director or, if the director so elects, in annual installments
beginning at least six months following termination of service as a director. The deferred stock units issued under the
Director Compensation Program are awarded under the 2014 Incentive Plan.
Stock Option Awards
Stock option awards granted to eligible officers and key employees have a ten-year term.  All stock options are
granted with an exercise price equal to the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. The
stock options granted generally vest upon meeting certain years of service criteria. Except as the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors may allow in the future, stock options cannot be sold or transferred by the
participant. Stock options outstanding under the 2014 Incentive Plan and the 2004 Incentive Plan generally vest three
years after grant date (cliff vest).
The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant by application of a variation of the Black-Scholes
option pricing model using the assumptions noted in the following table. The expected term of newly granted stock
options is the time to vest plus half the remaining time to expiration. This considers the vesting restriction and
represents an even pattern of exercise behavior over the remaining term. The expected volatility assumption is based
on the historical volatility of the Company’s common stock for the same period as the estimated option term generally
using the volatility of the week prior to the stock option grant.  The expected dividend is based upon the Company’s
current quarter dividend annualized and assumed to be constant over the expected option term. The risk-free interest
rate for each option is the interpolated market yield of a U.S. Treasury bill with a term comparable to the expected
option term for the same week used for measuring volatility.  The following table provides information about options
granted:
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(for the year ended December 31,) 2018 2017 2016
Assumptions used in estimating fair value of options on grant date

Expected term of stock options 6 years 6 years 5 – 6
years

Expected volatility of Company’s stock 14.94 % 16.50 % 15.14%
– 16.80%

Weighted average volatility 14.94 % 16.50 % 16.79 %

Expected annual dividend per share $2.88 $2.68 $2.44 –
$2.68

Risk-free rate 2.68 % 2.08 % 1.36% –
2.23%

Additional information
Weighted average grant-date fair value of options granted (per share) $20.13 $16.15 $13.29
Total intrinsic value of options exercised during the year (in millions) $67 $90 $167
A summary of stock option activity under the 2014 Incentive Plan and the legacy plans as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2018 is as follows:

Stock Options Number

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Weighted
Average
Contractual
Life
Remaining

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
($ in millions)

Outstanding, beginning of year 8,712,467 $ 97.45
Original grants 1,632,361 140.85
Exercised (1,229,850) 83.74
Forfeited or expired (120,622 ) 117.39
Outstanding, end of year 8,994,356 $ 106.93 6.2 years $ 149
Vested at end of year (1) 5,861,909 $ 99.28 5.3 years $ 134
Exercisable at end of year 3,889,013 $ 88.83 3.9 years $ 123
___________________________________________
(1)Represents awards for which the requisite service has been rendered, including those that are retirement eligible.
On February 5, 2019, the Company, under the 2014 Incentive Plan, granted 2,051,673 stock option awards with an
exercise price of $126.18 per share. The fair value attributable to the stock option awards on the date of grant was
$16.65 per share.
Restricted Stock Units, Deferred Stock Units and Performance Share Award Programs
The Company issues restricted stock unit awards to eligible officers and key employees under the Equity Awards
program established pursuant to the 2014 Incentive Plan.  A restricted stock unit represents the right to receive a share
of common stock.  These restricted stock unit awards are granted at market price, generally vest three years from the
date of grant, do not have voting rights and the underlying shares of common stock are not issued until the vesting
criteria is satisfied.  In addition, members of the Company’s Board of Directors can be issued deferred stock units from
(i) an annual award; (ii) deferred compensation (in lieu of cash retainer, committee chair fees and lead director fees);
and (iii) dividend equivalents earned on outstanding deferred compensation.
The Company also has a Performance Share Awards Program established pursuant to the 2004 Incentive Plan and
which continues pursuant to the 2014 Incentive Plan. Under the program, the Company may issue performance share
awards to certain employees of the Company who hold positions of Vice President (or its equivalent) or above. The
performance share awards provide the recipient the right to earn shares of the Company’s common stock based upon
the Company’s attainment of certain performance goals and the recipient meeting certain years of service criteria. The
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years of service criteria, generally three years for full vesting, subject to proration for certain termination conditions. 
If the performance period return on equity is below the minimum threshold, none of the performance shares will vest. 
If performance meets or exceeds the minimum performance threshold, a range of performance shares will vest (50%
to 150% for awards granted in 2017, 2018 and 2019), depending on the actual return on equity attained.
The fair value of restricted stock units, deferred stock units and performance shares is measured at the market price of
the Company stock at date of grant.  Under terms of the 2014 Incentive Plan, holders of deferred stock units and
performance shares may receive dividend equivalents.
The total fair value of shares that vested during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $135 million,
$166 million and $175 million, respectively.
A summary of restricted stock units, deferred stock units and performance share activity under the 2014 Incentive
Plan and the legacy plans as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018 is as follows:

Restricted and Deferred Stock
Units Performance Shares

Other Equity Instruments Number

Weighted
Average
Grant-Date
Fair Value

Number
Weighted Average
Grant-Date Fair
Value

Nonvested, beginning of year 1,286,970 $ 111.74 787,732 $ 112.40
Granted 559,807 139.20 319,408 140.85
Vested (554,640 ) (1) 114.77 (385,604)(2)106.06
Forfeited (75,461 ) 122.29 (68,593 ) 123.01
Performance-based adjustment — — 31,946 (3)126.29
Nonvested, end of year 1,216,676 (4) $ 122.34 684,889 $ 128.83
___________________________________________
(1)Represents awards for which the requisite service has been rendered.

(2)Reflects the number of performance shares attributable to the performance goals attained over the completedperformance period (three years) and for which service conditions have been met.

(3)Represents the current year change in estimated performance shares to reflect the attainment of performance goalsfor the awards that were granted in each of the years 2016 through 2018.

(4)
95,953 shares of restricted common stock were also issued outside of the 2014 Incentive Plan in 2017 in
connection with the acquisition of Simply Business, of which 92,995 shares remain unvested and are not included
in this table. See note 9.

In addition to the nonvested shares presented in the above table, there are related nonvested dividend equivalent
shares.  The number of nonvested dividend equivalent shares related to deferred stock units was 379 at the beginning
of the year and 329 at the end of the year and the number of nonvested dividend equivalent shares related to
performance shares was 26,584 at the beginning of the year and 24,876 at the end of the year. The dividend equivalent
shares are subject to the same vesting terms as the deferred stock units and performance shares.
On February 5, 2019, the Company, under the 2014 Incentive Plan, granted 929,391 common stock awards in the
form of restricted stock units, deferred stock units and performance share awards to participating officers,
non-employee directors and other key employees. The restricted stock units and deferred stock units totaled 557,637
shares while the performance share awards totaled 371,754 shares. The fair value per share attributable to the common
stock awards on the date of grant was $126.18.
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Share-Based Compensation Cost Recognition
The amount of compensation cost for awards subject to a service condition is based on the number of shares expected
to be issued and is recognized over the time period for which service is to be provided (requisite service period). 
Awards granted to retiree-eligible employees or to employees who become retiree-eligible before an award’s vesting
date are considered to have met the requisite service condition. The compensation cost for awards subject to a
performance condition is based upon the probable outcome of the performance condition, which on the grant date
reflects an estimate of attaining 100% of the performance shares granted.  The compensation cost reflects an estimated
annual forfeiture rate from 3.5% to 4.5% over the requisite service period of the awards. That estimate is revised if
subsequent information indicates that the actual number of instruments expected to vest is likely to differ from
previous estimates.  Compensation costs for awards are recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service
period.  For awards that have graded vesting terms, the compensation cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over
the requisite service period for each separate vesting portion of the award as if the award was, in substance, multiple
awards. The total compensation cost for all share-based incentive compensation awards recognized in earnings for the
years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $140 million, $136 million and $155 million, respectively.
Included in these amounts are compensation cost adjustments of $3 million, $3 million and $11 million, for the years
ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, that reflected the cost associated with the updated estimate of
performance shares due to attaining certain performance levels from the date of the initial grant of the performance
awards.  The related tax benefits recognized in earnings were $26 million, $45 million and $52 million for the years
ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
At December 31, 2018, there was $141 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to all nonvested
share-based incentive compensation awards. This includes stock options, restricted and deferred stock units and
performance shares granted under the 2014 Incentive Plan and restricted common stock issued in connection with a
2017 business acquisition. The unrecognized compensation cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average
period of 1.8 years.  Cash received from the exercise of employee stock options under share-based compensation plans
totaled $132 million and $173 million in 2018 and 2017, respectively. The tax benefit for tax deductions from
employee stock options exercised during 2018 and 2017 totaled $14 million and $31 million, respectively.
14.                                      PENSION PLANS, RETIREMENT BENEFITS AND SAVINGS PLANS
The Company sponsors a qualified non-contributory defined benefit pension plan (the qualified domestic pension
plan), which covers substantially all U.S. domestic employees and provides benefits under a cash balance formula,
except that certain limited groups of legacy participants are covered by a prior traditional final average pay formula. 
In addition, the Company sponsors a nonqualified defined benefit pension plan which covers certain
highly-compensated employees, pension plans for employees of its foreign subsidiaries, and a postretirement health
and life insurance benefit plan for employees satisfying certain age and service requirements and for certain retirees.
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Obligations and Funded Status
The following tables summarize the funded status, obligations and amounts recognized in the consolidated balance
sheet for the Company’s benefit plans. The Company uses a December 31 measurement date for its pension and
postretirement benefit plans.

(at and for the year ended December 31,  in millions)
Qualified Domestic
Pension Plan

Nonqualified and Foreign
Pension Plans Total

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Change in projected benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $3,679 $3,367 $ 230 $ 225 $3,909 $3,592
Benefits earned 126 112 7 7 133 119
Interest cost on benefit obligation 119 120 7 7 126 127
Actuarial (gain) loss (273 ) 258 (11 ) 1 (284 ) 259
Benefits paid (207 ) (178 ) (12 ) (9 ) (219 ) (187 )
Settlement — — — (11 ) — (11 )
Foreign currency exchange rate change — — (6 ) 10 (6 ) 10
Benefit obligation at end of year $3,444 $3,679 $ 215 $ 230 $3,659 $3,909
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $3,957 $3,387 $ 113 $ 106 $4,070 $3,493
Actual return on plan assets (179 ) 448 (1 ) 11 (180 ) 459
Company contributions 200 300 10 7 210 307
Benefits paid (207 ) (178 ) (12 ) (9 ) (219 ) (187 )
Settlement — — — (12 ) — (12 )
Foreign currency exchange rate change — — (7 ) 10 (7 ) 10
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 3,771 3,957 103 113 3,874 4,070
Funded status of plan at end of year $327 $278 $ (112 ) $ (117 ) $215 $161
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet
consist of:
Accrued over-funded benefit plan assets $ 327 $278 $ 4 $ 6 $331 $284
Accrued under-funded benefit plan liabilities — — (116 ) (123 ) (116 ) (123 )
Total $ 327 $278 $ (112 ) $ (117 ) $215 $161
Amounts recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive income consist of:
Net actuarial loss $1,113 $1,035 $ 36 $ 47 $1,149 $1,082
Prior service benefit (5 ) (6 ) 1 — (4 ) (6 )
Total $ 1,108 $1,029 $ 37 $ 47 $1,145 $1,076

197

Edgar Filing: PUBLIX SUPER MARKETS INC - Form 4

Explanation of Responses: 162



Table of Contents
THE TRAVELERS COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
14.                                      PENSION PLANS, RETIREMENT BENEFITS AND SAVINGS PLANS (Continued)

Postretirement
Benefit Plans

(at and for the year ended December 31, in millions) 2018 2017
Change in projected benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $225 $214
Benefits earned — —
Interest cost on benefit obligation 7 7
Actuarial (gain) loss (18 ) 13
Benefits paid (10 ) (10 )
Foreign currency exchange rate change (1 ) 1
Benefit obligation at end of year $203 $225
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $13 $14
Actual return on plan assets — —
Company contributions 9 9
Benefits paid (10 ) (10 )
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 12 13
Funded status of plan at end of year $(191) $(212)
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet consist of:
Accrued under-funded benefit plan liability $(191) $(212)
Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income consist of:
Net actuarial gain $(17 ) $—
Prior service benefit (25 ) (28 )
Total $(42 ) $(28 )
The total accumulated benefit obligation for the Company’s defined benefit pension plans was $3.53 billion and $3.77
billion at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The qualified domestic pension plan accounted for $3.32 billion
and $3.55 billion of the total accumulated benefit obligation at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, whereas
the nonqualified and foreign plans accounted for $0.21 billion and $0.22 billion of the total accumulated benefit
obligation at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
For pension plans with a projected benefit obligation in excess of plan assets, the aggregate projected benefit
obligation was $203 million and $183 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and the aggregate plan
assets were $87 million and $60 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. For pension plans with an
accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets, the aggregate accumulated benefit obligation was $195
million and $174 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and the aggregate plan assets were $87 million
and $60 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.  For postretirement benefit plans with an accumulated
benefit obligation in excess of plan assets, the aggregate accumulated benefit obligation was $203 million and $225
million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and the aggregate plan assets were $12 million and $13 million
at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
The $273 million actuarial gain experienced in 2018 for the qualified domestic pension plan was largely driven by the
increase in the assumed discount rate from the prior year that was used to determine the projected benefit obligation at
December 31, 2018. The $258 million actuarial loss experienced in 2017 for the qualified domestic pension plan was
largely driven by the decrease in the assumed discount rate from the prior year that was used to determine the
projected benefit obligation at December 31, 2017.
The Company has discretion regarding whether to provide additional funding and when to provide such funding to its
qualified domestic pension plan.  In 2018, 2017 and 2016, there were no required contributions to the qualified
domestic pension plan.  In 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company voluntarily made contributions totaling $200 million,
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during 2019, and the Company has not determined whether or not additional funding will be made during 2019. With
respect to the Company’s foreign pension plans, there are no significant required contributions in 2019.
The following table summarizes the components of net periodic benefit cost and other amounts recognized in other
comprehensive income related to the benefit plans.

Pension Plans Postretirement Benefit
Plans

(for the year ended December 31, in millions) 2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 2016
Net Periodic Benefit Cost:
Service cost $133 $119 $118 $ — $— $—
Non-service cost:
Interest cost on benefit obligation 126 127 122 7 7 8
Expected return on plan assets (264 ) (240 ) (230 ) — — —
Settlement — 3 1 — — —
Amortization of unrecognized:
Prior service benefit (1 ) (1 ) (1 ) (4 ) (4 ) (3 )
Net actuarial loss 91 85 66 — — —
Total non-service cost (benefit) (48 ) (26 ) (42 ) 3 3 5
Net periodic benefit cost 85 93 76 3 3 5
Other Changes in Benefit Plan Assets and Benefit Obligations
Recognized in Other Comprehensive Income:
Prior service benefit — — — — — —
Net actuarial loss (gain) 160 40 66 (18 ) 13 (17 )
Foreign currency exchange rate change (1 ) 2 (2 ) — (1 ) 1
Settlement — (2 ) (1 ) — — —
Amortization of prior service benefit 1 1 1 4 4 3
Amortization of net actuarial loss (91 ) (85 ) (66 ) — — —
Total other changes recognized in other comprehensive income 69 (44 ) (2 ) (14 ) 16 (13 )
Total other changes recognized in net periodic benefit cost and other
comprehensive income $154 $49 $74 $ (11 ) $ 19 $ (8 )

The following table indicates the line items in which the respective service costs and non-service costs are presented
in the consolidated statement of income for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.
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Pension Plans Postretirement Benefit
Plans

(for the year ended December 31, in millions) 2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 2016
Service Cost:
Net investment income $1 $— $— $ — $ — $ —
Claims and claim adjustment expenses 54 48 48 — $ — —
General and administrative expenses 78 71 70 — — —
Total service cost 133 119 118 — — —

Non-Service Cost:
Claims and claim adjustment expenses (19 ) (11 ) (18 ) 1 1 2
General and administrative expenses (29 ) (15 ) (24 ) 2 2 3
Total non-service cost (benefit) (48 ) (26 ) (42 ) 3 3 5
Net periodic benefit cost $85 $93 $76 $ 3 $ 3 $ 5

Assumptions
The following table summarizes assumptions used with regard to the Company’s qualified and nonqualified domestic
pension plans and the domestic postretirement benefit plans.
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(at and for the year ended December 31,) 2018 2017
Assumptions used to determine benefit obligations
Discount rate:
Qualified domestic pension plan 4.39 % 3.71 %
Nonqualified domestic pension plan 4.33 % 3.66 %
Domestic postretirement benefit plan 4.26 % 3.60 %
Cash balance interest crediting rate 4.01 % 4.01 %
Future compensation increase rate 4.00 % 4.00 %
Assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost
Discount rate:
Qualified domestic pension plan:
Service cost 3.87 % 4.52 %
Interest cost 3.34 % 3.55 %
Nonqualified domestic pension plan:
Service cost 3.73 % 4.24 %
Interest cost 3.26 % 3.43 %
Domestic postretirement benefit plan:
Interest cost 3.21 % 3.42 %
Expected long-term rate of return on assets:
Pension plan 7.00 % 7.00 %
Postretirement benefit plan 4.00 % 4.00 %
Assumed health care cost trend rates
Following year:
Medical (before age 65) 7.50 % 7.50 %
Medical (age 65 and older) 8.75 % 8.75 %
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (ultimate trend rate) 4.50 % 4.50 %
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate:
Medical (before age 65) 2026 2026
Medical (age 65 and older) 2026 2026
The discount rate assumption used to determine the benefit obligation is based on a yield-curve approach. Under this
approach, individual spot rates from the yield curve of a hypothetical portfolio of high quality fixed maturity corporate
bonds (rated Aa) available at the year-end valuation date, for which the timing and amount of cash outflows
correspond with the timing and amount of the estimated benefit payouts of the Company’s benefit plan, are applied to
expected future benefits payments in measuring the projected benefit obligation. The discount rate assumption used to
determine benefit obligations disclosed above represents the weighted average of the individual spot rates.
The discount rate assumption used to determine the net periodic benefit cost is the single weighted average discount
rate derived from the yield curve used to measure the benefit obligation at the beginning of the year.
In choosing the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, the Company selected the rate that was set as the
return objective by the Company’s Benefit Plans Investment Committee, which had considered the historical returns of
equity and fixed maturity markets in conjunction with prevailing economic and financial market conditions.
The assumptions made for the Company’s foreign pension and foreign postretirement benefit plans are not materially
different from those of the Company’s qualified domestic pension plan and the domestic postretirement benefit plan.
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Plan Assets
The qualified domestic pension plan assets are invested for the exclusive benefit of the plan participants and
beneficiaries and are intended, over time, to satisfy the benefit obligations under the plan. Risk tolerance is established
through consideration of plan liabilities, plan funded status and corporate financial position. The asset mix guidelines
have been established and are reviewed quarterly. These guidelines are intended to serve as tools to facilitate the
investment of plan assets to maximize long-term total return and the ongoing oversight of the plan’s investment
performance.  Investment risk is measured and monitored on an ongoing basis through daily and monthly investment
portfolio reviews, annual liability measurements and periodic asset/liability studies.
The Company’s overall investment strategy for the qualified domestic pension plan is to achieve a mix of
approximately 85% to 90% of investments for long-term growth and 10% to 15% for near-term benefit payments with
a diversification of asset types, fund strategies and fund managers.  The current target allocations for plan assets are
55% to 65% equity securities and 20% to 40% fixed income securities, with the remainder allocated to short-term
securities.  Equity securities primarily include investments in large, medium and small-cap companies primarily
located in the United States.  Fixed income securities include corporate bonds of companies from diversified
industries, mortgage-backed securities, U.S. Treasury securities and debt securities issued by foreign governments. 
Assets of the Company’s foreign pension plans are not significant.
Fair Value Measurement — Pension Plans and Other Postretirement Benefit Assets
For a discussion of the methods employed by the Company to measure the fair value of invested assets, see note 4. 
The following discussion of fair value measurements applies exclusively to the Company’s pension plans and other
postretirement benefit assets.
Fair value estimates for equity and bond mutual funds held by the pension plans reflect prices received from an
external pricing service that are based on observable market transactions.  These estimates are primarily included in
Level 1.
Short-term securities are carried at fair value which approximates cost plus accrued interest or amortized discount. 
The fair value or market value of these is periodically compared to this amortized cost and is based on significant
observable inputs as determined by an external pricing service.  Accordingly, the estimates of fair value for such
short-term securities, other than U.S. Treasury securities and money market mutual funds, provided by an external
pricing service are included in the amount disclosed in Level 2 of the hierarchy.  The estimated fair value of U.S.
Treasury securities and money market mutual funds is included in the amount disclosed in Level 1 as the estimates are
based on unadjusted market prices.
Fair Value Hierarchy — Pension Plans
The following tables present the level within the fair value hierarchy at which the financial assets of the Company’s
pension plans are measured on a recurring basis.
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(at December 31, 2018, in millions) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Invested assets:
Fixed maturities
Obligations of states, municipalities and political subdivisions $3 $— $3 $ —
Debt securities issued by foreign governments 27 — 27 —
Mortgage-backed securities, collateralized mortgage obligations and pass-through
securities 30 — 30 —

All other corporate bonds 712 — 712 —
Total fixed maturities 772 — 772 —
Mutual funds
Equity mutual funds 1,288 1,282 6 —
Bond mutual funds 760 757 3 —
Total mutual funds 2,048 2,039 9 —
Equity securities 783 783 — —
Other investments 1 — — 1
Cash and short-term securities
U.S. Treasury securities 30 30 — —
Other 240 19 221 —
Total cash and short-term securities 270 49 221 —
Total $3,874 $2,871 $1,002 $ 1
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(at December 31, 2017, in millions) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Invested assets:
Fixed maturities
Obligations of states, municipalities and political subdivisions $3 $— $ 3 $ —
Debt securities issued by foreign governments 16 — 16 —
Mortgage-backed securities, collateralized mortgage obligations and pass-through
securities 10 — 10 —

All other corporate bonds 514 — 514 —
Total fixed maturities 543 — 543 —
Mutual funds
Equity mutual funds 1,335 1,328 7 —
Bond mutual funds 822 819 3 —
Total mutual funds 2,157 2,147 10 —
Equity securities 883 882 1 —
Other investments 1 — — 1
Cash and short-term securities
U.S. Treasury securities 241 241 — —
Money market mutual funds 27 27 — —
Other 218 27 191 —
Total cash and short-term securities 486 295 191 —
Total $4,070 $3,324 $ 745 $ 1

Other Postretirement Benefit Plans
The Company’s overall investment strategy is to achieve a mix of approximately 35% to 65% of investments for
long-term growth and 35% to 60% for near-term insurance payments with a wide diversification of asset types, fund
strategies and fund managers.  The current target allocations for plan assets are 25% to 75% fixed income securities,
with the remainder allocated to short-term securities.  Fixed income securities include corporate bonds of companies
from diversified industries, mortgage-backed securities and U.S. Treasuries.
Fair Value — Other Postretirement Benefit Plans
The Company’s other postretirement benefit plans had financial assets of $12 million and $13 million at December 31,
2018 and 2017, respectively, which are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.  The assets are primarily corporate
bonds and short-term securities and categorized as level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.
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Estimated Future Benefit Payments
The following table presents the estimated benefits expected to be paid by the Company’s pension and postretirement
benefit plans for the next ten years (reflecting estimated future employee service).

Benefits Expected to be Paid

(in millions) Pension Plans Postretirement
Benefit Plans

2019 $ 239 $ 13
2020 246 14
2021 255 15
2022 260 15
2023 268 15
2024 through 2028 1,361 72
Savings Plan
The Company has a savings plan, The Travelers 401(k) Savings Plan (the Savings Plan), in which substantially all
U.S. domestic Company employees are eligible to participate. Under the Savings Plan, the Company matches
employee contributions up to 5% of eligible pay, with a maximum annual match of $6,500 which becomes 100%
vested after three years of service. The Company’s matching contribution is made in cash and invested according to the
employee’s current investment elections and can be reinvested into other investment options in accordance with the
terms of the Savings Plan. The Company’s non-U.S. employees participate in separate savings plans.  The total
expense related to all of the savings plans was $118 million, $119 million and $114 million for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
All common shares held by the Savings Plan are considered outstanding for basic and diluted EPS computations and
dividends paid on all shares are charged to retained earnings.
15.                                      LEASES
Rent expense was $185 million, $188 million and $197 million in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Future minimum annual rental payments under noncancellable operating leases for 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023
are $127 million, $105 million, $89 million, $61 million and $41 million, respectively, and $77 million for 2024 and
thereafter.  Future sublease rental income aggregating approximately $1 million will partially offset these
commitments.
16.                                      CONTINGENCIES, COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES
Contingencies
The major pending legal proceedings, other than ordinary routine litigation incidental to the business, to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party or to which any of the Company’s properties is subject are described
below.
Asbestos and Environmental Claims and Litigation
In the ordinary course of its insurance business, the Company has received and continues to receive claims for
insurance arising under policies issued by the Company asserting alleged injuries and damages from asbestos- and
environmental-related exposures that are the subject of related coverage litigation. The Company is defending
asbestos- and environmental-related litigation vigorously and believes that it has meritorious defenses; however, the
outcomes of these disputes are uncertain.  In this regard, the Company employs dedicated specialists and
comprehensive resolution strategies to manage asbestos and environmental loss exposure, including settling litigation
under appropriate circumstances.  Currently, it is not possible to predict legal outcomes and their impact on future loss
development for claims and litigation relating to asbestos and environmental claims. Any such development could be
affected by future court decisions and interpretations, as well as future changes, if any, in applicable
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legislation. Because of these uncertainties, additional liabilities may arise for amounts in excess of the Company’s
current insurance reserves. In addition, the Company’s estimate of ultimate claims and claim adjustment expenses may
change. These additional liabilities or changes in estimates, or a range of either, cannot now be reasonably estimated
and could result in income statement charges that could be material to the Company’s results of operations in future
periods.
Other Proceedings Not Arising Under Insurance Contracts or Reinsurance Agreements
The Company is involved in other lawsuits, including lawsuits alleging extra-contractual damages relating to
insurance contracts or reinsurance agreements, that do not arise under insurance contracts or reinsurance agreements. 
The legal costs associated with such lawsuits are expensed in the period in which the costs are incurred.  Based upon
currently available information, the Company does not believe it is reasonably possible that any such lawsuit or
related lawsuits would be material to the Company’s results of operations or would have a material adverse effect on
the Company’s financial position or liquidity.
Gain Contingency
On August 17, 2010, in a reinsurance dispute in New York state court captioned United States Fidelity & Guaranty
Company v. American Re-Insurance Company, et al., the trial court granted summary judgment for United States
Fidelity and Guaranty Company (USF&G), a subsidiary of the Company, and denied summary judgment for the
reinsurers. The Court of Appeals largely affirmed the entry of summary judgment, but remanded two discrete issues
for trial.

On November 7, 2016, the Company agreed to a settlement with one of the three defendants then remaining in this
dispute. The Company received payment under the settlement in the fourth quarter of 2016 and, as a result, recognized
a $126 million pre-tax ($82 million after-tax) gain in the fourth quarter, which was included in “other revenues” in the
consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2016. In connection with that settlement, the
reinsurance recoverable balance related to this case was reduced from approximately $238 million to approximately
$31 million in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. At March 31, 2017, the claim related to the remaining
defendants totaled $71 million, comprising the $31 million of reinsurance recoverable plus interest amounting to $40
million as of that date. The interest was treated for accounting purposes as a gain contingency in accordance with
FASB Topic 450, Contingencies, and accordingly was not recognized in the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.
On May 1, 2017, the Company agreed to a settlement of this dispute with the two remaining defendants, along with
the settlement of several other disputes with these same parties. As a result of the settlement of all of these matters, the
Company recorded an immaterial gain in “other revenues” in its consolidated statement of income for the three months
ended June 30, 2017, and the reinsurance recoverable of $31 million in the Company’s balance sheet was fully
satisfied.

Other Commitments and Guarantees
Commitments
Investment Commitments — The Company has unfunded commitments to private equity limited partnerships and real
estate partnerships in which it invests.  These commitments totaled $1.60 billion and $1.56 billion at December 31,
2018 and 2017, respectively.
Guarantees
In the ordinary course of selling businesses to third parties, the Company has agreed to indemnify purchasers for
losses arising out of breaches of representations and warranties with respect to the businesses being sold, covenants
and obligations of the Company and/or its subsidiaries and, in certain cases, obligations arising from certain
liabilities.  Such indemnification provisions generally are applicable from the closing date to the expiration of the
relevant statutes of limitations, although, in some cases, there may be agreed upon term limitations or no term
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limitations.  Certain of these contingent obligations are subject to deductibles which have to be incurred by the obligee
before the Company is obligated to make payments.  The maximum amount of the Company’s contingent obligation
for indemnifications related to the sale of businesses that are quantifiable was $358 million at December 31, 2018, of
which $2 million was recognized on the balance sheet at that date.
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The Company also has contingent obligations for guarantees related to certain investments, third-party loans related to
certain investments, certain insurance policy obligations of former insurance subsidiaries and various other
indemnifications.  The Company also provides standard indemnifications to service providers in the normal course of
business.  The indemnification clauses are often standard contractual terms.  The maximum amount of the Company’s
obligation for guarantees of certain investments and third-party loans related to certain investments that are
quantifiable was $45 million at December 31, 2018, approximately $23 million of which is indemnified by a third
party.  The maximum amount of the Company’s obligation related to the guarantee of certain insurance policy
obligations of a former insurance subsidiary was $480 million at December 31, 2018, all of which is indemnified by a
third party.
Certain of the guarantees and indemnifications described above have no stated or notional amounts or limitation to the
maximum potential future payments, and, accordingly, the Company is unable to provide an estimate of the maximum
potential payments for such arrangements.
17.                                      NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
There were no material noncash financing or investing activities during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and
2016.
18.                                      CONSOLIDATING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE TRAVELERS
COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
The following consolidating financial statements of the Company have been prepared pursuant to Rule 3-10 of
Regulation S-X. These consolidating financial statements have been prepared from the Company’s financial
information on the same basis of accounting as the consolidated financial statements. The Travelers Companies, Inc.
(excluding its subsidiaries, TRV) has fully and unconditionally guaranteed certain debt obligations of Travelers
Property Casualty Corp. (TPC) and Travelers Insurance Group Holdings, Inc. (TIGHI), which totaled $700 million at
December 31, 2018.

Prior to the merger of TPC and The St. Paul Companies, Inc. in 2004, TPC fully and unconditionally guaranteed the
payment of all principal, premiums, if any, and interest on certain debt obligations of its wholly-owned subsidiary,
TIGHI. Concurrent with the merger, TRV fully and unconditionally assumed such guarantee obligations of TPC. TPC
is deemed to have no assets or operations independent of TIGHI. Consolidating financial information for TIGHI has
not been presented herein because such financial information would be substantially the same as the financial
information provided for TPC.
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CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF INCOME (Unaudited)
For the year ended December 31, 2018 

(in millions) TPC Other
Subsidiaries TRV Eliminations Consolidated

Revenues
Premiums $18,508 $ 8,551 $— $ — $ 27,059
Net investment income 1,704 738 32 — 2,474
Fee income 432 — — — 432
Net realized investment gains (losses) (1) 118 9 (13 ) — 114
Other revenues 96 112 — (5 ) 203
Total revenues 20,858 9,410 19 (5 ) 30,282
Claims and expenses
Claims and claim adjustment expenses 12,344 5,947 — — 18,291
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs 2,972 1,409 — — 4,381
General and administrative expenses 2,947 1,335 20 (5 ) 4,297
Interest expense 48 — 304 — 352
Total claims and expenses 18,311 8,691 324 (5 ) 27,321
Income (loss) before income taxes 2,547 719 (305 ) — 2,961
Income tax expense (benefit) 437 115 (114 ) — 438
Net income of subsidiaries — — 2,714 (2,714 ) —
Net income $2,110 $ 604 $2,523 $ (2,714 ) $ 2,523
___________________________________________

(1)
Total other-than-temporary impairments (OTTI) for the year ended December 31, 2018, and the amounts
comprising total OTTI that were recognized in net realized investment gains (losses) and in other comprehensive
income (OCI), were as follows:

(in millions) TPC Other
Subsidiaries TRV Eliminations Consolidated

Total OTTI losses $(1) $ —$ —$ —$ (1 )
OTTI losses recognized in net realized investment gains (losses) $(1) $ —$ —$ —$ (1 )
OTTI losses recognized in OCI $— $ —$ —$ —$ —
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CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF INCOME (Unaudited)
For the year ended December 31, 2017 

(in millions) TPC Other
Subsidiaries TRV Eliminations Consolidated

Revenues
Premiums $17,562 $ 8,121 $— $ — $ 25,683
Net investment income 1,627 759 24 (13 ) 2,397
Fee income 447 — — — 447
Net realized investment gains (1) 19 131 66 — 216
Other revenues 101 68 — (10 ) 159
Total revenues 19,756 9,079 90 (23 ) 28,902
Claims and expenses
Claims and claim adjustment expenses 11,735 5,732 — — 17,467
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs 2,820 1,346 — — 4,166
General and administrative expenses 2,906 1,249 25 (10 ) 4,170
Interest expense 48 — 321 — 369
Total claims and expenses 17,509 8,327 346 (10 ) 26,172
Income (loss) before income taxes 2,247 752 (256 ) (13 ) 2,730
Income tax expense (benefit) 519 290 (130 ) (5 ) 674
Net income of subsidiaries — — 2,190 (2,190 ) —
Net income $1,728 $ 462 $2,064 $ (2,198 ) $ 2,056
___________________________________________

(1)
Total other-than-temporary impairments (OTTI) for the year ended December 31, 2017, and the amounts
comprising total OTTI that were recognized in net realized investment gains and in other comprehensive income
(OCI), were as follows:

(in millions) TPC Other
Subsidiaries TRV Eliminations Consolidated

Total OTTI losses $(4) $ (9 ) $ —$ —$ (13 )
OTTI losses recognized in net realized investment gains $(5) $ (9 ) $ —$ —$ (14 )
OTTI gains recognized in OCI $1 $ — $ —$ —$ 1
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CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF INCOME (Unaudited)
For the year ended December 31, 2016 

(in millions) TPC Other
Subsidiaries TRV Eliminations Consolidated

Revenues
Premiums $16,788 $ 7,746 $— $ — $ 24,534
Net investment income 1,569 720 13 — 2,302
Fee income 458 — — — 458
Net realized investment gains (losses) (1) 30 39 (1 ) — 68
Other revenues 248 36 — (21 ) 263
Total revenues 19,093 8,541 12 (21 ) 27,625
Claims and expenses
Claims and claim adjustment expenses 10,232 4,838 — — 15,070
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs 2,702 1,283 — — 3,985
General and administrative expenses 2,928 1,242 5 (21 ) 4,154
Interest expense 48 — 315 — 363
Total claims and expenses 15,910 7,363 320 (21 ) 23,572
Income (loss) before income taxes 3,183 1,178 (308 ) — 4,053
Income tax expense (benefit) 999 208 (168 ) — 1,039
Net income of subsidiaries — — 3,154 (3,154 ) —
Net income $2,184 $ 970 $3,014 $ (3,154 ) $ 3,014
___________________________________________

(1)
Total other-than-temporary impairments (OTTI) for the year ended December 31, 2016, and the amounts
comprising total OTTI that were recognized in net realized investment gains (losses) and in other comprehensive
income (OCI), were as follows:

(in millions) TPC Other
Subsidiaries TRV Eliminations Consolidated

Total OTTI losses $(19) $ (20 ) $ (1 ) $ —$ (40 )
OTTI losses recognized in net realized investment gains (losses) $(13) $ (15 ) $ (1 ) $ —$ (29 )
OTTI losses recognized in OCI $(6 ) $ (5 ) $— $ —$ (11 )
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CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Unaudited)
For the year ended December 31, 2018 

(in millions) TPC Other
SubsidiariesTRV EliminationsConsolidated

Net income $2,110 $ 604 $2,523 $ (2,714 ) $ 2,523
Other comprehensive loss:
Changes in net unrealized gains on investment securities:
Having no credit losses recognized in the consolidated
statement of income (1,028 ) (461 ) — — (1,489 )

Having credit losses recognized in the consolidated statement
of income (20 ) (7 ) — — (27 )

Net changes in benefit plan assets and obligations 1 (4 ) (53 ) — (56 )
Net changes in unrealized foreign currency translation (144 ) (103 ) — — (247 )
Other comprehensive loss before income taxes and other
comprehensive loss of subsidiaries (1,191 ) (575 ) (53 ) — (1,819 )

Income tax benefit (231 ) (101 ) (17 ) — (349 )
Other comprehensive loss, net of taxes, before other
comprehensive loss of subsidiaries (960 ) (474 ) (36 ) — (1,470 )

Other comprehensive loss of subsidiaries — — (1,434 ) 1,434 —
Other comprehensive loss (960 ) (474 ) (1,470 ) 1,434 (1,470 )
Comprehensive income $1,150 $ 130 $1,053 $ (1,280 ) $ 1,053
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CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Unaudited)
For the year ended December 31, 2017 

(in millions) TPC Other
SubsidiariesTRV EliminationsConsolidated

Net income $1,728 $ 462 $2,064 $ (2,198 ) $ 2,056
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Changes in net unrealized gains on investment securities:
Having no credit losses recognized in the consolidated
statement of income 313 25 (44 ) — 294

Having credit losses recognized in the consolidated statement
of income 6 2 — — 8

Net changes in benefit plan assets and obligations (1 ) 8 22 — 29
Net changes in unrealized foreign currency translation 83 108 — — 191
Other comprehensive income (loss) before income taxes and
other comprehensive income of subsidiaries 401 143 (22 ) — 522

Income tax expense 98 10 2 — 110
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes, before other
comprehensive income of subsidiaries 303 133 (24 ) — 412

Other comprehensive income of subsidiaries — — 436 (436 ) —
Other comprehensive income 303 133 412 (436 ) 412
Comprehensive income $2,031 $ 595 $2,476 $ (2,634 ) $ 2,468
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CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Unaudited)
For the year ended December 31, 2016 

(in millions) TPC Other
SubsidiariesTRV EliminationsConsolidated

Net income $2,184 $ 970 $3,014 $ (3,154 ) $ 3,014
Other comprehensive loss:
Changes in net unrealized gains on investment securities:
Having no credit losses recognized in the consolidated
statement of income (696 ) (198 ) 11 — (883 )

Having credit losses recognized in the consolidated statement
of income 11 10 — — 21

Net changes in benefit plan assets and obligations 25 11 (20 ) — 16
Net changes in unrealized foreign currency translation 73 (114 ) — — (41 )
Other comprehensive loss before income taxes and other
comprehensive loss of subsidiaries (587 ) (291 ) (9 ) — (887 )

Income tax benefit (222 ) (66 ) (1 ) — (289 )
Other comprehensive loss, net of taxes, before other
comprehensive loss of subsidiaries (365 ) (225 ) (8 ) — (598 )

Other comprehensive loss of subsidiaries — — (590 ) 590 —
Other comprehensive loss (365 ) (225 ) (598 ) 590 (598 )
Comprehensive income $1,819 $ 745 $2,416 $ (2,564 ) $ 2,416
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CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET (Unaudited)
At December 31, 2018 

(in millions) TPC Other
Subsidiaries TRV Eliminations Consolidated

Assets
Fixed maturities, available for sale, at fair value
(amortized cost $63,601) $43,683 $ 19,697 $84 $— $ 63,464

Equity securities, at fair value (cost $382) 105 92 171 — 368
Real estate investments 2 902 — — 904
Short-term securities 1,855 759 1,371 — 3,985
Other investments 2,746 810 1 — 3,557
Total investments 48,391 22,260 1,627 — 72,278
Cash 181 192 — — 373
Investment income accrued 434 187 3 — 624
Premiums receivable 5,089 2,417 — — 7,506
Reinsurance recoverables 5,904 2,466 — — 8,370
Ceded unearned premiums 522 56 — — 578
Deferred acquisition costs 1,930 190 — — 2,120
Deferred taxes 167 302 (24 ) — 445
Contractholder receivables 3,867 918 — — 4,785
Goodwill 2,578 1,368 — (9 ) 3,937
Other intangible assets 224 121 — — 345
Investment in subsidiaries — — 26,993 (26,993 ) —
Other assets 2,220 15 669 (32 ) 2,872
Total assets $71,507 $ 30,492 $29,268 $ (27,034 ) $ 104,233
Liabilities
Claims and claim adjustment expense reserves $34,093 $ 16,575 $— $— $ 50,668
Unearned premium reserves 9,414 4,141 — — 13,555
Contractholder payables 3,867 918 — — 4,785
Payables for reinsurance premiums 169 120 — — 289
Debt 693 32 5,871 (32 ) 6,564
Other liabilities 4,133 849 496 — 5,478
Total liabilities 52,369 22,635 6,367 (32 ) 81,339
Shareholders’ equity
Common stock (1,750.0 shares authorized; 263.7 shares
issued and 263.6 shares outstanding) — 401 23,144 (401 ) 23,144

Additional paid-in capital 11,634 7,023 — (18,657 ) —
Retained earnings 8,065 879 35,211 (8,951 ) 35,204
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (561 ) (446 ) (1,859 ) 1,007 (1,859 )
Treasury stock, at cost (510.9 shares) — — (33,595 ) — (33,595 )
Total shareholders’ equity 19,138 7,857 22,901 (27,002 ) 22,894
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $71,507 $ 30,492 $29,268 $ (27,034 ) $ 104,233
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CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET (Unaudited)
At December 31, 2017 

(in millions) TPC Other
Subsidiaries TRV Eliminations Consolidated

Assets
Fixed maturities, available for sale, at fair value
(amortized cost $61,316) $43,240 $ 19,372 $82 $— $ 62,694

Equity securities, available for sale, at fair value (cost
$440) 161 111 181 — 453

Real estate investments 54 878 — — 932
Short-term securities 2,751 914 1,230 — 4,895
Other investments 2,673 854 1 — 3,528
Total investments 48,879 22,129 1,494 — 72,502
Cash 157 187 — — 344
Investment income accrued 418 183 5 — 606
Premiums receivable 4,852 2,292 — — 7,144
Reinsurance recoverables 5,842 2,467 — — 8,309
Ceded unearned premiums 493 58 — — 551
Deferred acquisition costs 1,835 190 — — 2,025
Deferred taxes (89 ) 173 (14 ) — 70
Contractholder receivables 3,854 921 — — 4,775
Goodwill 2,592 1,368 — (9 ) 3,951
Other intangible assets 202 140 — — 342
Investment in subsidiaries — — 27,946 (27,946 ) —
Other assets 2,181 (3 ) 700 (14 ) 2,864
Total assets $71,216 $ 30,105 $30,131 $ (27,969 ) $ 103,483
Liabilities
Claims and claim adjustment expense reserves $33,386 $ 16,264 $— $— $ 49,650
Unearned premium reserves 8,957 3,958 — — 12,915
Contractholder payables 3,854 921 — — 4,775
Payables for reinsurance premiums 165 109 — — 274
Debt 693 14 5,878 (14 ) 6,571
Other liabilities 4,161 882 524 — 5,567
Total liabilities 51,216 22,148 6,402 (14 ) 79,752
Shareholders’ equity
Common stock (1,750.0 shares authorized; 271.5 shares
issued and 271.4 shares outstanding) — 390 22,886 (390 ) 22,886

Additional paid-in capital 11,634 6,972 — (18,606 ) —
Retained earnings 8,036 594 33,460 (8,628 ) 33,462
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 330 1 (343 ) (331 ) (343 )
Treasury stock, at cost (500.9 shares) — — (32,274 ) — (32,274 )
Total shareholders’ equity 20,000 7,957 23,729 (27,955 ) 23,731
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $71,216 $ 30,105 $30,131 $ (27,969 ) $ 103,483
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CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)
For the year ended December 31, 2018 

(in millions) TPC Other
SubsidiariesTRV EliminationsConsolidated

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $2,110 $ 604 $2,523 $ (2,714 ) $ 2,523
Net adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided
by operating activities 1,141 605 (363 ) 474 1,857

Net cash provided by operating activities 3,251 1,209 2,160 (2,240 ) 4,380
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from maturities of fixed maturities 5,158 1,906 22 — 7,086
Proceeds from sales of investments:
Fixed maturities 2,449 1,096 1 — 3,546
Equity securities 65 107 6 — 178
Real estate investments 66 8 — — 74
Other investments 403 108 — — 511
Purchases of investments:
Fixed maturities (9,404 ) (4,096 ) (26 ) — (13,526 )
Equity securities (8 ) (99 ) (10 ) — (117 )
Real estate investments (1 ) (73 ) — — (74 )
Other investments (454 ) (83 ) — — (537 )
Net sales (purchases) of short-term securities 895 154 (141 ) — 908
Securities transactions in course of settlement (80 ) 24 — — (56 )
Acquisition, net of cash acquired — (4 ) — — (4 )
Other (310 ) (8 ) — — (318 )
Net cash used in investing activities (1,221 ) (960 ) (148 ) — (2,329 )
Cash flows from financing activities
Treasury stock acquired — share repurchase authorization — — (1,270 ) — (1,270 )
Treasury stock acquired — net employee share-based
compensation — — (51 ) — (51 )

Dividends paid to shareholders — — (814 ) — (814 )
Payment of debt — — (600 ) — (600 )
Issuance of debt — 18 591 (18 ) 591
Issuance of common stock — employee share options — — 132 — 132
Dividends paid to parent company (2,003 ) (255 ) — 2,258 —
Net cash used in financing activities (2,003 ) (237 ) (2,012 ) 2,240 (2,012 )
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (3 ) (7 ) — — (10 )
Net increase in cash 24 5 — — 29
Cash at beginning of year 157 187 — — 344
Cash at end of year $181 $ 192 $— $ — $ 373
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Income taxes paid (received) $437 $ 254 $(283 ) $ — $ 408
Interest paid $47 $ — $300 $ — $ 347
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18.                                      CONSOLIDATING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE TRAVELERS
COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)
For the year ended December 31, 2017 

(in millions) TPC Other
SubsidiariesTRV EliminationsConsolidated

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $1,728 $ 462 $2,064 $ (2,198 ) $ 2,056
Net adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided
by operating activities 1,500 701 (32 ) (77 ) 2,092

Net cash provided by operating activities 3,228 1,163 2,032 (2,275 ) 4,148
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from maturities of fixed maturities 6,576 2,168 6 — 8,750
Proceeds from sales of investments:
Fixed maturities 1,007 846 1 — 1,854
Equity securities 97 414 254 — 765
Real estate investments — 23 — — 23
Other investments 357 124 — (13 ) 468
Purchases of investments:
Fixed maturities (8,513 ) (3,697 ) (40 ) — (12,250 )
Equity securities (68 ) (133 ) (258 ) — (459 )
Real estate investments (1 ) (58 ) — — (59 )
Other investments (444 ) (97 ) — — (541 )
Net sales (purchases) of short-term securities (303 ) (120 ) 397 — (26 )
Securities transactions in course of settlement (55 ) 5 3 — (47 )
Acquisition, net of cash acquired — 25 (477 ) 13 (439 )
Other (244 ) 3 — — (241 )
Net cash used in investing activities (1,591 ) (497 ) (114 ) — (2,202 )
Cash flows from financing activities
Treasury stock acquired — share repurchase authorization — — (1,378 ) — (1,378 )
Treasury stock acquired — net employee share-based
compensation — — (62 ) — (62 )

Dividends paid to shareholders — — (785 ) — (785 )
Payment of debt — — (657 ) — (657 )
Issuance of debt — 14 789 (14 ) 789
Issuance of common stock — employee share options — — 173 — 173
Dividends paid to parent company (1,624 ) (665 ) — 2,289 —
Net cash used in financing activities (1,624 ) (651 ) (1,920 ) 2,275 (1,920 )
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 3 8 — — 11
Net increase (decrease) in cash 16 23 (2 ) — 37
Cash at beginning of year 141 164 2 — 307
Cash at end of year $157 $ 187 $— $ — $ 344
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Income taxes paid (received) $481 $ 206 $(173 ) $ — $ 514
Interest paid $47 $ — $320 $ — $ 367
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18.                                      CONSOLIDATING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE TRAVELERS
COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)
For the year ended December 31, 2016 

(in millions) TPC Other
SubsidiariesTRV EliminationsConsolidated

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $2,184 $ 970 $3,014 $ (3,154 ) $ 3,014
Net adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided
by operating activities 1,282 139 (122 ) 156 1,455

Net cash provided by operating activities 3,466 1,109 2,892 (2,998 ) 4,469
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from maturities of fixed maturities 6,589 2,380 6 — 8,975
Proceeds from sales of investments:
Fixed maturities 768 647 2 — 1,417
Equity securities 47 45 — — 92
Real estate investments — 69 — — 69
Other investments 386 180 — — 566
Purchases of investments:
Fixed maturities (7,921 ) (3,676 ) (12 ) — (11,609 )
Equity securities (6 ) (42 ) (3 ) — (51 )
Real estate investments (1 ) (47 ) — — (48 )
Other investments (453 ) (127 ) — — (580 )
Net sales (purchases) of short-term securities (501 ) 383 (81 ) — (199 )
Securities transactions in course of settlement 12 (32 ) (1 ) — (21 )
Other (331 ) (10 ) 3 — (338 )
Net cash used in investing activities (1,411 ) (230 ) (86 ) — (1,727 )
Cash flows from financing activities
Treasury stock acquired — share repurchase authorization — — (2,400 ) — (2,400 )
Treasury stock acquired — net employee share-based
compensation — — (72 ) — (72 )

Dividends paid to shareholders — — (757 ) — (757 )
Payment of debt — — (400 ) — (400 )
Issuance of debt — — 491 — 491
Issuance of common stock — employee share options — — 332 — 332
Dividends paid to parent company (2,140 ) (858 ) — 2,998 —
Net cash used in financing activities (2,140 ) (858 ) (2,806 ) 2,998 (2,806 )
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 1 (10 ) — — (9 )
Net increase (decrease) in cash (84 ) 11 — — (73 )
Cash at beginning of year 225 153 2 — 380
Cash at end of year $141 $ 164 $2 $ — $ 307
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Income taxes paid (received) $737 $ 287 $(132 ) $ — $ 892
Interest paid $47 $ — $311 $ — $ 358
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19.                                      SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (Unaudited)

2018 (in millions, except per share amounts) First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter Total

Total revenues $7,286 $7,477 $7,723 $7,796 $30,282
Total expenses 6,508 6,846 6,917 7,050 27,321
Income before income taxes 778 631 806 746 2,961
Income tax expense 109 107 97 125 438
Net income $669 $524 $709 $621 $2,523
Net income per share (1):
Basic $2.45 $1.93 $2.65 $2.33 $9.37
Diluted 2.42 1.92 2.62 2.32 9.28

2017 (in millions, except per share amounts) First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter Total

Total revenues $6,942 $7,184 $7,325 $7,451 $28,902
Total expenses 6,182 6,394 7,005 6,591 26,172
Income before income taxes 760 790 320 860 2,730
Income tax expense (2) 143 195 27 309 674
Net income $617 $595 $293 $551 $2,056
Net income per share (1):
Basic $2.19 $2.13 $1.06 $2.00 $7.39
Diluted 2.17 2.11 1.05 1.98 7.33
___________________________________________

(1)Due to the use of an average number of shares for each quarter, the sum of the quarterly earnings per share may notequal the total earnings per share for the full year.

(2)

Income tax expense for the fourth quarter and full year of 2017 included a net charge of $129 million to reflect the
change in tax laws and tax rates enacted in the U.S. on December 22, 2017 as part of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of
2017, resulting primarily from revaluing the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities and the tax imposed on
accumulated foreign earnings.
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Item 9.    CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not Applicable.
Item 9A.    CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as that term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act)) that are designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed in the Company’s reports under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to the Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. Any controls and procedures, no matter how
well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. The
Company’s management, with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
has evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of
December 31, 2018.  Based upon that evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that, as of December 31, 2018, the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures were effective to accomplish their objectives at the reasonable assurance level.

In addition, there was no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as that term is defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2018
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting.

The Company regularly seeks to identify, develop and implement improvements to its technology systems and
business processes, some of which may affect its internal control over financial reporting. These changes may include
such activities as implementing new, more efficient systems, updating existing systems or platforms, automating
manual processes or utilizing technology developed by third parties. These systems changes are often phased in over
multiple periods in order to limit the implementation risk in any one period, and as each change is implemented the
Company monitors its effectiveness as part of its internal control over financial reporting.
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Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurances
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the
Company in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The Company’s accounting policies and
internal controls over financial reporting, established and maintained by management, are under the general oversight
of the Company’s Audit Committee.

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

•pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions anddispositions of the assets of the Company;

•
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements
in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of the Company’s management and directors; and

•provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or dispositionof assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

Management has assessed the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018. The
standard measures adopted by management in making its evaluation are the measures in the Internal Control ‑
Integrated Framework (2013) published by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Based upon its assessment, management has concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
was effective at December 31, 2018, and that there were no material weaknesses in the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting as of that date.

KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, which has audited and reported on the consolidated
financial statements contained in this Form 10-K, has issued its report on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting which follows this report.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors
The Travelers Companies, Inc.:

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited The Travelers Companies, Inc. and subsidiaries’ (the Company) internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Company
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based
on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheet of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the related
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of
the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes and financial statement schedules as
listed in the index to consolidated financial statements and schedules (collectively, the consolidated financial
statements), and our report dated February 14, 2019 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial
statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered
with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit
also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
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a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.
/s/ KPMG LLP
KPMG LLP
New York, New York
February 14, 2019
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Item 9B.    OTHER INFORMATION
Executive Ownership and Sales. All of the Company’s executive officers are subject to the Company’s executive stock
ownership policy. For a summary of this policy as currently in effect, see “Compensation Discussion and Analysis -
Stock Ownership Guidelines, Anti-Hedging and Pledging Policies, and Other Trading Restrictions” in the Company’s
proxy statement filed with the SEC on April 6, 2018. From time to time, some of the Company’s executives may
determine that it is advisable to diversify their investments for personal financial planning reasons, or may seek
liquidity for other reasons, and may, in compliance with the stock ownership policy, sell shares of common stock of
the Company on the open market, in private transactions or to the Company. To effect such sales, from time to time,
some of the Company’s executives may enter into trading plans designed to comply with the Company’s Securities
Trading Policy and the provisions of Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The trading plans will
not reduce any of the executives’ ownership of the Company’s shares below the applicable executive stock ownership
guidelines. The Company does not undertake any obligation to report Rule 10b5-1 plans that may be adopted by any
employee or director of the Company in the future, or to report any modifications or termination of any publicly
announced plan.

PART III
Item 10.    DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Executive Officers of the Company
Set forth below is information concerning the Company’s executive officers and any person identified to become an
executive officer as of February 14, 2019.
Name Age Office
Alan D. Schnitzer 53 Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer
Jay S. Benet 66 Vice Chairman
William H. Heyman 70 Vice Chairman and Chief Investment Officer
Avrohom J. Kess 50 Vice Chairman and Chief Legal Officer
Daniel S. Frey 54 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Diane D. Bengston 63 Executive Vice President and Chief Enterprise Human Resources Officer
Andy F. Bessette 65 Executive Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer
Michael F. Klein 51 Executive Vice President and President, Personal Insurance
Thomas M. Kunkel 60 Executive Vice President and President, Bond & Specialty Insurance

Mojgan M. Lefebvre 53 Executive Vice President and Chief Information Officer, Enterprise Operations and
eBusiness

Maria Olivo 54 Executive Vice President, Strategic Development and President, International
Gregory C.
Toczydlowski 52 Executive Vice President and President, Business Insurance

Alan D. Schnitzer, 53, has been Chairman of the Board of Directors since August 2017 and Chief Executive Officer
and Director since December 2015. He previously served as Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Business
and International Insurance from July 2014.  Mr. Schnitzer was Vice Chairman - Financial, Professional &
International Insurance and Field Management; Chief Legal Officer from May 2012 until July 2014 and Vice
Chairman and Chief Legal Officer and Executive Vice President - Financial, Professional and International Insurance
from May 2008 until May 2012. He was Vice Chairman and Chief Legal Officer from April 2007 until May 2008.
Prior to joining the Company, he was a partner at the law firm of Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP.
Jay S. Benet, 66, has been Vice Chairman since September 2018. Prior to that, he was Vice Chairman and Chief
Financial Officer since August 2005. He previously served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of
the Company from April 2004, and held the same position at Travelers Property Casualty Corp. from February 2002.
Mr. Benet was the worldwide head of financial planning, analysis and reporting at Citigroup from March 2001 until
January 2002, and Chief Financial Officer for Citigroup’s Global Consumer Europe, Middle East and Africa unit from
April 2000 until March 2001. Previously, he spent ten years in various positions with Travelers Life & Annuity,
including Chief Financial Officer of Travelers Life & Annuity and Executive Vice President, Group Annuity. Prior to
joining Travelers Life & Annuity, Mr. Benet was a partner of Coopers & Lybrand (now PricewaterhouseCoopers).
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William H. Heyman, 70, has been Vice Chairman and Chief Investment Officer since May 2005. He previously
served as Executive Vice President and Chief Investment Officer from May 2002. Mr. Heyman held various positions
with Citigroup from 1995 until 2002, including the position of chairman of Citigroup Investments from 2000 until
2002. Prior to joining Citigroup in 1995, Mr. Heyman was, successively: a managing director of Salomon Brothers;
Director of the Division of Market Regulation of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission; and a managing
director of Smith Barney.
Avrohom J. Kess, 50, has been Vice Chairman and Chief Legal Officer since December 2016. Prior to that, Mr. Kess
was a partner, member of the Corporate Department and Head of the Public Company Advisory Practice at the law
firm of Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP, which he joined in 1995.
Daniel S. Frey, 54, has been Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since August 2018. Mr. Frey has
held various financial management roles since joining a predecessor to the Company in 2003, including Senior Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer, Personal Insurance from September 2014 to August 2018, Senior Vice
President Finance, Business Insurance from August 2010 to September 2014 and Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer, Claim Services from June 2006 to August 2010. Prior to that, Mr. Frey held the position of Chief
Financial Officer at Spalding Sports Worldwide from 1999 to 2003 and held various financial management positions
at Duracell International, Inc. from 1994 to 1999. Mr. Frey began his career at Deloitte in 1986.
Diane D. Bengston, 63, has been Executive Vice President and Chief Enterprise Human Resources Officer since
March 2018. Prior to that, she was Executive Vice President, Enterprise Human Resources from October 2016. Ms.
Bengston previously held various management positions since 1979 with the Company and a predecessor, including
leading Enterprise Diversity and Inclusion and Talent Management.

Andy F. Bessette, 65, has been Executive Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer since January 2002. Mr.
Bessette previously held various management positions with predecessors of the Company since 1980, including Vice
President, Corporate Real Estate and Services at Travelers Property Casualty Corp.
Michael F. Klein, 51, has been Executive Vice President and President, Personal Insurance, and Head of Enterprise
Business Intelligence & Analytics since May 2016. He previously served as Executive Vice President and President,
Personal Insurance from July 2015, Executive Vice President and Co-President, Business Insurance from July 2014,
Executive Vice President, Middle Market from November 2012, President of Middle Market from March 2010,
President of Commercial Accounts from September 2007, and Senior Vice President, Industry and Product Group
from June 2007. Prior to that, Mr. Klein held various positions with the Company since 1990.
Thomas M. Kunkel, 60, has been Executive Vice President and President of Bond & Specialty Insurance since May
2015. He previously served as President of the Bond & Financial Products organization from 2005. Prior to that, Mr.
Kunkel held various positions with the Company or its predecessors since 1984, including Regional Chief
Underwriting Officer for Bond's Construction Surety business, head of Bond's field management organization, and
head of Bond's Commercial Surety business.
Mojgan M. Lefebvre, 53, has been Executive Vice President and Chief Information Officer, Enterprise Operations and
eBusiness since joining the Company in September 2018. Prior to that, Ms. Lefebvre held various information
technology roles at Liberty Mutual, where she was most recently Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer
for the Global Risk Solutions business, from 2010 to 2018, at bioMerieux from 2007 to 2010 and at TeleTech
Holdings from 2004 to 2007.
Maria Olivo, 54, has been Executive Vice President, Strategic Development and President, International since October
2018. Prior to that, she was Executive Vice President, Strategic Development and Corporate Treasurer since July
2010. She previously served as Executive Vice President and Treasurer from June 2009 and Executive Vice President,
Market Development from October 2007.  Prior to that Ms. Olivo held various positions with the Company or its
predecessors since 2002, including leading Corporate Development, Investor Relations and Corporate
Communications.  Ms. Olivo was deputy head of Strategic Investments at Swiss Re Capital Partners from April 2000
until June 2002.  Prior to joining Swiss Re Capital Partners, she was a director in Salomon Smith Barney’s Investment
Bank.
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Gregory C. Toczydlowski, 52, has been Executive Vice President and President of Business Insurance since June
2016. He previously served as Executive Vice President and President, Small Commercial and Business Insurance
Technology and Operations from July 2015 and Executive Vice President and President of Personal Insurance from
July 2009. Prior to that, Mr. Toczydlowski held various positions with the Company or its predecessors since 1990,
including Chief Operating Officer of Personal Insurance and Chief Financial Officer for the independent agency
distribution channel within Personal Insurance.
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Code of Ethics
The Company has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (Code of Ethics) that applies to all employees,
including executive officers, and to directors. The Code of Ethics is available on the Corporate Governance page of
the Company’s website at www.travelers.com. If the Company ever were to amend or waive any provision of its Code
of Ethics that applies to the Company’s principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting
officer or any person performing similar functions, the Company intends to satisfy its disclosure obligations, if any,
with respect to any such waiver or amendment by posting such information on its website set forth above rather than
by filing a Current Report on Form 8-K.

Other
The following sections of the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement relating to its 2019 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders, which will be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after the end of the Company’s fiscal year on
December 31, 2018 (the Proxy Statement), are incorporated herein by reference: “Nominees for Election of Directors,”
“Governance of Your Company - Specific Considerations Regarding 2019 Nominees,” “Governance of Your Company -
Committees of the Board and Meetings - Audit Committee” and “Share Ownership Information - Section 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.”

Item 11.    EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The following sections of the Proxy Statement are incorporated herein by reference: “Compensation Discussion and
Analysis,” “Compensation Committee Report,” “Summary Compensation Table,” “Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2018,”
“Narrative Supplement to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2018,” “Option Exercises
and Stock Vested in 2018,” “Outstanding Equity Awards at December 31, 2018,” “Post-Employment Compensation,”
“Potential Payments to Named Executive Officers Upon Termination of Employment or Change in Control,”
“Non-Employee Director Compensation,” “Governance of Your Company - Risk Management and Compensation” and
“CEO Pay Ratio.”
Item 12.    SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS
The “Share Ownership Information - 5% Owners” and “Share Ownership Information - Directors and Executive Officers”
sections of the Proxy Statement are incorporated herein by reference.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION
The following table sets forth information as of December 31, 2018 regarding the Company’s equity compensation
plans. The only plan pursuant to which the Company may currently make additional equity grants is The Travelers
Companies, Inc. Amended and Restated 2014 Stock Incentive Plan (the 2014 Incentive Plan).

Plan Category

Number of
securities to
be
issued upon
exercise
of
outstanding
options,
warrants
and rights
(a)

Weighted average
exercise price of
outstanding
options,
warrants and
rights
(b)

Number of
securities
remaining
available for
future
issuance
under equity
compensation
plans
(excluding
securities
reflected in
column (a))
(c)

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders(1) 12,070,725 (2)$106.83 per share (3)6,690,568 (4)
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(1)

In addition to the 2014 Incentive Plan, also included are The Travelers Companies, Inc. Amended and Restated
2004 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (the 2004 Incentive Plan), which was replaced by the 2014 Incentive Plan,
and certain plans for employees in the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland and The Travelers Deferred
Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors. Shares delivered under these plans are issued pursuant to the
2004 Incentive Plan and the 2014 Incentive Plan.

(2)

Total includes (i) 9,069,162 stock options, (ii) 1,045,050 performance shares and dividend equivalents accrued
thereon (assuming issuance of 100% of performance shares granted), (iii) 1,648,048 restricted stock units, (iv)
281,495 director deferred stock awards and dividend equivalents accrued thereon and (v) 26,970 common stock
units credited to the deferred compensation accounts of certain non-employee directors in lieu of cash
compensation, at the election of such directors.
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(3)

The weighted average exercise prices for both the 2004 Incentive Plan and the 2014 Incentive Plan relate only to
stock options. The calculation of the weighted average exercise price does not include outstanding equity awards
that are received or exercised for no consideration and also does not include common stock units credited to the
deferred compensation accounts of certain non-employee directors at fair market value in lieu of cash
compensation at the election of such directors.

(4)

These shares are available for grant as of December 31, 2018 under the 2014 Incentive Plan pursuant to which the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors may make various stock-based awards including nonqualified
stock options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, deferred
stock, deferred stock units, performance awards and other stock-based or stock-denominated awards with respect to
the Company’s common stock. This includes 10 million shares initially authorized for issuance under the 2014
Incentive Plan and an additional 2.5 million shares and 4.4 million shares authorized by shareholders in May 2017
and May 2016, respectively, and shares subject to awards under the 2004 Incentive Plan and the 2014 Incentive
Plan that expired, were cancelled, forfeited, settled in cash or otherwise terminated without the issuance of shares.

Item 13.    CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The “Governance of Your Company - Transactions with Related Persons,” “Nominees for Election of Directors” and
“Governance of Your Company - Directors Independence and Independence Determinations” sections of the Proxy
Statement are incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14.    PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The “Audit and Non-Audit Fees” section of the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV
Item 15.                           EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
Documents filed as a part of the report:

(1)Financial Statements and Schedules. See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedules on page 123hereof.
(2)    Exhibits:
Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit

3.1
Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of The Travelers Companies, Inc. (the “Company”), as
amended and restated May 23, 2013, were filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K
filed on May 24, 2013, and are incorporated herein by reference. 

3.2
Bylaws of The Travelers Companies, Inc. as Amended and Restated November 3, 2016 were filed as Exhibit
3.2 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K filed on November 9, 2016, and are incorporated herein by
reference 

10.1
Revolving Credit Agreement, dated June 4, 2018, between the Company and a syndicate of financial
institutions, was filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K filed on June 6, 2018,
and is incorporated herein by reference. 

10.2*
The Travelers Companies, Inc. Policy Regarding Executive Incentive Compensation Recoupment was filed
as Exhibit 10.42 to the Company's annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009,
and is incorporated herein by reference.

10.3*
Letter Agreement between Alan D. Schnitzer and the Company, dated April 15, 2007, was filed as Exhibit
10.1 to the Company's quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2007, and is
incorporated herein by reference.

10.4*
Letter Agreement between Alan D. Schnitzer and the Company, dated August 4, 2015, was filed as Exhibit
10.2 to the Company's quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2015, and is
incorporated herein by reference.

10.5* Time Sharing Agreement, dated September 2, 2015, by and between the Company and Alan D. Schnitzer,
was filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
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September 30, 2015, and is incorporated herein by reference. 

10.6*
Letter Agreement between Avrohom J. Kess and the Company, dated December 19, 2016, was filed as
Exhibit 10.49 to the Company's annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016,
and is incorporated by reference.

10.7* The Travelers Companies, Inc. Amended and Restated 2014 Stock Incentive Plan was filed as Exhibit 10.1
to the Company's current report on Form 8-K filed on May 19, 2017, and is incorporated herein by reference.
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10.8*
The Travelers Companies, Inc. Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan was filed as Exhibit 10.28 to
the Company's annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008, and is incorporated
herein by reference. 

10.9*
Amendment to The Travelers Companies, Inc. Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan was filed as
Exhibit 10.7 to the Company's annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, and
is incorporated herein by reference.

10.10*
Travelers Property Casualty Corp. (“TPC”) 2002 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended effective January 23, 2003,
was filed as Exhibit 10.22 to TPC's annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002,
and is incorporated herein by reference. 

10.11*
Amendment to the TPC 2002 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended effective January 23, 2003, was filed as
Exhibit 10.9 to the Company's annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, and
is incorporated herein by reference. 

10.12*
Current Director Compensation Program, effective as of May 19, 2016, was filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company's quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2016, and is incorporated
herein by reference. 

10.13*
The Company's Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors was filed
as Exhibit 10.29 to the Company's annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008,
and is incorporated herein by reference. 

10.14*
TPC Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors, as amended on January 22, 2004, was filed as Exhibit
10.16 to TPC's annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003, and is incorporated
herein by reference. 

10.15* The SPC Directors' Deferred Compensation Plan was filed as Exhibit 10(b) to the Company's annual report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1997, and is incorporated herein by reference. 

10.16* The SPC Deferred Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors was filed as Exhibit 10(a) to the Company's annual
report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000, and is incorporated herein by reference.

10.17* The SPC Directors' Charitable Award Program, as amended, was filed as Exhibit 10(d) to the Company's
annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000, and is incorporated herein by
reference.

10.18*
The Travelers Severance Plan (as Amended and Restated, effective January 1, 2015) was filed as Exhibit
10.20 to the Company's annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014, and is
incorporated herein by reference. 

10.19* The Company's Senior Executive Performance Plan was filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's quarterly
report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2005, and is incorporated herein by reference.

10.20*
First Amendment to the Company's Senior Executive Performance Plan was filed as Exhibit 10.40 to the
Company's annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, and is incorporated
herein by reference. 

10.21*
The Travelers Deferred Compensation Plan, as Amended and Restated, effective January 1, 2009, was filed as
Exhibit 99.1 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-157091) dated
February 4, 2009, and is incorporated herein by reference. 

10.22*
First Amendment to The Travelers Deferred Compensation Plan was filed as Exhibit 10.37 to the Company's
annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, and is incorporated herein by
reference. 

10.23* TPC Deferred Compensation Plan was filed as Exhibit 10.23 to TPC's annual report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2002, and is incorporated herein by reference. 

10.24*
The Travelers Benefit Equalization Plan, as Amended and Restated effective as of January 1, 2016, was filed
as Exhibit 10.29 to the Company's annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015,
and is incorporated herein by reference. 

10.25* TPC Benefit Equalization Plan was filed as Exhibit 10.24 to TPC's annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2002, and is incorporated herein by reference. 
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10.26*
The SPC Benefit Equalization Plan-2001 Revision and the first and second amendments thereto were filed as
Exhibit 10.27 to the Company's annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, and
are incorporated herein by reference. 

10.27* The SPC Annual Incentive Plan was filed as an exhibit to the Company's Definitive Proxy Statement on
Schedule 14A, filed on March 29, 1999, and is incorporated herein by reference. 

10.28* Form of Non-Competition Agreement was filed as Exhibit 10.43 to the Company's annual report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, and is incorporated herein by reference.

10.29*
Form of Non-Solicitation and Non-Disclosure Agreement for Executive Officers was filed as Exhibit 10.35 to
the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, and is incorporated
herein by reference.
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10.30*
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Notification and Agreement (For Management Committee Member
Executing Non-Compete) was filed as Exhibit 10.37 to the Company's annual report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2014, and is incorporated herein by reference. 

10.31†*Form of Stock Option Grant Notification and Agreement.
10.32†*Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Notification and Agreement.

10.33*
Form of Performance Shares Award Notification and Agreement (2016) was filed as Exhibit 10.44 to the
Company's annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, and is incorporated
herein by reference. 

10.34*
Form of Performance Shares Award Notification and Agreement (2017) was filed as Exhibit 10.45 to the
Company’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, and is incorporated
herein by reference. 

10.35*
Form of Performance Share Award Notification and Agreement (2018) was filed as Exhibit 10.40 to the
Company's annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017, and is incorporated
herein by reference. 

10.36†*Form of Performance Share Award Notification and Agreement (2019).

10.37†*Form of Non-Employee Director Notification and Agreement of Annual Deferred Stock Award.
21.1† A list of the subsidiaries of the Company.

23.1†

Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, with respect to the incorporation by
reference of KPMG LLP’s audit report into Registration Statements of the Company on Form S-8 (SEC File
No. 33-56987, No. 333-25203, No. 333-50943, No. 333-63114, No. 333-63118, No. 333-65726, No.
333-107698, No. 333-107699, No. 333-114135, No. 333-117726, No. 333-120998, No. 333-128026, No.
333-157091, No. 333-157092, No. 333-164972, No. 333-176002, No. 333-196290, No. 333-212078 and No.
333-218874) and Form S-3 (SEC File No. 333-212077).

24.1† Power of Attorney.

31.1† Certification of Alan D. Schnitzer, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, as required by
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2† Certification of Daniel S. Frey, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, as required by Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1† Certification of Alan D. Schnitzer, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, as required by
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2† Certification of Daniel S. Frey, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, as required by Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.1†

The following financial information from The Travelers Companies, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2018 formatted in XBRL: (i) Consolidated Statement of Income for the years
ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016; (ii) Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the
years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016; (iii) Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2018 and
2017; (iv) Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity for the years ended December 31,
2018, 2017 and 2016; (v) Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2018,
2017 and 2016; (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements; and (vii) Financial Statement Schedules.

_________________________________________
†Filed herewith.
*    Management contract or compensatory plan in which directors and/or executive officers are eligible to participate.
The total amount of securities authorized pursuant to any instrument defining rights of holders of long-term debt of
the Company does not exceed 10% of the total assets of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries. Therefore, the
Company is not filing any instruments evidencing long-term debt. However, the Company will furnish copies of any
such instrument to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.
Copies of any of the exhibits referred to above will be furnished to security holders who make written request therefor
to The Travelers Companies, Inc., 385 Washington Street, Saint Paul, MN, 55102, Attention: Corporate Secretary.
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The agreements and other documents filed as exhibits to this report are not intended to provide factual information or
other disclosure other than the terms of the agreements or other documents themselves, and you should not rely on
them for that purpose. In particular, any representations and warranties made by the Company in these agreements or
other documents were made solely within the specific context of the relevant agreement or document and may not
describe the actual state of affairs at the date they were made or at any other time.
Item 16.    FORM 10-K SUMMARY
None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, The Travelers
Companies, Inc. has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

THE TRAVELERS COMPANIES, INC.
(Registrant)

Date:February 14, 2019 By/s/ CHRISTINE K. KALLA
Christine K. Kalla
Executive Vice President and General Counsel
(Authorized Signatory)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of The Travelers Companies, Inc. and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Date
By /s/ ALAN D. SCHNITZERDirector, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive

Officer)
February 14,
2019Alan D. Schnitzer

By /s/ DANIEL S. FREY Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal
Financial Officer)

February 14,
2019Daniel S. Frey

By /s/ DOUGLAS K.
RUSSELL Senior Vice President and Corporate Controller (Principal

Accounting Officer)
February 14,
2019Douglas K. Russell

By * Director February 14,
2019Alan L. Beller

By * Director February 14,
2019John H. Dasburg

By * Director February 14,
2019Janet M. Dolan

By * Director February 14,
2019Kenneth M. Duberstein

By * Director February 14,
2019Patricia L. Higgins

By * Director February 14,
2019William J. Kane

By * Director February 14,
2019Clarence Otis Jr.

By * Director February 14,
2019Philip T. Ruegger II

By * Director February 14,
2019Todd C. Schermerhorn

By * Director February 14,
2019Donald J. Shepard

By * Director February 14,
2019Laurie J. Thomsen

*By/s/ CHRISTINE K.KALLA February 14,
2019Christine K. Kalla,

Attorney-in-fact
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
SCHEDULE II

THE TRAVELERS COMPANIES, INC.
(Parent Company Only)

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
(in millions)

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF INCOME

For the year ended December 31, 2018 2017 2016
Revenues
Net investment income $32 $24 $13
Net realized investment gains (losses) (1) (13 ) 66 (1 )
Total revenues 19 90 12
Expenses
Interest 304 321 315
Other 20 25 5
Total expenses 324 346 320
Loss before income taxes and net income of subsidiaries (305 ) (256 ) (308 )
Income tax benefit (114 ) (130 ) (168 )
Loss before net income of subsidiaries (191 ) (126 ) (140 )
Net income of subsidiaries 2,714 2,190 3,154
Net income $2,523 $2,064 $3,014
___________________________________________
(1) The parent company had $0, $0 and $(1) million of other-than-temporary impairment losses recognized in net
realized investment gains (losses) during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  The
parent company had no other-than-temporary impairment gains or losses recognized in other comprehensive income
(loss) during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.
The condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to the condensed financial
information of the registrant, as well as the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.
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SCHEDULE II

THE TRAVELERS COMPANIES, INC.
(Parent Company Only)

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
(in millions)

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended December 31, 2018 2017 2016
Net income $2,523 $2,064 $3,014
Other comprehensive income (loss) — parent company:
Changes in net unrealized gains on investment securities having no credit losses
recognized in the consolidated statement of income — (44 ) 11

Net changes in benefit plan assets and obligations (53 ) 22 (20 )
Other comprehensive loss before income taxes and other comprehensive income (loss) of
subsidiaries (53 ) (22 ) (9 )

Income tax expense (benefit) (17 ) 2 (1 )
Other comprehensive loss, net of taxes, before other comprehensive income (loss) of
subsidiaries (36 ) (24 ) (8 )

Other comprehensive income (loss) of subsidiaries (1,434 ) 436 (590 )
Other comprehensive income (loss) (1,470 ) 412 (598 )
Comprehensive income $1,053 $2,476 $2,416
The condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to the condensed financial
information of the registrant, as well as the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.
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SCHEDULE II

THE TRAVELERS COMPANIES, INC.
(Parent Company Only)

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
(in millions)

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEET

At December 31, 2018 2017
Assets
Fixed maturities $84 $82
Equity securities 171 181
Short-term securities 1,371 1,230
Investment in subsidiaries 26,993 27,946
Other assets 649 692
Total assets $29,268 $30,131
Liabilities
Debt $5,871 $5,878
Other liabilities 496 524
Total liabilities 6,367 6,402
Shareholders’ equity
Common stock (1,750.0 shares authorized; 263.7 and 271.5 shares issued, 263.6 and 271.4 shares
outstanding) 23,144 22,886

Retained earnings 35,211 33,460
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,859 ) (343 )
Treasury stock, at cost (510.9 and 500.9 shares) (33,595 ) (32,274 )
Total shareholders’ equity 22,901 23,729
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $29,268 $30,131
The condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to the condensed financial
information of the registrant, as well as the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.
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SCHEDULE II

THE TRAVELERS COMPANIES, INC.
(Parent Company Only)

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
(in millions)

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended December 31, 2018 2017 2016
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $2,523 $2,064 $3,014
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Equity in net income of subsidiaries (2,714 ) (2,190 ) (3,154 )
Dividends received from consolidated subsidiaries 2,258 2,289 2,998
Deferred federal income tax expense 28 40 12
Change in income taxes payable 100 3 (48 )
Other (35 ) (174 ) 70
Net cash provided by operating activities 2,160 2,032 2,892
Cash flows from investing activities
Net sales (purchases) of short-term securities (141 ) 397 (81 )
Other investments, net (7 ) (34 ) (5 )
Acquisition, net of cash acquired — (477 ) —
Net cash used in investing activities (148 ) (114 ) (86 )
Cash flows from financing activities
Treasury stock acquired—share repurchase authorization (1,270 ) (1,378 ) (2,400 )
Treasury stock acquired—net employee share-based compensation (51 ) (62 ) (72 )
Dividends paid to shareholders (814 ) (785 ) (757 )
Payment of debt (600 ) (657 ) (400 )
Issuance of debt 591 789 491
Issuance of common stock—employee share options 132 173 332
Net cash used in financing activities (2,012 ) (1,920 ) (2,806 )
Net decrease in cash — (2 ) —
Cash at beginning of year — 2 2
Cash at end of year $— $— $2

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash received during the year for taxes $283 $173 $132
Cash paid during the year for interest $300 $320 $311
The condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to the condensed financial
information of the registrant, as well as the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.
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SCHEDULE II

THE TRAVELERS COMPANIES, INC.
(Parent Company Only)

NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
1.GUARANTEES
The Travelers Companies, Inc. (TRV) fully and unconditionally guarantees the payment of all principal, premiums, if
any, and interest on certain debt obligations of its subsidiaries TPC and TIGHI.  The guarantees pertain to the $200
million 7.75% notes due 2026 and the $500 million 6.375% notes due 2033.
TRV also has contingent obligations for guarantees in connection with the selling of businesses to third parties, certain
insurance obligations of a subsidiary and various indemnifications including indemnifications to service providers in
the normal course of business.  The guarantees and indemnification clauses are often standard contractual terms and
include indemnifications for breaches of representations and warranties and in some cases obligations arising from
certain liabilities. The terms of these provisions vary in duration and nature. 
Certain of the guarantees and indemnifications described above have no stated or notional amounts or limitation to the
maximum potential future payments. Accordingly, TRV is unable to provide an estimate of the maximum potential
payments for such arrangements, and the likelihood for any payment under these guarantees is remote.
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SCHEDULE III
THE TRAVELERS COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Supplementary Insurance Information
2016-2018
(in millions)

Segment
Deferred
Acquisition
Costs

Claims and
Claim
Adjustment
Expense
Reserves

Unearned
Premiums

Earned
Premiums

Net
Investment
Income (1)

Claims and
Claim
Adjustment
Expenses

Amortization
of Deferred
Acquisition
Costs

Other
Operating
Expenses (2)

Net
Written
Premiums

2018
Business Insurance $ 1,102 $ 41,132 $ 7,112 $ 14,722 $ 1,833 $ 10,171 $ 2,388 $ 2,623 $ 14,956
Bond & Specialty
Insurance 277 3,255 1,619 2,420 233 772 454 459 2,528

Personal Insurance 741 6,266 4,824 9,917 408 7,348 1,539 1,185 10,224
Total—Reportable
Segments 2,120 50,653 13,555 27,059 2,474 18,291 4,381 4,267 27,708

Other — 15 — — — — — 382 —
Consolidated $ 2,120 $ 50,668 $ 13,555 $ 27,059 $ 2,474 $ 18,291 $ 4,381 $ 4,649 $ 27,708
2017
Business Insurance $ 1,060 $ 40,352 $ 6,857 $ 14,146 $ 1,786 $ 9,521 $ 2,286 $ 2,563 $ 14,270
Bond & Specialty
Insurance 258 3,421 1,515 2,307 228 899 432 464 2,359

Personal Insurance 707 5,860 4,543 9,230 383 7,047 1,448 1,111 9,590
Total—Reportable
Segments 2,025 49,633 12,915 25,683 2,397 17,467 4,166 4,138 26,219

Other — 17 — — — — — 401 —
Consolidated $ 2,025 $ 49,650 $ 12,915 $ 25,683 $ 2,397 $ 17,467 $ 4,166 $ 4,539 $ 26,219
2016
Business Insurance $ 1,026 $ 39,555 $ 6,725 $ 13,855 $ 1,701 $ 8,753 $ 2,221 $ 2,554 $ 13,900
Bond & Specialty
Insurance 246 3,323 1,444 2,260 239 633 421 445 2,271

Personal Insurance 651 5,051 4,160 8,419 362 5,684 1,343 1,124 8,787
Total—Reportable
Segments 1,923 47,929 12,329 24,534 2,302 15,070 3,985 4,123 24,958

Other — 20 — — — — — 394 —
Consolidated $ 1,923 $ 47,949 $ 12,329 $ 24,534 $ 2,302 $ 15,070 $ 3,985 $ 4,517 $ 24,958
___________________________________________

(1)See note 2 of notes to the consolidated financial statements for discussion of the method used to allocate netinvestment income and invested assets to the identified segments.

(2)Expense allocations are determined in accordance with prescribed statutory accounting practices. These practicesmake a reasonable allocation of all expenses to those product lines with which they are associated.
See the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
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SCHEDULE V
THE TRAVELERS COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
(in millions)

Balance at
beginning
of period

Charged to
costs and
expenses

Charged to
other
accounts

Deductions (1)
Balance at
end of
period

2018
Reinsurance recoverables $ 111 $ — $ —$ 1 $ 110
Allowance for uncollectible:
Premiums receivable from underwriting activities $ 58 $ 50 $ —$ 54 $ 54
Deductibles $ 26 $ (1 ) $ —$ 1 $ 24
2017
Reinsurance recoverables $ 116 $ — $ —$ 5 $ 111
Allowance for uncollectible:
Premiums receivable from underwriting activities $ 61 $ 38 $ —$ 41 $ 58
Deductibles $ 34 $ (2 ) $ —$ 6 $ 26
2016
Reinsurance recoverables $ 157 $ — $ —$ 41 $ 116
Allowance for uncollectible:
Premiums receivable from underwriting activities $ 65 $ 35 $ —$ 39 $ 61
Deductibles $ 35 $ 5 $ —$ 6 $ 34
___________________________________________
(1)Credited to the related asset account.

See the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
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SCHEDULE VI
THE TRAVELERS COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Supplementary Information Concerning Property-Casualty Insurance Operations (1)
2016-2018
(in millions)

Claims and Claim
Adjustment
Expenses Incurred
Related to:

Amortization
of Deferred
Acquisition
Costs

Paid Claims
and Claim
Adjustment
ExpensesAffiliation

with
Registrant(2)

Deferred
Acquisition
Costs

Claims and
Claim Adjustment
Expense
Reserves

Discount From
Reserves for
Unpaid Claims(3)

Unearned
Premiums

Earned
Premiums

Net
Investment
Income

Current
Year

Prior
Year

Net
Written
Premiums

2018 $2,120 $ 50,653 $ 1,158 $13,555 $27,059 $2,474 $18,614 $(406) $ 4,381 $17,060 $27,708
2017 $2,025 $ 49,633 $ 1,102 $12,915 $25,683 $2,397 $17,846 $(458) $ 4,166 $16,043 $26,219
2016 $1,923 $ 47,929 $ 1,083 $12,329 $24,534 $2,302 $15,675 $(680) $ 3,985 $14,796 $24,958
___________________________________________
(1)Excludes accident and health insurance business.
(2)Consolidated property-casualty insurance operations.

(3)For a discussion of types of reserves discounted and discount rates used, see note 7 of notes to the consolidatedfinancial statements.

See the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
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